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PROCEEDINGS
(PUBLIC SESSION)

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Goodmorning.
Pleasebe seated.

We haveheldyou in suspensefor long
enough. So this morning,JudgeStricklerwill
deliver the ruling with regardto theDanaher
testimony,andJudgeFederwill deliver the ruling
with regardto the afterpayments.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Goodmorning.
IHearthadmovedto excludefrom

evidenceProfessorDanaher'swritten expert
testimonythathadbeenwithdrawn,andiHeart's
motion to excludeis granted. This is anexpert
witnesswho waswithdrawn. Thebriefs demonstrate
thattheauthorityis split with regardto whether
or not suchtestimonycanbe admitted.

On balance,we find theauthority is

betterto construesuchawitnessas a consulting
witnessratherthanasa testifyingwitness,and,
in addition,thedatathatwasunderlyingthat
testimonyhasbeenutilized andexaininedby other
witnessesandtherehasbeencross-examinationand
the opportunityfor cross-examinationto coverthe

underlyingsubstanceofwhatwascoveredby
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ProfessorDanaher. So for thosereasons,his
written testimonyis excluded.

JUDGEFEDER: RegardingSoundExchange's
requestto permitwitnessesfrom SonyandWarner
to addresspreexecutionprojectionmodelsthatthe
labelscreatedin approvingtheApple iTunesRadio
agreementsandregardingamendmentsto the cloud
serviceagreements,thatmotion is alsodenied.
We view this asnewdataandnewanalysis,and, in
accordancewith our prior rulings on thatsubject,
we will notpermitthat.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Cross-examination
for ProfessorBlackburnat this point, or
Dr. Blackburn?

MR. MILLER: Yes,Your Honor. And a

coupleof housekeepingmatters.
You have,of course,bindersin fiont of

you. It wouldn'tbe a day at the CRB without
them.

I did inform counsel,I think, that
we'l haveto beginthis sessionin restricted,
but I imaginethatwill be fairly limited, and
thenwe canmove into unrestrictedfor the
balance.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Okay. So we'e

(866) 448 — DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015
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going to beginthemorningby kicking you out if
you havenot signedthenondisclosureagreement.

(THIS ENDS PUBLIC SESSION)
(RESTRICTEDSESSIONBOUND SEPARATELY)
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(THIS PAGECONTAINS RESTRICTED
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(THIS BEGINSRESTRICTEDSESSION)
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1 (THIS BEGINSPUBLIC SESSION)
2 BYMR.MLLER:
3 Q In section5 ofyourwritten rebuttal
4 testimony,youopinethat interactiveand
5 noninteractiveserviceshavethesame
6 promotional/substitutionalimpacton the industry?
7 A Yes, I think that'sright, that'
8 what— the datasuggeststhatthere'sno
9 identifiabledifference.

10 Q If I couldaskyou to turn to paragraph
11 42 on SX 24-028.
12 A Okay.
13 Q Are youwith me?
14 A I am.

15 Q In referencehereto the table2 above,
16 you saythatthecolumnB hereshowstheaverage
17 changein thenumberoftrackspurchasedby users
18 who adopta streamingservicein thesecond
19 period,and it goeson &om thereto sayis not
20 significantly differenttromzero. Do you see
21 that?
22 A I do.
23 Q Froma statisticalperspective,thebest
24 estimateyouhaveoftheeffecton songdownloads
25 beinganoninteractivevalue is thepoint estimate

5978
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1 herein table2, right?
2 A Yes. I mean,I guessifyouputagun
3 to my headandsaidyou haveto pick anumber,
4 that'sthebestestimate,but I think the
5 statisticaltestingsuggeststhatyou shouldn'

6 believevery strongly in thatnumberasopposed
7 to — asopposedto zero,for example.
8 MR. MILLER: If we couldpull up the
9 table2 on thescreen.We may try to blow thisup

10 a little.
11 Q Yesterdayyou showedpartof it. You
12 showedthecolumnC in the demonstrative.But
13 this is the full table,correct?
14 A That'scorrect.
15 Q You would agreethatthepoint estimate
16 in yourtable2 analysisfor thenoninteractive
17 usersin period2, in column8, is positive.
18 Steve,canyoumakesureweshowthem
19 whatcolumn8 is here. Then,we go.
20 So thepointestimatein column8 for
21 thenoninteractiveusersis positive,correct?
22 A I agreethat'sapositivenumber. I
23 don'tagreeit's right to look at column8 instead
24 ofcolumnC.
25 Q We'l talk about8, andthenI'l have

1

2
3

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23

24
25

analysis,a noninteractiveuserpresentedin
column8, on average,purchasedapproximatelyfive
moresongdownloadsduringthethree-monthperiod
afterwhichtheuserstartedusingastreaming
servicelike Pandoraor iHeart?

A So that'snot strictly correct. That'

among— that'sonly looking atthesubsetof
userswhopurchasedmusicatsomepoint, andasI

notein my written testimonyhere,that'san
inappropriaterestrictionthatI did only to be
consistentwith whatProfessorDanaherdid, andit
suffers&om thesameflaws thatexcludingthe
zerosalesthatDr. McBride did does. And you can

seein columnC thatwhenyou actuallyaccountfor
thepeoplewho aren'taffected,which is

important,the averageeffect is amuchsmaller
number,yet still statisticallyindistinguishable
&om zero.

Q But still positive.
A It is apositivenumber,that is

correct.

Q By contrast,thepointestimatein your
table2 analysison an interactiveuserin
period2 in column8 — column8 for now— is

negative„right?It's anegative3.383?

5980 5982

1 questionsaboutC aswell.
2 A It is apositivenumber.
3 Q Specifically,the averagechange
4 presentedin column8 — wemayneedto highlight
5 this, Steve— in thenumberoftrackspurchased
6 by noninteractiveuserswho adoptastreaming
7 servicein thesecondperiodis 5.123?
8 A Or that'sif you — if you restrictthe
9 analysisonly to peoplewho actuallypurchase

10 musicaftertheystartedadopting,that'scorrect.
11 Q So for thatgroupofusers,thatmeans,
12 accordingto your analysis,thatthose
13 noninteractiveuserspresentedin column8, on
14 average,purchased5.123moredownloads— more
15 songdownloadsin period2; is thatcorrect?
16 A That'sthe interpretation,yes.
17 Q And period2, just for clarity, is the
18 three-monthperiodafterwhich a userstarted
19 usinganoninteractivestreamingservicelike
20 Pandoraor iHeart,correct?
21 A SoIthinkit'sthethree— it'the
22 secondthreemonthsof the dataset. At some
23 point duringthosethreemonthstheystarted
24 using.
25 Q Sojustto be clear,accordingto your

1 A I mean,again,it's anegativenumber.
2 If thequestionis, doesit haveaminussignin
3 &ontofit,itdoes.
4 Q Right.
5 So the averagechangein thenumberof
6 trackspurchasedby an interactiveuserwho
7 adopteda streamingservicein thesecondperiod
8 is negative3.383,correct?
9 A Again, restrictingit inappropriately

10 only to thepeoplewho actuallypurchasemusicand
11 ignoring all thepeoplewho arenot affected,you
12 getnegative3.383.
13 JUDGESTRICKLER: If we look atyour
14 columnC, which includesthosewho werenot
15 affectedatall-
16 THE WITNESS: Yes,sir.

17 JUDGESTRICKLER: — soyouhavefor the
18 noninteractiveuser,period2, .624—

19 THE WITNESS: Yes.
20 JUDGESTRICKLER: — for thethree-month
21 period,andfor the interactiveusers,.493,
22 right?
23 THE WITNESS: That'scorrect.
24 JUDGESTRICKLER: So doesthat
25 demonstratea promotionaleffectfor

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015
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noninteractiveusersrelativeto interactiveusers
butvery, verymild, on theorderof, net, about
oneeverythreemonths?

THE WITNESS: So I talkedaboutthis a
little bit yesterday.So that'sthepoint
estimatethatyouget,but thestandarderror is
sufficiently highon that,thatthep-valueis
like .35, so it's somethingthat— youknow,
without going into all the detailsofhypothesis
testingandteachinga statisticsclass,whatthat
meansis if it weretrue that therewereno
difference,youwould seesomethinglike that. If
it wastrue thattherewasactuallyno difference,
right, we couldsetup aworld whereweknewfor
certaintythattherewasno difference,andthen
let theworld evolveandpull out thedatalike we
hadandthenanalyzeit, justby randomchance,
youwould seesomethinglike thatfairly often,
35 percentofthe time. That'swhy statisticians
or econometricianslook at somethinglike thatand
saythat'sreallynotsufficientevidenceto tell
methatthereis anythingdifferentaboutthose
two effects.

JUDGESTRICKLER: It would occurby
randomchance35 percentofthetime.
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situations,I'eseeneconomistssay,well, the
p-valueis lessthan .5 andthatmeansit's more
probablethannot. But I think that'sa
misinterpretationofwhatp-valuesare.

Thehypothesisis arethesethings
equal,andthep-valuesaysif theywerenot
equal,this is how often,whatpercentageof the
timeyouwould seesomethinglike thisjustdueto
randomchance.So, to me, I seethis, audthe
p-valueis high enoughthat it's just— you know,
it's justnotevidencethat there'sadifference.
I don'tthink you could look at it andsaythat
it's moreprobablethannot thatthereis a

difference.
JUDGESTRICKLER: I understandthat.

That leadsmeto anotherquestionI wantedto ask
you. It goesbackto yourcritique andyour
figure 6, whichbasicallyis amatterofshowing
correlationandno causationwhatsoever,whichI
think counselis trying to explorewith you on
cross-examination.

THE WITNESS: Sorry,I don'tknowwhat
figure 6 is.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I'm sorry, figure 6 on
page18.

5984 5986
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THE WITNESS: That'scorrect.
JUDGESTRICKLER: So it wouldoccur,

therefore,notby randomchance,65 percentofthe
time, which from astatisticianor
econometrician'spoint ofview, thatwould clearly
notbesufficientto provethehypothesis?

THE WITNESS: So I'm notentirelysure
thatyouwould thensay65 percentofthetime-
so 65 percentofthe time you would seesomething
less,youwould seelessofa differencethan
that,and35 percentof the time youwould seea
differencethatbig or greater.And then,
correct,asyou said,from astatistician'spoint
ofview or from aneconometricisn'spoint of
view — I mean,there'sno econometricianor
statisticianwho would look at ap-valueof .35
andsaythatthatproves— thatthat'sany
evidencethatthere'sanydifferencebetweenthose
things.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Would you say,asan
econometrician,that it's moreprobablethannot
that it showsamild effectthat'spromotionalfor
noninteractiveversusinteractive.

THE WITNESS: I wouldn'tsaythat. I
think that'sinappropriate.I'eseen— in other

8
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24
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THE WITNESS: Oh,yes,okay.
JUDGESTRICKLER: Becauseyou didn'

control for anyotherfactors,asyou candidly
acknowledge.You justsawacorrelation
between— or, actually,perhapsI would saylack
ofthecorrelationthatwasbeingadvancedby
ProfessorKendall.

THE WITNESS: So I wouldn'tsaythat it
is just correlation. I mean,thereis anatural
experimentgoingonherewhere,for reasonsthat
havenothingto do with consumers'referencesfor
musicanddesireto purchasemusic,there'sa
changein howoftenasongis beingplayed. It'

truethatthereareother— potentiallyother
changesgoingon in themarket. So there'salways
additionalthingsin anyanalysisthatyou could
include. But I would objectto the ideathat it'

justcausation— that it's justcorrelation.
Thereis anaturalexperimentgoingon.

JUDGESTRICKLER: As aneconometrician,
whatis your levelofstatisticalconfidencewith
regardto your conclusionsfrom thatnatural
experimentin figure 6?

THE WITNESS: So I'm confidentthat— I
don'thaveap-valueon this, right?

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCoxnpany.corn  2015
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1 JUDGESTRICKLER: Why not?
2 THE WITNESS: I don'tknow. I didn'

3 calculateone. If I testedwhetherthesethings
4 arethesame,I cansaywith strongconfidence—
5 I can'tgiveyou thep-value— thatthey'enot
6 higher,right? We maybe ableto find thatthey
7 werelower, but they'enot higher.
8 JUDGESTRICKLER: More probablethan
9 not?

10 THE WITNESS: Looking at it andlooking
11 at the table 1, I think it's prettyclearthat
12 they'enothigher.
13 JUDGESTRICKLER: So it's moreprobable
14 thannot thatthey'enothigher?
15 THE WITNESS: I think it's afact
16 they'enothigher. That'sjust a fact. That'

17 notsomethingthat'sopento probability. I guess
18 thequestionthat'sopento interpretationis what
19 thatmeans. I think it's a fact thatthey didn'
20 go up.
21 JUDGESTRICKLER: Soyousayit's—

22 becauseof that, it's moreprobablethannot that
23 therewasno promotionaleiTect?

24 THE WITNESS: I would saythat it'

25 evidence— it's just furtherlackofevidenceof
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question.
THE WITNESS: No, no, sorry,I—

JUDGESTRICKLER: My questionis would
youhavebeenableto calculatea levelof
confidenceif youhadcontrolledfor all theother
factsthatyou meanto control?

THE WITNESS: Sorry,whatI meantto say
is it doesn'tmakea differencewhetheror notyou
calculatedit. I wastrying to answeryour
question. My apologies.

JUDGESTRICKLER: That'sokay.
THE WITNESS: It justwasn'tcalculated.

You could calculatethe— thenumbersarehere.
You could calculateap-valueon atestofwhether
the20 percentis the sameasthesix numbersthat
comelaterorwhetherthe201,000is different
fi'om the 183,000. So thereasonit wasdoneis
notbecause— the reasonit waspresentedthis
way andI didn'tcalculateap-valueon theseis
notbecauseofnot accountingfor anyof the
thingsthatI wasaskedabout,if thatmakesany
sense.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
THE WITNESS: You'ewelcome.
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apromotionaleffect. That'smaybejust
semantics,but I think thepoint is this is — and
we talkeda little bit aboutthis in my direct,
right? It's sortofhardto proveanegative,
right? Sowhatyou could do is look atplaces
whereyou would say,well, if this is true,this
is whatwewould expectto see,andwe look at it,
andwe don'tseeit.

And this is anotherexampleof if there
wasapromotionaleiTectafterthere'sabig boost
in playson iHeart,well, youwouldexpectto see
somebumpin sales,and,again,you don'tseeit.

So I wouldsayit's evidenceofa lackof
evidence,if thatmakesanysense.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I understand.If you
hadtried to control for theotherfactorsas
counselhadquestionedyou aboutamomentago,
would you thenhavebeenableto establisha level
ofstatisticalconfidence?

THE WITNESS: I don'tthink thatmakesa
difference. I think—

JUDGESTRICKLER: With all due
respect—

THE WITNESS: Sorry—

JUDGESTRICKLER: — thatwasn'tmy
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BY MR. MILLER:

Q I actuallywill haveacouplequestions
on thep-values,asexcitingasthat is.

A I'm sureit's everybody'sfavorite
subject.

Q But if I could finish up acouple
questionson thetable2 here. It's fair to say
thatfor theteststhatyouperformed,for either
usergroup,it's truethat,on average,
noninteractiveusersincreasetheirpurchase—
purchasesofsongdownloadsmorethaninteractive
usersdid in thethree-monthperiodafterthey
startedusingawebcastingservice,right?

A Thepointestimatesin the
noninteractiverow arehigherthanthepoint
estimatesin the interactiverow, that'scorrect.

Q Soisthatayes?
A On average,withoutaccountingfor the

variability, yes.

Q Now, you werehavingadiscussionwith
JudgeStricklerabouttheconfidencelevelsor the
.35 p-value. Whatyouweretesting,younotedin

paragraph43, wasahypothesisthattheeffectof
usingnoninteractivestreamingserviceson
purchasesofdigital tracksis thesameasthe
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effectof adoptinguseofaninteractiveservice,
correct?

A That'scorrect.

Q Soyou'etrying to testwhetherthey
hadthesameeffect,correct?

A Right. I'm testingwhether-I mean,I
would sayyou'etestingwhetherthere'sa
difference. Strictly howyou do that in
hypothesistestingis you say, let'ssupposethere
is not adifferenceandthendo we seesomething
that is consistentwith thator not.

Q And for theusersin groupB, you came

up with ap-valueof .268,correct?
A That'scorrect.

Q So thatmeansthatyou havea 73 percent
level ofconfidencethatthehypothesisis
actuallyunproved,correct?

A I don'tthink I would expressit that
way. I think ap-valueof .268,peopleoftensay,
well, there'sa confidenceof 1 minusthatmany
percentages.But whatit meansis that,again,if
thehypothesisthattheywerethesaraeis true,
youwould seesomethingthatextreme26.8percent
of the timejustdueto randomchance.

Q In fact,youusedtheterm73 percent
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Q Well, you would agree,would you not,
thattheanalysisyou performedcertainlydid not
supporttheconclusionthatuseofnoninteractive
servicesleadsto substitutionofsongdownloads,
correct?

A So I would sayit's not inconsistent
with thatbecausewehaveto keepin mindthatall

thesenuinbersarebiasedupwardsfor the reasonsI
talkedaboutyesterday.

Q But eitheroftheanalysesthatyou
performedfor B or C resultedin fewersong
downloadsaftersomeonestartedtheuseof the
noninteractivestreamingservice,correct?

A That'scorrect.
JUDGESTRICKLER: I havea questionfor

you, Dr. Blackburn. If weutilize all music
streamasyour columnC-

THE WITNESS: Yes,sir.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Do your confidence
levelsstill applyto thatnowthatyou'echanged
thesampleto includethosewho arenotbuyingany
musicat all?

THE WITNESS: So the26.8p-valuefor
thedifferenceis for columnB, andthere'sa .35

p-value,which I think is in paragraph45, for—
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confidence,wasthe only reasonI wasusingit,
therein footnote53, I believe.

A Right, that'swhatit saysthere. It
correspondsto a quoteunquote,andI put quotes
on it becauseit's a little weird to say
73 percentconfidence.But, exactly,thep-value
ofX correspondsto a confidencelevel of 1 minus
X.

Q Giventhatyou foundanactual
diiFerencethatwetalkedaboutbetweenthe
promotionaleffectsof interactiveand
noninteractiveservicesbasedon thepointvalues
you observed,howmuchconfidencedo youhavein
thehypothesisthatthereis no difference'?

A I mean,I haveasmuchconfidenceasyou
cangetafterrunningatestandfailing to reject
it. There'sno — statisticaltestingdoesn'
work in suchaway thatthereis apercentagethat
you canputon that. As I saidbefore,whatit
tells you is this is somethingthatwouldn'tbe
uncommonto seeif thehypothesisweretrue. So
what— I look at this andsay,if thehypothesis
is true, this is somethingwewouldseeso there'
no evidencehereto tell methatthehypothesisis
false. 25 noninteractiveservicessubstitutefor digital

1 if you look atcolumnC.

2 JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
3 BY MR. MILLER:
4 Q I guessjustonequestionto wrap this
5 up. So theeconometricanalysisyouperformedon
6 iHeartMedia'sproduceddatashowedthat it was
7 morelikely thannot thattheuseof
8 noninteractiveserviceshadno substitutional
9 eff'ect,correct?

10 A Sorry,canyouaskthatagain.
11 Q Hadno substitutionaleffect.
12 A Theuseof?
13 Q Noninteractive— I'llaskit again.
14 A Sorry. That'sokay„ thankyou.
15 Q Theeconometricanalysisthatyou
16 performedon thedataproducedby iHeartshowed
17 thatit wasmorelikely thannot thattheuseof
18 noninteractiveserviceshadno substitutional
19 effect,correct?
20 A I mean,I don'tknowaboutmorelikely
21 or not. It's consistentwith it havingneithera
22 substitutionalnor apromotionaleffect,yes.
23 Q You couldnotsaytherewasany
24 statisticallysignificantevidencethat
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sales.correct?
A That'scorrect,the analysisis

indistinguishable&om — there'sno statistical
evidencethat it's — again,strictly talking
aboutdigital downloadsandignoring all theother
revenuechannels,becausethat'sall thedata
does,theevidencesuggests— there'sno
statisticalevidenceofapromotionaleffector a
substitutionaleffectfrom noninteractiveservices
or interactiveservicesor anydifferencebetween
them.

MR. MILLER: No furtherquestions.
THE WITNESS: Thankyou.
CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Goodmorning.
MS. ABLIN: Goodmorning,Your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATIONBY COUNSELFOR
NATIONAL

ASSOCIATIONOF BROADCASTERS
BY MS. ABLIN:

Q Goodmorning,Dr. Blackburn.
A Goodmorning.

Q I would like to startby discussinga
sectionofyourtestimonyyou didn't talk about
yesterdaybutyou did talk aboutwhenyouwere
deposeda fewweeksago.

A Okay.
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A That'scorrect,it's not a

quantificationexercise.

Q You alsodidn'tcalculate
cross-elasticitiesofdemandbetweenunauthorized
piratedservicesandlicensedservices,did you?

A No, thatwouldbe- if I haddonethat,
theanswerto thepreviousquestionwouldhave
changed.That'sa quantitativeexercise.

Q In preparingyour testimony,you did not
analyzewhetherthepresenceofpiracyaifectshow
asurplusin theservicegetsdividedbetweena
serviceandarecordcompanyin a license

negotiation,did you?
A That'scorrect,yes.

Q And you wouldn'tbecomfortablesaying
thatpiracywouldmovethedivision ofsurplus
betweentherecordlabelandthe licensedservice
oneway or anotheror notmoveit at all, correct?

A That'sconect. I'm comfortablein
sayingthattheratesarelower asaresult,but
notwhetherwhateversurplusthereis, is being
split differently,

Q If you couldpleaseturnnowto
paragraph23, which is on page15 ofyour
testimony.
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1 Q IfI couldgetyoutoturnto
2 paragraph61, which is onpage37 ofyour rebuttal
3 testimony.
4 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Ms. Ablin, canI
5 askwhichhatyou'ewearingtoday'?

6 MS. ABLIN: Certainly,Your Honor. So
7 we'emetbefore. I'm KarynAblin. I'm

8 representingtheNationalAssociationof
9 Broadcasters.

10 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
11 A Paragraph61, yes.
12 Q Yes. Now,you'eassertedin that
13 paragraphthat"The threatof losingpotentially
14 payingcustomersto nonpayingillegal services
15 would causerationalnegotiatorsfor the directly
16 licensedservicesto demandlower royalty rates
17 andwould causerationalnegotiatorsfor the
18 recordcompaniesto acceptlower ratesthan
19 otherwisewould be the caseabsentpiracy"; is
20 thatright?
21 A That'scorrect.
22 Q And in makingthatstatement,you did
23 not attemptto quantifytheeffectofpiracyon
24 theratesthatarenegotiatedbetweenthe licensed
25 servicesandthe labels,did you?

1 A Okay.
2 Q You statetherethat "A reviewofthe
3 aggregaterevenuetrendsin themusicindustry
4 overthepastseveralyearssuggestthatstreaming
5 servicesaremorethansimplyneutralin theirnet
6 promotionandsubstitutionimpact. The trends
7 suggeststreamingservicessubstitutefor other
8 industryrevenuesources."

9 Do you seethat?
10 A It saysthat,yes.
11 Q And thenyou go on in thatsectionto
12 presentfigures2 through5, whichshowvarious
13 typesoftrendsrelatedto streamingplotted
14 againstoverallrecordingindustrysales;is that
15 correct?
16 A Right. And they'esimilar to the
17 chartsthatI talkedaboutherea fewweeksago.
18 Q Let'stakea look at oneofthose
19 figures,figure 4, which is on page17 ofyour
20 rebuttaltestimony.
21 A Uh-hmm.
22 Q Now, thatfigureprovidesavisual
23 comparisonoftheamountof revenuesfrom
24 streamingservicesin generalwith the amountof
25 total recordingindustrysalesfor eachyearRom

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 22 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-27-2015

5999 6001

1

2
3

4
5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23

24
25

2004to 2013,correct?
A It does.

Q And you intendedthat figure to be a
fair visualdepictionof theserevenuetrends,
correct?

A I mean,I don'tknowwhatfair means,
but it's — it's intendedto showthe trends,yes.

Q You didn't intendto misleadanyonein
theway thatthis datawaspresented.

A Absolutelynot.

Q But in presentingthis comparison,you
haveusedveiy differentscalesto plot the
streamingrevenuesandthetotal industrysales
revenues,correct".

A Well, youhaveto do thatbecauseif you
havethesamescale,you can'tseethetrends.
You canjust seethe levels.

Q And, in fact, thescalevaries— they
vary by afactorof4, don'tthey?

A Thatseemsto beright, yes.

Q Soyou saidyouhadtodo thatto make
sureyou couldseethetrendin thestreaming
revenues?Is thatwhatyour testimonyis?

A Yes,I think that'sright. If youput
thestreamingrevenueson thesamescale,the
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A I mean,I takeit thatmaybethat'

possible. I don'tseethat. It maybebecauseI
havespentyearsstudyingstatisticsand
econometricsandstufflike that,but it maybe
possible.

Q Let'stakea look at anexhibit I'm

aboutto handout—

A Sure.

Q — whichhasbeenmarkedNAB 4236.
MR. CHOUDHURY: Your Honor„weobject.

This is clearlyademonstrativethat'sneverbeen
disclosed.Therewereno demonstrativesor
exhibitsdisclosedfor thiswitnessfromNAB, and,
clearly,they'edonesomethingwith thedata
which,youknow, I can'tknowsitting here.

MS. ABLl¹ Your Honor,this is simply
an impeachmentdemonstrativeto impeachthe
reliability andmisleadingnatureof
Dr. Blackburn'sfigure4 in his testimony. We'e
not requiredto discloseimpeachment
demonstratives,andI will representto theCourt
thatthis demonstrativewascreatedusing—
without doingnewanalysesofdata. It wassimply
thedataandtheExcelchartsthatwe receivedin
discoveryfrom SoundExchaugerelatedto
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barsasthey'epresentedin this chart, it gives
theappearancethatthedeclineof industry
revenuesandthegrowthofstreamingrevenuesare
morecloselycorrelatedthantheyare; is that
coirect?

A I mean,I don'tthink it changesthe
correlation. Thecorrelationis notsubjectto—

I mean,acorrelationisn'tsubjectto scale.

Q Right. I'm just talkingaboutthe
visualappearance.Someonelooking atthis chart,
it givesthevisual appearancethatthere'sa
highercorrelationthanthereactuallyis if
they'enotpayingattentionto thetwo different
scales.

leit-handside,thatthetotal salesare,
streamingis still arelativelysmallpattof
total industryrevenues.It's growing,asyou can
seehere. But I certainlydon't— I certainly
don't intendanybodyto look at this andsay,ah,
total streamingrevenuesarenowashighas
digital andphysicalrevenueswerein 2013. It'

8 just— it's aboutonefourththesize.
9 Q Right. Andby usingthesedifferent

10 scalesfor thetwo setsofrevenues,it givesthe
11 appearancethatthedecline,just looking atthe

1 Dr. Blackburn'stestimony.
2 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Anything further,
3 Mr. Choudhury?
4 MR. CHOUDHURY: No.
5 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Theobjectionis
6 overruled. 4236 is admittedasademonstrative.
7 (NAB Exhibit 4236wasadmittedinto
8 evidence.)
9 BY MS. ABLIN:

10 Q Dr. Blackburn,doesthis figure in
11 NAB 4236appearto showwhatyour figure 4 would
12 look like if the sameverticalscalehadbeenused
13 for bothstreamingrevenuesandrecordingindustry
14 sales?
15 A I mean,takingyour representationthat
16 it usesthesameunderlyingnumbersthatfigure 4
17 does,Ithinkso,yes.
18 JUDGESTRICKLER: I haveaquestionfor
19 you relatedto this andgoingto your figure 4,
20 whichyouprobablyhaveopenin troutofyou.
21 The leit-handaxis is — youusethe
22 phrase"total sales." Ontheright-handaxis,you
23 use"streamingrevenue." Is thereareasonwhy
24 you didn'talsosayjust "total revenue"as
25 opposedto "total sales"on the left-handaxis?
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THE WITNESS: They'ethesamething. I
don'tknowwhy. at this point, why onesays
"sales"andonesays"revenue." It maybebecause
the revenuethatcomesin for streamingis not
salesrevenue,it's licensingrevenue.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I couldunderstandwhy
thatonewouldberevenue.But youhada choice,
I thinl-, correctme if I'm wrong,calling the
left-handaxis "total revenues"insteadof "total
sales."

THE WITNESS: Yes, that'scorrect. I
think it's — honestly,I do not rememberwhy. My
guessis it's becausethosearerevenues&om
salesandtheotheronesarerevenuesthataren'

from sales,just to maketo distinction,but, to
behonest,I'm not certainaboutthat.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
BY MS. ABLIN:

Q Dr. Blackburn,I thinkyou testified
earlier,was it your ideato usetwo different
scalesin plotting thesetwo trendsof revenuesin
figure 4?

A I mean,it's my report. Everythingin
thereis my ideas,yes.

Q So it wasyour decisionto do this.
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A Thescaleon the left-handside is ten
timesthe scaleon the right-handside,yes.

Q I'm going to handout anotherexhibit
for usto look at.

MR. CHOUDHURY: Your Honor,just for the
record,as long as it's beingusedsolely for
impeachment.I would alsonotethat I believe
thesearealsonewto theexhibit list afterthe
startofthehearing.

CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Theyaremarked
with newnumbers.I think usuallywhathappensis
thesethingsappearandthenlaterweassignthem
anumber. But 4237 is admittedfor demonstrative
purposesonly.

(NAB Exhibit 4237wasadmittedinto
evidence.)

MS. ABLIN: Thankyou.
BY MS. ABLIN:

Q Dr. Blackburn,you'enowbeenhandedan
exhibit that'sbeenmarkedasNAB Exhibit 4327.
Do you seethat?

A I do.

Q Doesthis figure showwhatyour figure 5

would look like if the sameverticalscalehad
beenusedfor both SoundExchangedistributionsand
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A Yes.

Q And figure4 alonedoesnotshowthat
increasedstreamingrevenuesto the recording
industryhascausedthe declinein overall
recordingindustryrevenues,doesit?

A I mean,we'etalkedaboutthatat
lengthacoupleweeksago. It's — this is nota
causalanalysis. It'sjustshowingthatwhile one
is goingup andonecontinuesto grow,while
streamingis growing,total salesarefalling.

Q Let'stakea look nowat figure 5 in
your testimony. That'son page18.

A Okay.

Q In presenting— well, thatfigure
providesavisualcomparisonof theamountof
statutoiyroyaltiesthatSoundExchangedistributed
with theamountof total recordingindustrysales
for eachyearfrom 2004to 2013,correct?

A That'scorrect.

Q And in presentingthis comparison,
you'eactuallydecidedto inflate the scalefor
graphingSoundExchange'sstatutoryroyalty
distributions,ascomparedwith total recording
industrysalesamounts,by a factorof 10. Is
thatcorrect?
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recordingindustrysales?
A I mean,I don'tknow. If you'ewilling

to makethesamerepresentation,thenI could
answerthe question.

Q Yes. I'm happyto representthatthis
chartwascreatedfrom the samedatathatwe
receivedin discovery&om yourcounselthathad
beenusedasbackupfor thechartin your
testimony.

A Right. So as long asthedataarethe
same,thenthatappearsto be the case,yes.

Q And wasit alsoyour ideato plot the
two typesofrevenuesin this chartusingtwo
differentscales?

A Yes, it was. I think hereyoucan
really seewhatI wastalking aboutbefore. If
you look at 2005,2006,2007,the scaleis — the
scalefor theSoundExchangedistribution is just
too wide thatyou cau'treally — can'teventell
whetherthere'sanychangebetween2005 and2006,
butyou canseea little bit betteron theother
one. Maybeyou shouldevenusea biggerscale
becauseyou'ieonly using— evenin my figure 5

you'eonly usinghalfoftheverticalspaceto
showwhat'sgoingon in SoundExchange.
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1 And I'l note,because,you know,you
2 askedaboutthis beingmisleading,if you readthe
3 textaroundthis, it talksaboutthe specific
4 numbers.And theendofparagraph24 even
5 explicitly saysthatthe increaseof about
6 300million in distributionsoveratimeperiodis
7 only aboutonethird theapproximately900million
8 dollar drop in salesoverthattime.
9 So, I mean„I hopethat it's clearfrom

10 stufflike this I amnottrying to mislead
11 anybody. I amdoing thisjustbecausevisually,
12 in orderto seewhat'sgoingon, youwantto use
13 thevisualspace,andthescaleis different
14 enoughthat, in my opinion, it warrantsusing
15 differentscalesfor the differentdata,but I
16 certainlyhaveno intentionofmisleadingand
17 makinganybodylook atthis chartandthink that,
18 say,there'saone-for-onechangeon onehandfor
19 theother.
20 Q But you don'texplicitly flag in the
21 textthe fact thatyou'euseddifferentscales
22 otherthanthesmailprint thatgoesup theright
23 sideofthis graph,do you? You mightmention
24 numbers,butyou don'texplicitly tell thereader
25 thatyou'eusingdifferentscalesin thetext, do
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(Witnessexcused.)

ERIC L. TALLEY, Ph.D.,
havingbeenduly sworn,testifiedasfollows:

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: If you couldstate

your full nameandspellyour lastnamefor the
record.

THE WITNESS: Yes. Eric L. Talley. The
lastnameis T, as in Tom, A-I L-E-Y.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
MR. RICH: Your Honors,on behalfof

Pandora,Mr. Ebinwill be conductingour
cross-examinationofMr. Talley.

CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou,
Mr. Rich.
DIRECTEQUATION BY COUNSELFOR

SOUNDEXCHANGE
BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q ProfessorTalley, whereareyou
currentlyemployed?

A I amcurrentlytheRosalindeandArthur
GilbertFoundationprofessorof law andeconomics,
in theLaw, Business,andtheEconomydivision at
UC Berkeley. As ofJuly 1, 2015,I will bemoving
to a tenuredpositionatColumbiaUniversitywhere
I will hold theSulzbacherprofessorof law.
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1 you?
2 A It's on the chartsthemselves.So if
3 you'elooking at thechartsandyou look atthe
4 charts,you canseethatit's there. I'm not
5 trying to pull thewool overanybody'seyes.
6 Q Right,but it's not in thetext.
7 A It's not in theprose. It's in the
8 writtentestimony.
9 MS. ABLlN: No furtherquestions.

10 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Any questions,
11 Mr. Malone?
12 MR. MALONE: No, YourHonor.
13 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Is theresomeone
14 herefi'om Sirius?
15 MR. TOOF: Yes,Your Honor,Jackson
16 Toof.
17 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Any questionsfor
18 thiswitness?
19 MR. TOOF: No, Your Honor.
20 MR. CHOUDHURY: No redirect.
21 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou,
22 Mr. Choudhury.
23 Thankyou, Dr. Blackburn.
24 THE WITNESS: Thankyou. It's beena
25 pleasure.

1 Q Whatis youreducationalbackground?
2 A I hold aPh.D. in economicsfrom
3 StanfordUniversityaswell asa law degreefrom
4 Stanfordlaw school,andabachelor'sdegreein
5 economicsandpolitical sciencewith aminor in
6 mathematicsfrom theUniversityofCaliforniaSan
7 Diego.
8 Q Whatcoursesdo youpresentlyteach?
9 A I teachavarietyofcoursesin business

10 law andtheeconomicanalysisof law, includinga
11 coursein law andeconomics,contracts,mergers
12 andacquisitions,corporatefinance,corporations,
13 andasetofsundrytopicsin businesslaw as
14 well.
15 Q Haveyou conductedresearchand
16 publishedarticlesin thesefields?
17 A Yes, I have.
18 Q You'estudiedandpublishedarticles
19 specificallyonbargainingin theshadowof legal
20 regimes?
21 A Yes. Thepartofmy researchthat
22 concernsbargainingin theshadowof law is
23 actuallyoneofthe largestportionsofmy
24 researchdossier.
25 Q Do youpresentlyserveon anyboards?
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A I do. I aman immediatepastpresident
anddirectorof the Societyfor EmpiricalLegal
Studies,which is — I believeit's the largest
empirical legalstudiesacademicsocietyin the
world. I'm apastmemberof theBoardof
Directorsof theAmericanLaw andEconomics
Associationaswell asprogramchairofthe
sectionsofcontractsandlaw andeconomicsin the
AssociationofAmericanLaw Schools.

Q Haveyou testifiedbeforeasanexpert
in litigation?

A Yes, I have.

Q How manytimes?
A Well, I'ebeenprobablyretainedmore

thantwo dozentimes. I'e testified,I believe,
four timesnow.

Q And yourentirecurriculumvitae is
attachedasanexhibit to your testimony?

A Letmejust check.

Yes,my CV asofNovember14, what
appearsto be acorrectcopyof it is attachedto
my written rebuttaltestimony.

MR. BLAVIN: Your Honors,we tender
ProfessorTalley asanexpertin microeconomics,
bargainingandgametheoiy,andeconomicanalysis
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Therearefour moduleson theslide thatgetat
mostof it. I'l just coverthembriefly, and
thenwe cango into themin greaterdetail.

The first concernswhathasbeencalled
theshadowof the statutoryrateandthe failure
ofProfessorsKatz andShapiroto accountfor how
thatstatutoryratecancrowdout consensually
negotiateddeals,leavingbehinddealsthat
exhibit downwardselectionbiasin theirpricing
terms.

Thesecondis thatProfessorsKatzand
Shapiroignoreor suppresstheeffectsthat
competitionin downstreammarketscanhaveonthe
deriveddemand,as it were,or demandfor inputs
of intermediate— intermediatesellers,suchas

theservicesin this case,andconstraintheir-
theupstreampricesfrom gettingtoo high.

The third is thatProfessorsKatz and
Shapiroemployanapproachthat is inconsistent,
in my view, with themandatein thestatuteof
whatahypotheticalmarketofwilling buyersand
willing sellerswould producein termsofprices,
andthatrenderstheir conclusionsunreliable.

And the fmal is that theyattemptedto
distinguishinteractivefiom noninteractive
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1 ofthe law.
2 MR. EBIN: No objection,
3 CHIEF JUDGEBA3QKTT: ProfessorTalley
4 is so qualified.
5 BY MR. BLAVIN:
6 Q ProfessorTalley, is this atrue aud
7 correctcopyofthewritten rebuttaltestimonyyou
8 submittedin theseproceedings?
9 A Justflipping throughit, it appearsto

10 be. I will notbotherto try to rereadit, but it
11 appearsto beacorrectcopy.
12 MR. BLAVIN: Your Honor, SoundExchange
13 movesinto evidenceProfessorTalley'swritten
14 rebuttaltestimony,which is SoundExchange19.
15 MR. EBIN: No objection.
16 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Exhibit 19 is
17 admitted.
18 (SoundExchangeExhibit 19 wasadmitted
19 into evidence.)
20 BY MR. BLAVIN:
21 Q ProfessorTalley, doesthis slide cover
22 your centralcriticismsoftheanalytical
23 approachestakenby ProfessorsKatz andShapiro,
24 asdescribedin your rebuttaltestimony?
25 A I think this capturesthe coreof it.

1 servicesin abargainingdynamicthatpurportedly,
2 accordingto ProfessorShapiro,particularly,and
3 Katz, to someextent,would differ. I find that
4 unconvincing.
5 Q Now, besidesoffering thesecriticisms
6 ofProfessorKatz andProfessorShapiro,did you
7 do anythingelsein yourwritten rebuttal
8 testimony?
9 A Yes, I did. I think thenextslide

10 outlinesthata little bit. I developed,asaway
11 to animateandillustrateandwork throughthose
12 criticismsofProfessorsKatz andShapiro
13 somethingthatI guessmosteconomistswould call
14 astructuralmodelapproach,which is anattempt
15 to drill down to someof the corefeaturesof
16 economictransactionsin away thatwouldbearon
17 the typesofpricingbehavioror other
18 institutionalstructureswemight see&om a
19 largerlevel.
20 Q Whatwerethe ingredientsofthis
21 approach?
22 A That is goingto dependon exactlythe
23 topic ofwhereonewantsto go with thestructural
24 approach.In this instance,thestructuralmodel
25 wasfashionedaroundtrying to gleanwhata
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populationofwilling buyersandwilling sellers
would do if transactingin a largedecentralized
market.

So, asa result,thestructuralmodel
positsasetofheterogeneousdistributionsof
buyersandsellersandtheydiffer in their
variouswillingnessesto pay,by buyers,for what
would essentiallybe bundlesof licensesin this
market,andsellers,who areheterogeneousin
termsoftheirwillingnessto accept. And the
willingnessto payandwillingnessto acceptare
factors,areoneof the corebenchmarks,not the
only ones,for trying to understandhowa
negotiationbetweenthesepartieswouldplay out.

So theseagentswithin this structural
modelarethenrandomlyselectedto negotiatewith
oneanother,andthere'snotalwaysadealthat
would behadin this underlyingmodel,but if
thereis, thentheywouldpursue,sortof,
standardbargainingprotocolsfrom theeconomics
literatureandgenerateaprice. Thoseprices,in
turn, would thengeneratea distributionofprices
thatcomeoutofthis framework.

Q After developingthis frameworkhowyou
did you analyzeit?
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negotiateandgenerateprices. Thatwill, if one
samplesenoughfrom this — from this simulation
frameworkgeneratedistributionprices. That'

conventionallyknownasaMonte Carlosimulation.
JUDGESTRICKLER: Goodmorning,

Professor.
THE WITNESS: Goodmorning.
JUDGESTRICKLER: How areyou, sir?
THE WITNESS: I'm well. How areyou?
JUDGESTRICKLER: Fine, thankyou.
You refer to thewilling buyersand

willing sellersin your simulationas

heterogeneous.Whatelementsdid theyhavein
this simulation?Whatmadethemheterogeneous?
Wasit with regardsimply to theirwillingnessto

payandwillingnessto accept,otherfactors?
Couldyou describeit?

THE WITNESS: Yes. So theunderlying
fundamentalsthatwouldmakebuyersandsellers
differ or difFer from oneanotheror differ from
similarly situatedbuyerscouldbe anythingwithin
thismodel. So it couldbedrivenby different
tastes.It couldbedrivenby differenteconomies
ofscale. It couldbe drivenby quality
parameters.So theremight beaparticularbundle
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A I did it in two ways.
Becausethe frameworkactuallydrills

downto economicmodelsofbargainingin a
decentralizedmarketsetting,it lendsitselfto a
very, sortof, conventionalanalysisusing
equilibriumconceptsthat'squite conventional
within economics.And theappendix,thesecond
partoftheappendixto my writtenrebuttal,in
fact, includesthattechnicalanalysis.And it'

onethat'sverygeneral. It doesn',for example,
committo aparticular,you know, distributional
form ofwhatthosebuyersandsellerslook like in
theoverallpopulation. It leavesit veryopen
andderivessomevery generalresults.

That'shardto digest,quite frankly, in
thebodyofa report. So thereportitselfthen
goesinto somesimulationsbasedon thatmodel,
basedon aparticulardistributionalsetof
assumptions,essentiallyto illustratemanyof the
claimsthataredemonstratedin theappendix.

Q Thesearereferredto asMonte Carlo
simulations?

A Yes. Theseareessentiallydrawing
hundredsofthousands— tensor hundredsof
thousandsofthesebuyer-sellerdyadshavingto

1 of a licensethathasveryhigh-qualityartists
2 andabuyer— andbuyersin general. Maybesome
3 buyerswouldbemoreattractedto that.
4 So themodelis deliberately,I guess,
5 ambivalentaboutcommittingto aparticularreason
6 thatthebuyersandsellerswouldbe
7 heterogeneous.Therearemanyeconomicaccounts
8 thatwouldgive riseto thatheterogeneity.I
9 believethemodelis consistentwith manyof

10 those.
11 JUDGESTRICKLER: So thoseunderlying
12 factorsleadto heterogeneitywith regardto
13 willingnessto buy — willingnessto pay,
14 willingnessto accept,but otherwisenot
15 described,justassumingavariationin reasons
16 why wewouldgetto theseheterogeneous
17 willingness-to-acceptandwillingness-to-buy
18 parameters'!
19 THE WITNESS: The distributions
20 themselvesareorganicto the simulation. But
21 partof that, I think, is thatI didn'twantto
22 haveto committo aparticularreason.Thereare
23 manykindsofreasonsthatbuyersandsellers
24 mightdiffer in theirwillingnessto payand
25 willingnessto accept.And if onecommitsto a
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particularaccount,thenthegeneralityof the
modelis actuallycompromised.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
THE WITNESS: Thanks.

BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q Are suchsimulationsfrequentlyusedin
economics?

A Yes, they'eusedquite frequentlyin
economicsfor avarietyof reasons.Onemight be
to simply illustrate,asI'e donehere,some
generalpropositionsthatcanbe derived
analyticallybut arekind ofhardto getyourmind
wrappedaround. Anothercouldbe if a
simulation— that'salso,to someextent,present
here— give rise to distributionsthatcanbe a
little bit complex,simulationscanhelp
understandand inform intuitions aboutwhatthose
distributionsaregoing to look like.

And, third, simulationsareoftena core
blockor a corestagein calibratingamodel,
essentiallyusingasimulationwith particular
parameters,askhowwell the datafit it, tweaking
theparameters,andreadjustingthesimulation.

Q Canyouprovideanyreal-worldexamples
in whichsuchsimulationswouldbeused.
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takesplacein practice.
And we wereableto use,quite

successfully,I think, somesimulationapproaches
to understandthings like how litigation would
play out if wechangedsomeof theunderlying
rules.

Q You notedearlierthatsimulationscan
bean importantstepin calibratingamodelto
real-worlddata. Did you do thatcalculation
here?

A I didn't do that for thepurposesofmy
rebuttaltestimonymainly becauseit wasn'
necessary.Thepurposeofthesimulationin this
rebuttalwasto help fleshout andto animateboth
thegeneralmoretheoreticalresultsofthe
structuralmodeling,which is in theappendix.but
alsobecauseI wascalledin asa rebuttalwitness
for ProfessorsKatzandShapiro. So thecritiques
oftheir approachcomeimmediatelyoutofthat
structuralapproachwithouthavingto calibrate
thatmodel. HadI beenaskedto affnmatively
comeforwardwith my ownestimatesof fair rates,
thenanextstepmighthavebeento calibratethis
model.

Q Now, whenyousaythatProfessors
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1 A Yes. They'eall overtheplace,quite
2 frankly. Particularlywithin thegovernment,with
3 agovernmentagencythat'srequiredto conducta
4 cost-benefitanalysisof, say,anewfinancial
5 regulationor anewhealthregulation,it's quite
6 commonto usesimulation,aMonte Carlo simulation
7 analysisto determinewhatarethe likely effects
8 ofanunderlyingchange,drilling downto whatthe
9 structuralrelationshipis amongthepartieswho

10 aregoing to be affectedby thatchange.
11 Within the financialservicesindustry,
12 it's extremelycommonto think abouthowto
13 understand,say,newfinancialproductsor
14 derivativesby askinghowcould thingsevolvein
15 the futureandwhatis the overalldistributionof
16 risksgoingto look like in the future. So
17 simulationMonteCarlo approachesarevery, very
18 commonwithin thatcontextaswell.
19 Policy think tanks— I wasaffiliated
20 with theRAND Corporationfor tenyearsin the
21 Institutefor Civil Justice.Manyofthethings
22 thatwewereaskedto do was— wereessentially
23 endeavorsto understand,well, if we changethe
24 fee-shiftingrule or if we changethestanding
25 rule,howwould thatchangetheway litigation
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ShapiroandKatz failedto offer asatisfactory
accountof "how thestatutorylicensemaycrowd
out consensuallynegotiateddeals,"whatdo you
meanby that?

A Well, I think it startsbackwith whatI
wasdiscussingbefore,thatwithin this structural
frameworkofbuyersandsellerswithin these
populationsthathaveheterogeneouswillingnesses
to payandaccept,thoseindividualnegotiations
aregoing to give rise to a rangeofnegotiated
prices.

I think I'egotademonstrativehere
thatwill justheuristicallygiveyou asenseof
what'sgoingon. Justimaginethatwe'egot,
say,30 negotiatedcontracts.This is in the
hypotheticalmarketin which thereis no shadowof
astatutoryregime. And we'egotbuyersand
sellerswho aregettingtogether,andif the
buyer'swillingnessto payexceedstheseller'
willingnessto accept,that'sgoing to give rise
to abargainingrange. Somewherein themiddleof
thatrange,dependingon thebargainingpowerof
theparties,they'egoing to reacha deal.

So theseblue dotsessentiallyrepresent
aneffectiveper-playpricethatwould comeout
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from these,sortof, heuristicallygenerated
deals. This is really for illustrativepurposes
only.

MR. BLAVIN: Your Honor,justsoyou
know, this is displayedon thebackofthescreen
thereaswell.

THE WITNESS: I mayseekyour
indulgence.I'egotsomeanimationsofthese
slides. I apologizein advancefor youhavingto
craneyournecks,butProfessorKatzhadthewhite
bird and theblackbird. WhatelsecouldI do.

JUDGESTRICKLER: White swansandblack
swarls.

THE WITNESS: Oh, yes,exactly.
BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q So how doesthe impositionofa
statutoryratechangethings?

A If onewereto takethis hypothetical
market,very decentralizedmarket,andimposea
statutoryrate„ this is essentiallycreatingwhat
aneconomistwould referto asa realoption,that
thepurchaseror thebuyer,andonly thebuyerin
this circumstance,would havetheability to say,
well, I guessI couldnegotiateadealusing the
samesortofnegotiatingprotocolthatwe'ebeen

1 here.
2 So imagine,for instance,Mr. Blavin,
3 thatyou andI, let'stakethatthird transaction
4 in on this chart. It's onethatgoesoff ata
5 negotiatedrate in theabsenceofastatutoryrate
6 at around25/100of acentper-play— effective

7 per-playrate. Let'sjustsupposefor argument'

8 sakethatI wasthesellerandyouwerethebuyer,
9 andasabuyer,you valuedat, say,28/100ofa

10 centand,asa seller,I valuedat22/100ofa
11 cent,andwe reacheda dealthatwasright in the

12 middle, all right?
13 Soyou asabuyernowarerealizingthat
14 you couldjustgo throughthis dealor negotiate
15 this dealwith meat 25/100 ofa cent,butyounow
16 haveanotheroption. You canconsumeat — and
17 purchasefrommeon anon-consensualbasisfor
18 20/100ofacent. That'sgoing to betruefor
19 justaboutfor everyoneofthesebluedotsthat
20 is abovethe line thatwould reacha price in
21 excessof thestatutoryrate. Buyersaregoing to
22 find it in theireconomicinterestto exercise
23 thatoption.
24 Sohere,whatI can— I'l askyou to
25 startmy little animationhere— what'sgoingto
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I thinking aboutearlieror I couldjustgo to the
2 statutoryrateandexercisemy optionto purchase
3 a licensenon-consensuallywithouthavingto
4 bargain. So thatstatutoryratecreatesthis
5 option in thehandsofthebuyer.
6 And, here,oneofmy lessexciting
7 animations,is an impositionof astatutoryrate.
8 I'ejustpickedarbitrarilyastatutoryrateof
9 20/100,but, again,this is for illustrative

10 purposesonly. So onecanimaginethat in this
11 circumstancesomeof thebuyersin those
12 negotiationswouldnowbe looking to that
13 statutoryrateasapotentialoptionfor them.
14 Q Whataretheconsequencesofbuyers
15 havingthis realoption?
16 A Well, asyou canimagine,it's not—
17 it's notparticularlyhardto imagineit, that in
18 a situationwhereabuyernowhasanoptionto
19 purchaseat thestatutoryratelevel,thensheor
20 heor it is goingto think, well, if that'sa
21 betterdealthanthedealI would haveotherwise
22 negotiated,thenI'm going to consumeat the
23 statutoryrateratherthanto negotiatea
24 transaction.And if you cango back,maybe,to
25 thatslide,we cansortofseewhatwouldhappen

1 happenis thoseblue dotsareessentiallygoingto
2 convergeto thestatutorylicensingrateline.
3 Thosetransaotionsareessentiallygoingto be
4 converted&om consensualtransactionsat an
5 assortmentof ratesto non-consensualtransactions
6 atthestatutoryrate.
7 Q You saidtherewasasecondconsequence
8 aswell, I believe.
9 A Thereis asecondconsequenceaswell.

10 It's a little bit moresubtleandslightly moreon
11 the iringes,but it turnsout thatnot all the
12 actionis in thosedealsthatwould havebeen
13 negotiatedabovethestatutoryrate. Thereare
14 somedealsthatwouldhavebeennegotiatedbelow
15 the statutoryratethatmight actuallyconvergeup
16 to thestatutoryrate. I think I'egot another
17 demonstrativehereasweIL

18 So now I wantyou to imagine,
19 Mr. Blavin, thatyou andI arenegotiatingoverin
20 thatfourth columnandbut for thestatutoryrate,
21 wewouldhavereacheda dealat, say, 19/100ofa
22 centperplay. I — think tltat'sapproximately
23 wherethatblue dot is — but thatyou were
24 someonewhovaluedat, youknow, 24/100ofacent
25 andI valuedat, say,17. And that'swherewe
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wouldhavebeenin the absenceof thestatutory
rate.

Now, in this case,thatstatutoryrate
doesn'tlook asgoodto you asthepurchaseras
purchasingconsensuallyat 19/100ofa cent. But
to meastheseller,I now realizethat if I
simply refuseto bargainwith you, thenyouwill,
in fact, resortto thestatutorypurchase.

And so the interestingeffecthereis
thatsellerswhoknow thatthey'efacinga buyer
thatwould consumeat thestatutoryrateanyway
will say, look, I'm not interestedin bargaining,
go aheadandjust consumeat the statutoryrate.
Now, that'stypically goingto be thosebuyers-
by definition, it's going to be thosebuyersthat
valuemorethanthe statutoryrate. And, asa
result,thedealsbelowthis line thatmightget
suckedup into it aregoing to tendto betheones
thatare,sortof, closeto the line already,
insidethegravitationalpull, if youwill, of
this line.

So here'sanothersmallanimationhere
of the dots— ofa few ofthe dotsgoingup.

JUDGESTRI~: Excuseme,Professor,
I justwantto gobackfo yourmostrecent

1 BY MR. BLAVIN:
2 Q AndProfessorsShapiroandKatzhave
3 suggestedthatthevalueofdealsmaybe drivenup
4 or pulledupby themagneteffectofthestatutory
5 rate. Isthisaversionofthat?
6 A Well, I think it couldbe aversionof
7 whatthey'etalking about. I wasn'tentirely
8 clearwhatthey'ediscussing,but this is one

9 phenomenonin whichtherewouldbesomedealsthat
10 wouldgo off below thestatutoryrate
11 consensually,andthey'esortofcloseto the
12 statutoryrate,thatactuallywouldnowbecome
13 non-consensualdealsatthestatutoryrate.
14 Q Sowhy doesthis matter?
15 A Well,itmattersinsofarasoneis
16 interestedin looking atprecedenttransactionsto
17 helpunderstandor benchmarkanysetof inferences
18 aboutwhatthis wholepopulationwould look like
19 without the statutoryrate. So this givesrise—
20 I think I'm donewith my animation,by theway,
21 This givesriseto aphenomenonthatI
22 think you'eprobablyheardbeforethat'scalled
23 selectionbias,whichsaysif we'etrying to
24 infer somethingabouta largerdataset,thenwe
25 needto bemindful ofwhetherwhatwe are
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1 hypothetical.You hadawillingnessto payof 19,
2 andwhatwasthatwillingnessto pay in that
3 hypothetical?
4 THE WITNESS: Thewillingnessto payon
5 that,I think I said22.
6 JUDGESTRICKLER: Oh, 22.
7 THE WITNESS: Yes. And that'scritical,
8 JudgeStrickler,becausethe crowdingup, if you
9 will, usingthegeometryin this slide,dependson

10 the sellerrealizing,hey, if I don'tnegotiate
11 with this buyer,thisbuyerwill still consumeat
12 thestatutoryrate. Sonoweventhoughwewould
13 havereacheda dealbelowit, I canforce a
14 transactionby justnotbargainingabovethat
15 statutoryrate. So herethere'sgoing to be a
16 smallnumberofthesetransactions,not all of
17 them,by anymeans,thatareinsidethe
18 gravitationalpull andgo aheadand— soyou'e
19 goingto seesomeofthoseconvergeto the
20 statutoryrateaswell.
21 Now, therestill will besomedeals—
22 as long asthestatutoryrateisn'ttoo low, there
23 still will besomedealsleft over,but they'l
24 tendto bedownbelowthe line.
25

1 observingin practiceis systematicallyskewedto
2 the left or to theright of the setof, you know,
3 characteristicsthatwe'eultimately interested
4 in.

5 JUDGESTRICKLER: Professor,in this
6 case— in thediscoveryphaseofthis case,we
7 hadpermitteddiscoverywith regardto parties'

internalvaluations,that is we specificallysaid
9 theirwillingnessto paysndtheirwillingnessto

10 accept. If youwerearmedwith thatsortof
11 internalinformationthroughthediscovery
12 process,wouldyou be ableto — canwe go backto
13 the lastanimationfor amoment,Mr. Nickels'?—

14 wouldwe be ableto fill in, haveactual
15 informationto theextentthatwehadinformation,
16 documents,depositiontestimonywith regardto
17 whatwillingnessto acceptwas,whatwillingness
18 to paywas,to find outwhetherthe dotswereboth
19 aboveandbelowtheexistingstatutoryline or any
20 line whatsoever,andthatwaywewould takethis
21 theoreticalpoint andactuallybeableto put some
22 factualmeaton thebones,so to speak?
23 THE WITNESS: I think I understandthe
24 question. Theansweris theywould be a promising
25 sourceof information. If, going into a
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negotiationyouhadwhatyou thoughtwerequite
reliableestimatesoftheparties,maybethereare

differentscenariosthatthey laid outwith
differentprobabilities,thatmight help geta
senseofwherethosewillingnessto pay and
willingnessto acceptvaluesare. Thatcouldbe
differentexpectationsaboutthe future. This is

exactlyonedimensionofheterogeneitythatI want
to remainopento thatI think the structural
modelwould admit.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Theway theMonte
Carlo simulationsthatyou speakof, youhave
theselargevariations,largeamountof
heterogeneity,throughthediscoverydealingwith
the actorswho areactuallyinvolved in this
proceeding,wewould be ableto look at a, I don'

wantto call it a subset,but the actualsetof
bargainingparties. To theextentwehavethat
information,would thatallowus, again,to repeat
myself, to movefrom the theoreticalto the

practical'HE
WITNESS: So I think thatwouldbea

helpfulpieceof information,maybenot theonly
pieceof informationthatyouwould be interested
in if youweretrying to calibrateit. But,
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lrankly, if we hadanon-consensualdealthat
mighthavebeena consensualdealsndwe had
accessto projectionsabout„youknow,valuations
hadtheyreacheda deal,howseriouswould those
projectionsbe. So I don'tevenknowthatwe
would getthem,quite frankly, with a lot of these
non-consensualdeals.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Although in the law
andeconomicsfield, andin economicsin general,
we dealwith rationalactors. If theyhave
projections,wehaveto taketheirprojectionsas

therationalexpectationsofthe future. It
doesn'tmeanthey'eright. Wejust assumethem
to berationalbecauseotherwiseI guessit would
be irrationality, andthenwe'ehopelesslylost.

THE WITNESS: I agree. This structural
modelis, in fact, basedupona rationalactor
scenario.It'sjust thequestionofwhatkind of
datawouldwehaveavailablefrom those
non-consensualdealsin whichtheredoesn'treally
haveto be anybargainingat all, right? Soyou
maynothaveasmanyofthose— asrich asource
of datafor thosedeals.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Becausetheywouldn'
evenhavethesenseto bargain,you'esaying.
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ultimately, I think you seewhereI'm goingon
this, butI'l probablygo thereanywaybecausewe
haveaslide deck,afterall. But thatwhenwe
observetransactionsout there,we areobserving
themfrom this lower stripe.

So oneofthethingsto concernyourself
with is. all right, thesearetheonesthatdidn'

getsuckedup into thestatutoryregime.
JUDGESTRICKLER: Right. And that is a

point I knowyou'l beheadedto becauseyour
point is, if you look atthePandora-Merlin
agreement,for example,it will bebelowthe
stripebecauseyou canview it, buttheremaybea
wholehostofthem,perhaps,thatcouldhavebeen
abovethestripethatyou'l neverseebecause
theygetpulleddown,but that'sbecausewe'e
looking attransactions.Thewholepointof
discovery,ofcourse,is to peelawaythecurtain
andseewhatwillingnessto payandwillingnessto
acceptwere,andthat'swhy I askedyou the
questionofwhetherthatwould behelpful datato
fmd outwherethesepointsreally are.

THE WITNESS: Yes,I'm with youon the
logic here. Oneofthethingsthatwouldbe—
I'd bea little bit concernedabout,quite
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THE WITNESS: Right.
JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.

BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q Now, notwithstandingthis selectionbias
issue,doesthatmeanthatyouwouldn't look at
anymarketdatathatmight exist?

A No, it doesn'tmeanI wouldn't look at
marketdatathatexists. I tliink this actually
touchesonthediscussionthatJudgeStricklerand
I werejusthaving,thatthedealsthatare
generated— therestill maybedealsthatare
generatedwithin this tail ofthedistribution.
Thoseareinformative„particularlyif oneis

hyingto determinewhattheoveralldistribution
is, keepingin mind thatoneis in the tail of the
distribution. So they canstill be informative.
I wouldn'twantto restcompletelyon those,and
theremaybeothermarketdatathatarealso
available.

So, for example,I think I'egot
anotherdemonstrative.And I'm going to flip the
axeson youhereto do somethingthat'sa little
bit moreconventional,sortof, youknow,
histogrammyor &equencydistributionrelated. So
this is, you know, heuristicallyrepresentingthat
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samesetof dealsor similar setofdealsthat
give risewithout astatutoryrateto some
distributionofprices,andtheyare,sortof,
stackedup in termsoftheir — you know, the
probabilitydensitywithin thatpopulation. So
this is, kind of, astandardbell curvetype
distribution.

And imaginethatwe droppedastatutory
rateright down in themiddle. Well, asI noted
earlier,everythingto theright sideofthat
statutoryrateis nowgoing to becomea
non-negotiated,non-consensualstatutory
transaction.Essentially,it's going to crowdout
thathalf, in this case,of thedistribution. A
few of thedealson the left-handsideofthat
line mightalsogetsuckedup into thestatutory
rate.

I think this getsbackto this question
of inference. Sowhatwewould be dealingwith,
from anempiricalfrequencyperspective,is no
longera bell curvebut a curvethat'sgot this
big spikeright at thestatutoryrateandthen
sortofa skewedor acatawampusbell curveleft
overon the left-handtail.

So anothersourceof informationthatwe
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thatI takeissuewith ProfessorShapiro. He
doesn'tmakeanyadjustmentsfor the factthat
this dealis — mayberepresentative,maybenot,
fiom thetail ofthedistribution.

Theotherpart is it's onedealandit
doesn'tconsiderall themarketdata,otherdeals
thatmayhavebeennegotiatedin theshadowof the
statutoryrate,thenon-consensualdealsandthe
frequencyofuptakeofnon-consensualdeals,as
well asnearbyspacesin this market,suchasthe
interactivespace,wherewe mightbe able to glean
a little bit aboutwillingnessto payand
willingnessto accept,afteralsomaking
adjustmentsfor anydistinguishingfeaturesof
thatspace.

So I think it's the combinationofnot
usingmorethanonedealandalsonotmaking
adjustmentsfor the fact thatwe arelooking at a
tail ofthedistribution.

Q ProfessorShapirotestifiedat the
hearingthatthe existenceof thePandora-Merlin
agreementcontradictsyour analysis. What'syour
responseto thatpoint?

A I don'tseehow it contradictsthe
analysis. I think thatmy recollection— andI
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mightuseis what'sthe&equencywith whichthese
non-negotiateddealsaregoingoffbecausethat
would at leastgive us someindicationofhowmany
of thesedealsgot cutoff ofthetop halfofthe
distribution.

Theremightbeotherinformationthatwe
woulduseaswell. For instance— andI
understandProfessorRubinfeldhasusedthe
interactivemarketor interactivespaceofthis
marketasaway to say,well, is thereaportion
of this marketthatactuallyisn'tsubjectto the
statutorylicensingrate,and,in that
circumstance,thatmight beanothersourceof
informationthat'savailable.

Q Sowhatarethe implicationsof this for
ProfessorShapiro'sapproachandspecificallyhis
relianceon thePandora-Merlindeal?

A Well, I think therearea coupleof
them. Firstofall, soProfessorShapirohasput
forward a — onedealdrawnfiom thenegotiated
transactionsthatsurvivethe impositionofa
statutoiyrate. That inferenceis somethingthat
doesn'ttry to accountfor the fact that it'

beingdrawnfrom a tail of the distributionanda
left tail ofthedistribution. So that'sonearea
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did readthroughProfessorShapiro'stestimony,
his testimonytranscript. I think hewasmaking
thepoint thatPandorais ahigh-valuing— a
high-valuedcompany,I guess.It's a large
company. It's nota smallplayer. And,
therefore,it wouldn'tbeoneoftheselow-value
transactionsor low-volumetransactionsthat
survivesthe impositionofthestatutoryrate.

I'm notso surethat'sthecase,for the
following reason.Eventhoughit's clearPandora
is avery largeplayerin thenoninteractive
space,thething thatoneis negotiatingover
mattersaswell. In this caseit wasn'tthe
catalogof amajor label. It wasMerlin. And
therewas,asI understandit, evenoptionsfor
thevariouspartsofMerlin to decideto go into
thatdealor not. So it wasamuchsmallerplayer
within Pandora'soverallportfolio ofsongs. So
it couldwell be thecasethatPandorais a
high-valuecompanybutjust doesn'tvaluethis
particularbundleof assetsveryhighly.

Q Doesthemerefact thatanagreement
existsbelowthestatutoryratedemonstratethat
youranalysisis incorrect?

A No, it's completelyconsistentwith the
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analysis. I guessin theextremecasewherewe
wereto setthecompulsorylicenserateatzero,
youwouldn'tseeanymoreofthosedeals. But
it's completelyconsistentwith my analysis.

Q Sowhatwould happenif the
Pandora-Merlinagreementbecamethebasisfor the
nextstatutoryrate?

A Well„ I think this is kind ofan
importantpoint. Do you mind if I usetheElmo
here? I'mgoingtodrawonit. Soletmejust
switchplaceshere. I wantyou to — I'm going to

try to recreate,thebestI can,thatdistribution
thatI putup a fewslidesago,all right, of
rates. This is essentiallythedistributionthat
wouldbenegotiatedin theabsenceofapureplay
rate— excuseme,ofastatutoryroyaltyrate.

And let'ssuppose,again,like we
droppedastatutoryratesomewheredownthe
middle. That'simmediatelygoingto havethe
effectof crowdingout thesetransactionsand
essentiallycreatinga spikehere,all right? The
remainingtransactionsthatwe'l actuallyobserve
aregoingto look somewhatsimilar to that. There
mightbea little bit ofafalloff all right?
And that'swherewe sit.
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here,they'ejustputtingsomefleshon their
points. And he is specificallyrebutting
ProfessorShapiro,who camein andoffered
testimonyon this issue.

CHIEF JUDGEBA1QKTT: Overruled. I
don'tthink it's thatfar afield.

A All right. Well, I'm almostdone

anyway.
If you wantto — if youwantto then

think, well, whatkind ofdataarewegoingto see
thenfive yearsfrom nowunderthis newregime?
Well, it's notgoingto bethosesamedeals,all
right? Now there'sgoingto beasetofdeals
thataresimilarly crowdedout&om aboveanda

newdistributionthat'sevenfurtherdownwould
takehold, whichpossiblyProfessorShapiromight
beavailableto comein andoffer another
contract,andyou canseewhichway this would go
if this werethe — if this wasapatternof
respondingto thesesortsofdeals.

But, essentially,it's a turtlesall the
way downphenomenon,thatwewould increasingly
contractandcontractandcontractto the
left-handtail of thedistribution.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I justwantto make
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Now, asI understand,ProfessorShapiro
hastakenatransacteddealfrom theshadowof
this tiimcateddistributionnow, all right. And
let'ssuppose,just for argument'ssake,andit
will beclearin a second— I don'tthink this is
aparticularlygoodidea,but let'ssupposefor
argument'ssakethatthatbecamethenewstatutory
ratefor thenextfive years,all right? We'e
goingoutwith theold andin with thenew,and
we'emovingthatstatutoryratefurtherdown.
Well, I nowwantyou to flashforward in five
yearsandaskwhat'sthesetofdealsthatwe'e
goingto be looking at thatarenegotiatedin the
shadowofthatnewrate?

MR. EBIN: Excuseme. Objection,Your
Honors,thishasnowgoneway beyondthe scopeof
what'sin ProfessorTalley'swritten rebuttal
testimony.

MR. BLAVIN: Your Honor,mayI respond?
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Yes.
MR. BLAVIN: This point is made

essentiallythroughouthis testimony. We
distributeddemonstrativesofthesehistograms
before,andhe'sjust illustrating it throughthe
useofanElmo. As numerousexpertshavedone
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sureI understandsomethingatamoregeneral
levelwith regardto your criticismof
Dr. Shapiro'spoint as it relatesto theuseof
thePandora-Merlinagreement.

This particularcriticismyouhave
relatesto thatdynamiceffectyou talk aboutin
five-yeariterationsaswemoveto the left on the
graphthatyou created.Thisparticularpartof
yourtestimonyis notacriticismofthesteering
impactthatDr. Shapirospeaksof in the
Pandora-Merlin— thatheseesevidencedin the
Pandora-Merlinagreement.You haveother
criticismsofthat lateron, butthis criticism is

gearedto therateandusingtheratebecauseit
falls to the left of thestatute,giventhatit'

adyadofPandoraandMerlin?
THE WITNESS: Yes,this criticism is one

that is independentofmy criticismsofthe
steeringpoint.

JUDGESTRICKLER: That'sthepoint I

wanted.
THE WITNESS: Evenif therewereno

steering,steeringwereimpossible,steering
weren'tcompletelypossible,this sortof
phenomenonwouldbesomethingthatweshouldbe
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1 concernedabout. It's not thatthatcontract
2 shouldn'tmatter. It shouldinform us. But we
3 haveto understandwhatwe areobservingin those
4 contractsaredrawsfrom atail ofthe
5 distributionandmakeadjustmentsaccordingly,or
6 you do endup runninginto this typeofa danger.
7 JUDGESTRICKLER: Do weunderstandthat
8 it's anexampleof the tail of the distributionor
9 do weunderstandthat it maybe in thetail ofthe

10 distribution?
11 THE WITNESS: It's possible. I befieve
12 thatPandorahasassertedthatthis is — this is
13 a dealthathasgoneoff atbelowthestatutory
14 rate,whichwouldbe completelyconsistentwith
15 this underlyingmodel.
16 JUDGESTRICKLER: Well, thatassumes
17 thatthestatutoryratehasacertainparticular
18 legitimacyor lackof legitimacy,if thestatutory
19 ratehadbeensetby previousjudges
20 extraordinarilyhigh thismightnotbe in the
21 tail, it mightbewell within themiddleofthe
22 pack. Sowewouldneedmoreevidenceto determine
23 whetherit is indeedin thetail ornot in the
24 tail.
25 THE WITNESS: So it's clearly in the
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rates,smallpureplayrates,Settle-— Webcaster
SettlementAct ratesfor theNAB, Webcaster
SettlementAct ratesfor SiriusXM.

So at leastunderyour theory,it
suggeststhattheratewouldbehigher,not
infinity becauseit wasn'tinfinity, but it was
setatwhateverit wassetat, andthenwe saw
bargainingthereafter.Now, theremaybeother
reasonsfor bargaining,butwe haveseen
bargainingoff thestatutoryrate. Wouldn'tthat
beconsistentwith the ideathatratesbelowthe
statutoryratemight havesuggestedthatthe
statutoryratewastoo high?

THE WITNESS: I'm notso surethat'sthe
case. The factofthematteris, you'egoing to
see— there'sgoingto be incentiveto bargainso
long asthestatutoryrateisn'tzero. Thereare

goingto bedyadsofbuyersandsellersthatwould
bewilling to bargain.

Oneofthecritical issuesis how
fiequentlyis thathappeningversusnon-consensual
transactions,for example.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I guessthequestion
is — again,andI wantto emphasize,this doesn'

makethoseratesprecedential,but if it werethe
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1 taiL Thequestionis how fat thetail is. I
2 think that'syour — that'swhatyou'easking.
3 JUDGESTRICKLER: How do weknow it's in
4 the tail?
5 THE WITNESS: Right. So oneway thatwe
6 cantiy to assessthatis to ask,well, to what
7 extentdo we seeuptakeofnon-consensualdeals.
8 Thatwill giveussomesenseofhow far into the
9 tail thatwe are. Imaginethatthestatutoryrate

10 weresetat infinity or somearbitrarily high
11 number. Thatnumberofnon-consensualdealswould
12 go to zero,right? And thenyou'egotpretty
13 muchthewholedistribution.
14 JUDGESTRICKLER Well, it's not
15 precedentfor us,butwehavestatutoryratesthat
16 weresetin WebII, goingbackto WebH, andthen
17 we seea lot ofnegotiationresultingin rates
18 thatarelower. Thoseratesaren'tprecedentfor
19 usat all becauseCongresshastold usthey'enot
20 precedential.
21 But consistentwith your theory,wehave
22 setstatutoryrates,andthenwe seebargaining
23 for, perhaps,ahostof reasons.Like yousaid,
24 we'elost someheterogeneityoutthere,butwe
25 seebargainingandwe endup seeingpureplay

1 casethatnobodywasoperatingat thestatutory
2 rateandeverybodyhaddecidedto enterinto side
3 dealsandtheywereall to the left ofthe
4 statutoryrateandwedidn'tseeanybodyoperating
5 atthestatutoryrate,if thatwasthesituation,
6 underyourtheory,would thatbesuggestiveofthe
7 factthatthestatutoryratewastoo high audthat
8 thoserateswerenot in thetail at all butwere
9 moretowardsthemiddle?

10 THE WITNESS: Yes, I think I understand
11 yourquestion. It maybeanotherversionofthe
12 setit at infinity. You'ejustsayingsetit at
13 sucha largenumberthatno onewould everdo a
14 non-consensualdeal. And I think that'sright,
15 thatif yousetit atsuchapoint that
16 non-consensualdealscompletelydisappear,then
17 all youwouldseein this distributionis
18 consensualdeals.
19 JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
20 BY MR. BLAVIN:
21 Q Justfollowing up, youwouldwantto
22 look at thenumberofpartieswho optedfor the
23 statutorylicense?
24 A Absolutely. So oneof thethings
25 that's— andI think my discussionjustnowwith
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JudgeStriclderborethatout a little bit is that
whenyou couldtry to glean,well, whatdoesthis
distribution look like, is thatnot only to look
atwhatarethedealswe observein thetail of
thedistributionbut, also,howhigh is that
spike,howmuchoftheothersideof this
distributionmayhavebeencutoff Sobothof
thosepiecesofdataandpossiblyothers,asI
mentionedearlier, in the interactivespacemight
be relevantinputs.

MR. BLAVIN: If we cango backto the
slides.
BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q Sowith respectto your secondpoint,
yoursecondcriticism, canyou pleaseexplainwhat
youmeanby "competitionfiom the downstream
consumermarketcanconstrainprice in the
upstreamlicensingmarket"?

A Sure. Themarketfor servicesin this
instanceis oneof, essentially,an intermediate
supplier. Theysell to adownstreammarketof
consumers.Theyserveasadownstreammarketof
endlisteners,andthenpurchaseinputs,in
particular,licensingbundlesfrom upstream
suppliers.

1 point hereis that let'sjustsupposethat they'e
2 theonly producersor thatthere'sa— say,a
3 singlelabelthat'stheproducerin theupstream
4 market. It might be technically,in avery
5 pedanticsense,amonopolistbecauseit's theonly
6 gamein town. But if it is facingademandthat
7 is itselfvery priceelastic,possiblybecauseof
8 a downstreamelasticityor price sensitivityin
9 its market,it's notgoing to beamonopolist

10 that'sgoingto be ableto do verymuch. It's not
11 going to be able to chargeratesatanexorbitant
12 levelbecauseit realizesthat its downstream—
13 thatthedownstreamendusersaregoingto flee if
14 thoseratesendup beingpassedon to them.
15 It's notgoingto be ableto constrain
16 quantitytheway thatmonopolistssometimesdo,
17 but thetypeofdeadweightloss— I don'tknow
18 if you'eseensomeofthesediagramshere,but
19 deadweightlossis associatedwith monopolies,
20 that'ssomethingthateconomistsreally care
21 about,andthatdegreeofdeadweight losswould
22 be actuallyquitesmall for amonopolistwho is

23 facingavery, veryelasticdemand.
24 JUDGESTRICKLER: Eventhoughthe
25 monopolistwasfacingavery elasticdemand

6048 6050

1 And thequestionof, well, what'stheir
2 demandgoingto look like for thoseupstream
3 licensesis very closelyrelatedto whatthey
4 anticipatetheirdownstreammarketis goingto
5 look like. So example,in theextreme,suppose
6 all of the listenersofa servicewereto
7 disappearfrom the faceof theearthandall their
8 prospectivelistenerswereto disappearfrom the
9 earth. It's not too far ofa stretchof the

10 imaginationto saythatservice'sdemandfor
11 licensesis essentiallygoing to go to zero. They
12 don'thaveamarketto supply. Lessextremely,if
13 thatserviceis facingadownstreammarketthat'
14 very, verypricesensitive,thathaslots of
15 competitionwithin it, therearereasonsto
16 believethatthatcompetitioncangetfedback
17 upstreamto theservice'sown demandfor the
18 inputsthat it is purchasing.
19 Q Now, assumingthatthereis averyhigh
20 elasticityofdemandin thedownstreamconsumer
21 market,doesit matter,asProfessorsKatz and
22 Shapiroclaim, thatthemajorlabelsmaybe
23 pricing asmonopolistsin theupstreamlicensing
24 marketfor interactiveservices?
25 A Well, I mean,I guessthe interesting

1 becauseit wasamonopolist,it wouldstill be
2 ableto shift someofthe intermediatemarket
3 consumersurplusall theway to producersurplus.
4 THE WITNESS: In theextreme,theanswer
5 is actuallyno. If it werefacing acompletely
6 priceelasticdemand,it wouldn'tbeableto. So
7 themonopolistmightbe— I mean,that'swhat
8 monopolypricing is. But I tlunk it's important
9 to understandthat if you'egotamonopolistthat

10 is facingademandcurvethat'sextremelyelastic,
11 it maybeyetanotheroneoftheseexamplesof,
12 okay,well, maybetechnicallythis is amonopoly,
13 but it's notnecessarilyamonopolythatwe should
14 haveoccasionto be excessivelyconcernedabout.
15 Thereareotherexamplesaswell. For
16 instance,companiesthatmakevery, very
17 high-qualityservicesor productsmayendup
18 gainingverydominantpositionsin themarket.
19 But it's notnecessarilysomethingthatwe should
20 be incredibly concernedaboutsimplybecauseit'

21 their investmentsin quality thathaveput them
22 there,andit's creatingvaluefor themarket.
23 Similarly, andI guessit's in someways
24 relevanthereaswell, theunderlyingmarkethere,
25 it concernsmarketsfor copyrights. Thoseare
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statesanctionedmonopoliesovertheexpressionof
an ideaand,it's essentiallythereso asto
catalyzeentrepreneurship,creativity,andthe
growthof theusefularts. So it mayjustbe
anotherexampleofa situationwhere,yes,this
maybe, flom a collegesophomoreEcon101

perspective,amonopoly,but is it amonopolythat
weshouldbe too concernedabout? Thatseems
highly moredubious.

CHIEFJUDGEBA1QKTT: Is this agood
time to takeabreak?

MR. BLAVIN: Yes,Your Honor.
CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Okay. Wewillbe

at recessfor 15 minutes.

(A briefrecesswastaken.)
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Pleasebeseated.

I'm goingto saythis out loud becauseit feels
like aTuesdaywhenit's really Wednesday.We
will breakpromptlyat4:15 today.

Mr. Blavin.
MR. BLAVIN: Thankyou.

BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q ProfessorTalley, I thinkyouhad
coveredthe first pointon this slide. If you
couldpleasedescribebriefly whatyouweir trying
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to say,okay,we'egot a distributionofbuyer
andsellertypes.

In thesimulationsI usedwhatis
essentiallyathree-dimensionalbell curve,a
bivariatenormaldistribution,andsaid,well,
whatwouldhappenif suddenlyunderscenarioone
thebuyersin this market,their demandshifted
downby somefigure. I think in this chartit'

halfor a third ofastandarddeviation. And the
secondis whatwouldhappenif buyersin this
marketsuddenlyhadvaluationsthatwere
70 percentoftheirvaluationbefore.

Q Whateffectdid this haveon theprice
distributionsthatemerged?

A Well, theprice distributionsthat
emergedbothwentdown. Theyshifteddownward.
And theyalsobecamemorecompressed,whichwould
besystematicallyor, I guess,symptomatic,I
guess,ofamoreelasticdemandcurve.

Q Now, with respectto thesecondpoint
listedhere,is anelasticityshockin the
downstreammarketoneway thatelasticityshock
thatyoumodelmayoccurin theupstreammarket?

A Yes, that'soneway thatthat
intermediateproducermightendup havingan

6052 6054

1

2

3

4
5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23
24
25

to capturein thesecondpoint thatyou have
listedhere.

A Yes. So this feedsinto whatmight
causeapurchaser'sdemandto be extremelyelastic
so thatevenif it were facinga singlemonopoly,
themonopolywouldn'tbe ableto extractmuchin
termsofmonopolyrates. Thishasto do with
what'sthedemandthatis beingservedby that
downstreammarket. Oneway thatan intermediate
purchasercanitselfexhibit extremelyelastic
demandis if thatdownstreammarketthat it serves
itselfis very, verypricesensitiveandhighly
elastic. Thatcanessentiallygetupstreamed,as
it were,to thedemand,or sometimeseconomists
refer to this asthe deriveddemandof the
intermediatesupplierfor thepurchasesof its own
inputs.

Q Thankyou.
With respectto the first pointyou have

listedhere,did you attemptto modelthatat all
in yourstructuralsimulations?

A Therearewayswithin the simulationsto
replicatethe ideaofa, I guess,anelasticity
shockat thebuyerlevel. So I did that in two
waysin thesimulations.And thiswasessentially
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elasticdemandfor its own intermediategoodsis
if it's facingadownstreammarketthatsuddenly
hasbecomemoreelastic,morepricesensitive.

Q You'eawarethatProfessorShapirohas
respondedto thispointby sayingthatthe
elasticityofdemandin theupstreamlicensing
marketdoesnotnecessarilymirror theelasticity
ofdemandthatmayexistin thedownstream
consumermarket,andhe'smadereferenceto the
Hicks-Marshallformula. Do you disagreewith
that?

A As ageneralmatteroftheory,I don'.
TheHicks-Marshallor Marshall-Hicks,dependingon
whoyour favoriteeconomistis, I guess,formula
doestell usa little bit aboutthe conditions
underwhichadownstreammarket'sprice
sensitivitywouldgetpassedupstreamto the
demandfor an input. And undercertain
circumstances,it cangetpassedvery,very
&ictionlesslyupstream.And in some
circumstancesit canbedivertedor absorbed
elsewhere.

Q Sowhatarethosecircumstancesor
factorsthatmayexistthatwouldberelevantto
thatdeformation?
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A Sorry for startingtoo soon.
So thekey two factorsare, is there,in

fact, anelasticdownstreamdemandcurve. The
secondis, howsignificantis theexpenditureon
that inputversusotherinputs,right, thecost
intensityof thatparticularinput thatwe'e
interestedin.

So if we'ethinking aboutlicensesin
this case,how— howmuchof the overallvariable
costofthis companyis madeup ofhavingto
purchaselicensesasopposedto othercosts. The
largerthatcostshare,themorethis elasticity
is goingto bepassedthrough. In contrast,very,
verysmallcostshareinputs,thingsthatyou
don'tspendmuchcapitalon atthe inputstages,
don'tgetpassedthroughasmuch. That'soneof
thecoreinsightsofHicks-Marshallor
Marshall-Hicks. There'ssometimesasayingthat
goeswith it that it's thesignificanceofbeing
insignificant. If your insignificanthasshareof
thecost,thenthatelasticityis lesslikely to
bepassedthrough.

JUDGESTRICKLER: How do you apply,
Professor,this conceptof the downstream
elasticityaffectingtheupstreamprice in a
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would haveto be — it wouldhaveto be conveited
possibly.

Theotherissueis thatthereare

certaintypesofalternativesatthedownstreain
level, like the costofthreatofpiracyor other
outlets,YouTube,for example,thatarealsogoing
to give riseto highpriceelasticityevenif you
startedto chargeaprice ratherthanadvertising.
In fact, thatmaybe oneof thereasonswhy it'

hardto chargea pricesimply becausethereare
theseoutsideoptionsthatdownstreamlisteners
haveto resortpossiblyto piratedcontent.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q Now, with respectto thesefactorsyou
justmentionedbefore,do you seethemgenerally
in themarketthatwe'elooking at?

A Well, from whatI understandof this
market,thevariablecostsassociatedwith
licensesis, in fact, avery significantcost
shareofthecostoftheservices.And to the
extent,then,thatthedownstreammarketdoes
exhibit thesetypesofhighpriceelasticities,
this wouldbeoneconduitwhereyouwouldexpect
thoseelasticities,in fact, to bepassedup to
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situationwhereyouhavewhatat leastappears,
arguably,to bea two-sidedplatformin the
downstreammarketwith regardto noninteractive
services,that is, many— manypeopleare
listening,theirdemandcurveis a little funny
for usto applybecausetheydon'tpayanything,
it's Beeto them,andit's advertisingsupported
service.

Sohow, if at all, wouldyour analysis
changegiventhe fact that— or let'sassumethe
fact that it's anad-supportedservicewe'e
looking at ratherthanasubscription-based
service?

THE WITNESS: That'sagreatquestion.
So therearemanywaysthatapricecouldbe
visitedon aconsumer.One is youpayan
out-of-pocketpriceperhouron asubscription
basis. Ad-supportedservicescanalsoalterthe
priceyou'egoing to haveto pay to listento the
tuneor to listento this webcastfrom time to
time. Themoretheadvertisements,thehigherthe
price;the lessthe advertisements,the lowerthe
price. So there'sa typeofan in-kind price
componentthatwouldberelatedto this typeof
elasticitypass-through.But I agreewith you, it
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thedemandfor the input asopposedto lesscost
intensiveinputs.

Q Now, giventhesefactors,wouldyou
expecttheprice thatwouldemergein theupstream
licensingmarketto becomparableto theprice
thatwould resultin whatProfessorsKatzand
Shapirohavedescribedasaneffectivelyor
workablycompetitivelymarket?

A Well, I needto becarefulhere. I
haven'tdoneanempiricalanalysisofthatmarket,
but to theextentthattheconditionsarethere,
andI think they are,for highelasticity
downstreammarketsto havethatelasticitypassed
up to the licensingmarketasasignificantcost
share,I seeaverystrongtie betweenthe
downstreammarketandtheupstreammarket;and,
therefore,to theextentthatdownstreammarketis
alsoreflectingeffectivecompetitionand
ProfessorShapiroandKatzhaven'treally
preciselydefinedwhattheymeanby "effectiveor
workablecompetition,"thenit would, in fact, be
passedbackup to thedemandfor the inputs.

Q Would thatstill beamonopolyratein
theupstreammarket?

A Again, I think we'ebackto this more
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pedanticpoint that it maywell be theonly case
thatyou'ethe only gamein town asa monopolist,
if you areamonopolist,butyou'efacingavery
elasticdemandcurveandyour ability to utilize
thatmonopolyfor thingsthatwe typically think
monopoliesare— arebad,it's goingto be quite
limited.

Q Now, with respectto yourthird
criticism, in whatwaysis ProfessorKatz and
ProfessorShapiro'seconomicanalysisof the
hypotheticalmarketinconsistentwith economic
theory?

A Well, asI notedearlier,ProfessorKatz
andShapirodon'treally adoptatypeofa
buyer/sellerframework. Theyendupusingsome
moreconventional,you know, sortoftextbook
accountsofthemarketsfor widgets&om asortof
anelementaryeconomicsclass,which is fine, but
it doesomit, I think, importantthingsthatare
relatedto this particularsetting.

The first thatI noteaboutbothofthem
is their omissionof fixed costsasaconsiderable
componentofcosts. I agreewith themthat
there'sa largefixed costcomponentor quasi
fixed costcomponentto this industry,but if
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opportunitycosts,aswell, thatarepartof
marginalcoststhatcausea divergeto — diverge
from, say,zero.

But to theextentwe stickwith that
hypothetical,asupplierin thatmarketis not
goingto stayin themarketunlessit canrecover
whatis essentiallyits averagecosts. So atthe
endofthe day,youknow, thatsupplierhasgot to
be ableto recoverits fixed costs,essentiallyan
averagecostwith a reasonablereturntypeof
pricing scheme.

JUDGESTRICKLER: How doessucha
willing sellerrecoverits fixed costsgiventhat
it hasto do that? How doesit price?

THE WITNESS: Yes. So it's goingto
price— so in the f'rameworkthatI'esetup,
it's goingto bepricing by negotiationwith
individualbuyers,andthe seller'swillingnessto
acceptmayverywell be— oneofthethings it
informs— andthisgetsbackto our discussion
earlierabout,youknow,whatgoesinto that
willingnessto accept,thatmaybethatI needto
meetmy averagecostconstraints.Fixedcost
recoverymaybe thepointwhere,look, this is not
goingto be aworthwhile dealfor me. And that
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that'sthecase,thenpricing conditionsin this
industryneedto be attentiveto fixed costs.

So, for example,ProfessorShapirois
quite fond of invoking theLernerequation,which
is essentiallya way of— you know, it'

essentiallyamarginalcostpricing conditionthat
relatestheelasticityof demandto your
price-costmarkup. Well, that'sessentially
assumingthatthe fixed costsarerecovered
throughoperationsanyway. If thosefixed costs
arenot recovered,thenthatcompany,if it priced
at theLernerequationlevel, wouldbeoperating
at a lossandit wouldnot be ableto sustainit.

So theLernerequationis trueonly insofarasthe
companyis able to recoverand,therefore,ignore
its fixed andquasifixed costs.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Assuming,then,that
theLernerequationdoesnot apply,giventhe
existenceof thosefixed costsandthedeclining
or marginalcostswould beazeromarginalcost
for an incrementalplay,how, in suchamarket,
doesthewilling sellerrecoverits fixed costs?

THE WITNESS: Yes,sojustone fine
point. So theremaybe— I think this hasbeen
touchedon before. Theremaybe elementsof

1 may inform thatseller's— thatseller'
2 bargainingor willingnessto enteradealata
3 lowerrate.
4 JUDGESTRICKLER: Wouldawilling seller
5 look to differing willingnesses,if youwill, to
6 acceptamongdifferentbuyersandestablish
7 differentpriceswith regardto its individual
8 intermediateparts?
9 THE WITNESS: Onething to remember

10 aboutthis marketasopposedto — theanswer,by
11 theway, is it seemslikely thattheymight, as
12 thebuyersmight aswell. Onething to remember
13 in this market,unlike themarketfor widgets,
14 whereI sellMr. Blavin awidgetandI sell you
15 anotherwidgetat a lowerprice, thatwidget
16 marketmayhavea lot ofsecondarytradesgoing
17 inside it.

18 JUDGESTRICKLER: Sellingmight be
19 different.
20 THE WITNESS: Yes,youmightjustbecome
21 an intermediatesupplierofwidgets.
22 In IP marketswherethereare
23 restrictionsonassignmentor transferof
24 licenses,you don'thaveto worry aboutthatas
25 much. Soyou canhavea differential distribution
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ofprices. In fact, that',in someways,my
third bullet pointhere,thatyou would expectin
thesemarketsto seethattypeofprice
distributionbasedon the dealsthatarestruck
betweenbuyersandsellers,possiblywith
differentialbargainingpoweracrossthosedeals.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Would Ramseypricing,
that is, pricing basedon theelasticityofdemand
of thewilling buyer,thevariouswilling buyers,
beappliedin orderto try to recoverfixed costs?

THE WITNESS: It couldbeapplied. But,
remember,oneof the thingsthat'sat issuehere
is whetherthis is aprice-takingtypeofdemand
sideof themarket,right? So Ramseypricing is a
typeofpricing formulathatsaysI setmyprice
andI'm going to setthem— you know,
essentially,there'saconditiononRamseypricing
on — acrossdifferentsegmentsofthemarket-
andI'l beableto maximizemy profits thatway.

But thatassumesatypeofprice-taking
behavior. Thatmaynotbewhat'sat issuehere.
I'm not convincedthatthat'swhat'sforeshadowed
by thewilling buyerandwilling seller&amework,
that this maybemuchmore— that'swhy I ended
up usingastructuralmodel,whereyou'egot

1

2
3

4

6
7
8

9
10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23
24
25

getasmuchof theseller'ssurplusaspossible.
And atthatpointwe'esetup abargaining
problem,right, in which there'sgoingto besome
division ofsurplusbetweenthem. If theseller
hasall thebargainingpower,thatwould beatype
ofpricediscrimination.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q I think throughthatback-and-forthyou
coveredall ofthepointshere,but if I'm wrong,
let meknow?

CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: May I aska
question.

THE WITNESS: Sure.
CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: By theway,

speakingofdivision ofsurplus,let'shavea
momentofsilencefor ProfessorNash. This is not
awidget industry. This is acreativeindustry.
If therecord— majorrecordlabelshavecosts,
fixed coststhattheyhaveto recoverandthey
decidethey'enot recoveringthemfor whatever
reason,it's notgoingto stopmusic,right? I

mean,I couldgo recordonYouTubeif I could
carrya tune. Any aitistcouldrecordin their
garageanddeliveranMP3 to aterrestrialradio
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1 individual transactionsbeingnegotiatedbetween
2 willing buyersandwilling sellers.
3 JUDGESTRICKLER: Can'tyouhaveRamsey
4 pricing evenwithout reducingbuyersto beprice
5 takersbecausetherecouldbenegotiationswhere
6 there'sa determinationofwhatthebuyer'
7 willingnessto pay is, andthesellerhasits
8 willingnessto accept,and, in thosenegotiations,
9 eachbuyercomesoutwith its own resultthat

10 either— that is no lowerthanits willingnessto
11 pay?
12 THE WITNESS: Yes.
13 JUDGESIRI~: Excuseme,no higher
14 thanits willingnessto pay,but eachonevaries.
15 THE WITNESS: I'm sorryI interrupted
16 you. So that'scertainlyapossibilityhere. I
17 think ProfessorKatz talkedaboutthis a little
18 bit yesterday,thattheremaybe interactions
19 betweenthebuyerandsellerin whichthey learn
20 abouteachother'swillingnessto payand
21 willingnessto accept,andatthatpointthe
22 sellermight think, okay,I'm goingto try to get
23 asmuchofthatbuyer'swillingnessto payas
24 possible. Thebuyeris probably,if thebuyeris
25 a rationalagent,thinking, I'm going to try to

1 stationandbecomeastarwithout 6 billion
2 dollarsin A&R costsbeingsunk.
3 So if the— I just- I havetrouble
4 with theconceptofhavingto recoverfixed costs
5 in this industrywhen,youknow, it's not — it'

6 notcoinpletelyopento entry. On theotherhand,
7 thesedays,it's not completelyrestrictedto
8 entryeither,andwhywouldn'ttheyjustreduce
9 theircosts?I guessthat'sthepoint.

10 THE WITNESS: So that'sa loaded
ll question,but it's aperfectlygoodquestion. By
12 theway, thankyou for acknowledgingthepassing
13 ofJohnNash. He'sbeenavery importantfigure
14 in economics.
15 Sowithin any industiy,onecanimagine
16 thatexpertiseis built up in notonly in finding
17 talent,whichcanbe quitedifficult, promoting
18 talent,assemblingtalent,recordingwith high
19 quality ratherthangarage-levelrecording. And
20 theseareall componentsofwhatareessentially
21 recurringor quasifixed costs.
22 It inay well be thecase— in fact, it
23 probablyis the casealready,there'sasegmentof
24 themusicindustry,broadlydefined,in which
25 peoplearerecordingthings in theirbedroomand
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postingit onYouTube. But thereis another
segmentthatseemsto havequitehighvalueamong
consumersin whichsomeoftheseareasof
expertiseare,in fact, quitevaluable. So if the
labelsaren'tableto recovertheir fixed costs,
do they go out ofbusiness?

Maybe in the extremetheywould,but
theywould certainlydial backthosefixed costs,
andthatwould give rise to fewerinvestmentsin
thedevelopment,theassembly,therecording.the
promotionofsomeof thesetalentsthatpresumably
areviewedasquite attractiveto thepublic.

You backup evenfurtherandask,well,
howdoesthis affectmy investmentin decidingto
becomeaclassicalguitarist,which I ahnostdid,
andversusgoingto aPh.D.programin economics?
Thenthatcanalsohavefeedbackeffects,right?
That', in someways,justamicrocosmor a
macrocosmofthe ideaofwhy intellectualproperty
rightshavevalue.

So I think I getyourpoint, andI agree
with it so far, butto theextentthatthis is a
segmentofthemusicindustrythat involves
particularskills andparticularinvestmentsthat
arereallyhardto assemble,I don'tthink you
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must-havesin thenoninteractivemarketbecause,
accordingto him, Pandorawasablesuccessfullyto
steerawayfrom major labelcatalogs.But even
thatsteeringexperimentis not quite the
experiinentthatyouwouldwantto determine
whetherthe labelwasamust-have.

In noneoftheMcBride andShapiro
experiments,at leastthatI'm awareof, was
steeringexperimentedwith to thepointof
100percent,which is reallythethreatthatyou
wouldhaveto bemaking,we'iegoing to dropyour
labelentirely. Moreover,it's — from, I think,
bothversionsoftheseexperiments,oneseesthat
listenershipstartsto fall off at 30 percent
levelsor evenbeforethatand,I think, in
anotheroneoftheexperiments,whensteeringaway
&om amajor.

So thesteeringexperimentsdon'tquite,
I don'tthink, giveyouwhatyouneedto determine
thatthemajorsarenotmust-havesin the
interactive— in thenoninteractivemarketany
morethantheyarein the interactivemarket.
Moreover,asI mentionedin my report,Professor
Shapirodid not conductasimilarly situatedhorse
racein the interactivemarket. If onewere
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replicatethatby sitting in your garage.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.

BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q Sowith respectto your fmal point,
ProfessorKatz andProfessorShapiromaintainthat
the interactivesetofagreementsarenotproper
benchmarksherebecausethemajorlabelsare
must-havesin the interactivespaceandthatthe
bargainingdynamicthatwould give riseto those
agreementsis inappropriatefor settingthe
statutoryratein thenoninteractivespace.

Do youbelievethatthebargaining
dynamicsthatexist in the interactivespacewould
not alsoexist in thenoninteractivespace?

A SoI don'tfind thatdistinction
particularlycompellingfor a coupledifferent
reasons.The first is thatto theextentthatthe
labels,themajors,aremust-havesin the
interactivemarket,I don'tseemuchofa reason
to believethatthey'eany lessmust-havesin the
noninteractivemarket. I think multiple times in
his testimonyor deposition,ProfessorKatz
himselfhasconcededthis. ProfessorShapiro
advertsto — throughhis steeringexperiment
argumentsto a claimthatmaybethemajorsaren'
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interestedin trying to gettheextentto which
therewassteeringpossibilitiesbetweenthetwo,
or differences,I wouldwantto seean
apples-to-applescomparison.

And then,finally, youknow, there'
thispoint that'scomeup a few times,
particularlyin thecontextoftheMerlin-Pandora
deal,thatsteering— anaf5rmativeobligation
to steerjustcan'tbe implementedon a
market-widebasis. It'sjustnotpossiblefor a
serviceto sayI'm going to steerlistenership
towardseachlabelthatI contractwith. Whenever
you steertowardone label,youhaveto be
steeringawayfrom someoneelse. And, therefore,
it's ahnostlike aLakeWobegoneffect, thatnot
everyonecanbeaboveaverage,not everyonecan
receivesteering.

JUDGESTRICKLER: But isn't it the case
thataservice,anoninteractiveservicecan
threatento steerto eachofthemajors,leaving
the independentsout for themoment,andeach
majorwould thenhaveto, in bargainingtheoiy,
haveto determine,do I wantto hold fastandnot
cutmy ratein thehopesofgettingmore— andif
I don'tcutandoneor bothoftheothermajorsdo
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cut, now I will losethemarketbecausethey
recognize,just asyou do, thatyou can't— you
can'thavemorethan100 percentofthemusic
played?

So, asa consequence,steeringcanbea
threat. I believeDr. Shapirosaid,therefore,
onceyouhavetheopportunityto steer,youmight
actuallyseeno steeringat all becauseeveryone
wouldbid — you canalmostthink of it, perhaps,
asan auction. I wantyour bestdealby midnight
on Friday,andthenI'l decidewhetheror not, if
I'm Pandora,to whomI'm goingto steermoreaud
to whomI'm going to steerless,theneverybody
hasto scratchtheirheadsandhopefullynot
explicitly colludeanddecidewhat it is thatthey
wantto do. Isn't thatdynamicofsteering
sufficientto influenceprice?

MR. BLAVIN: I think this is thenext
slidesowe canmoveto that.

JUDGESTRICKLER: But I can'twait.
MR. BLAVIN: We'rerighthere.We'e

there.
THE WITNESS: You neednotwait.

Just-in-timedelivery,okay?
So,yes,so I'm aware— I cuddledup
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is going to fall off a lot.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thenyou'ein
agreementwith ProfessorShapiroin thatregard
becausehedoesn'tsayyou cansteer100percent
away. He'srelying onDr. McBride'sstudieswhere
themajors,so they claim, 15 percent,no effect;
30 percent,perhapsyou'estartingto seea
falloff. Sono one is claiming— it seemslike
thecriticismthatyou can'tsteer100 percent
awayfrom a label is abit ofastrawmauargument
becausenobodyis addressingthat.

THEWITNESS: Goodpoint. So letme
turn thetablesa little bit. So supposethatI
werenegotiating,let'ssay,a servicelike
Pandora,audthethreatwas,we'egoingto steer
awaytromyou at25 percent,andwe'ewilling to
bearthecostto do it.

JUDGESTRI~ Who'sthe "we" now?
Pandora?

THE WITNESS: Excuseme,Pandora.We'e
willing to bearthecostto do it.

JUDGESTRICKLER: So I understandyour
hypothetical,whatcostswould theybebearing?

THE WITNESS: So thecostof, say,
fallofFof listenershipif theystartsteering.
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1 with Dr. Shapiro'strial testimonytranscripta
2 fewnightsagoandsawthathewentthroughthis.
3 It wasprobablynot thebestreadingoptionthatI
4 hadfor the evening—
5 JUDGESTRICKLER: We won'ttell hhn.
6 THE WITNESS: — but I wentthroughit
7 nonetheless.And hemakesthis argument.Another
8 sortofeconoheadway to putthis is thatthe
9 threatto steerawaywouldbe anoff-equilibrium

10 threat. You makethethreatandyouwouldn'thave
11 to follow throughon it.
12 Now, onething that'sreally incredibly
13 importantif — it's conceivablethatathreat
14 thatyou don'thaveto follow throughoncould
15 havepriceeffects,but therearea couplethings
16 thathaveto bepresentbeforethat'strue. First
17 ofall, it hasto bea crediblethreat. You have
18 to beableto say, look, I am-youknow, if your
19 bluff getscalledandyou don'tnegotiatea lower
20 rate,thenthey'egoing to haveto turn around
21 andactuallystartsteeringagainstyou.
22 It appearsfrom themarginsthatwe see,
23 at leastin thoseMcBride-Shapiroexperimentsthat
24 atsomepointyou'enotgoingto be ableto do
25 thatat 100percent.At somepoint listenership

1 JUDGESTRICKLER: Sowe'eassumingin
2 this hypotheticala falloff of listenershipat
3 25 percent,steeringaway&om, say,Sony,for
4 example.
5 THE WITNESS: Exactly.
6 So a coupleissuesthatmaycomeinto
7 play here. We don'tknow for surewhetherthe
8 threatto steer,if carriedout, andthen
9 publicized,would, in fact, havethesame

10 repercussionsas in thePandoraexperiment.So
11 onething that'scritical aboutthePandora
12 experimentis theendusers. Theyweren'taware
13 thattheyweresteeringagainst. To theextent
14 thattheendusersareinformed— andI cantell
15 youamajor labelmight havean incentiveto start
16 informingusersthatthis is happening— then
17 thatcouldbeaproblem.
18 Second,think aboutthis in the
19 hypotheticalmarketwherethereis no background
20 statutoryrate. Thatlabelmight say,okay, if
21 you'egoingto do that,wemayjustwalk away,
22 right? We canforceyou to steerawayfiom us at
23 100percent.
24 JUDGESTRICKLER: That'sa functionof
25 themajor'smarketpower,theability to walk
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away„right?
THEWITNESS: Itmightbe. But

ProfessorShapirohastalkedaboutsteering
ability asacrediblethreat. I think that'spart
of thequestionofcredibility. I think the last
two pointsthatareparticularlyimportantis that
in thecontextthatwesit today,whenaprovider
like Pandorasays,well, we'egoing to threaten
to steeragainstyou, thereis essentiallya
safetynetthattheyareworkingwith, all right?
If I steeragainstaparticularmajoraudI'm

worried,well, they'egoing to takeit out ofme
whenI negotiatea licensewith themor they'e
going to refuseto licenseto me,I actuallyhave
thesafetynetof thestatutorylicensein the
background.

So to theextentthatthatsafetynet is

providingthetypeofammunitionto threatento
steeragainst,I canalwaysgetthemajorson the
statutorylicense,thenthatprobablyshouldn'tbe
whatwe'econsideringwhenweconsiderthe
hypotheticalmarketin the absence—

JUDGESTRICKLER: I wasjustgoingto
say,we'ie talking aboutthehypotheticalmarket.

THE WITNESS: Right.
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transactionsthat is eithernegotiatedin the
shadowofathreatto steerawayor negotiated
with anundertakingto steeraway. It's in the
oppositedirection. This is apromise,in fact, a
contractualobligationto steertowardsMerlin as

opposedto awayfrom Merlin. Not only doesthat
give riseagainto this questionof theLatm

Wobegoneffect,butthesteeringobligations,the
guarantiesandotheraspectsofthatdealwould
alsobesomethingthatpresumablywouldbeof
value.

I knowthere'ssomedisputeabout
whetherProfessorShapirohasvaluedthem
appropriately,but theywouldseemto havesome
value,someoptionvalue,someinsurancevalue,
andthatcouldbeanimatingpartofthe lower
pricethatMerlin hasnegotiated.

JUDGESTRICKLER: You mentionedbefore
somethingveryparticularlyinteresting,andthat
wasthat if Sony,for example,wasplayedless
pursuantto somesortofsteeringstrategyby
Pandora,it wouldnotnecessarilysit backquietly
andallow thatto happen,andotherservicesthat
mightnotbedoing it, alongwith Sony,wouldbe

happyto broadcastthe factyou'enotgettingthe
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1 JUDGESTRICKLER: In asituationlike
2 that,theonly waythatSonycouldsayyou'eonly
3 goingto placemy musicat75 percentof the rate
4 thatyouusuallyplayedit before,I'm taking—
5 theexpressionI usedbeforewith someoneelse-
6 takingmy batandball andI'm goinghomeand
7 you'enotgettinganyofmy music. Theycan
8 afford to do thatbecausetheyhavea large
9 segmentof themarket. By contrast,an

10 independentmightnothavethesameability to do
11 thatbecauseit would harmthemmore.
12 THE WITNESS: Well, onceagain,I'm

13 respondingto ProfessorShapiro'sassertion,which
14 I'm not convincedof, thatthis steeringtlueatis
15 goingat theendof the daygoing to beacredible
16 threatandthatthenoninteractivemarketis any
17 differentthanthe interactivemarket. So to the
18 extentthatthis is aplausibleline ofreasoning,
19 which I think it might be, I think that'sanother
20 reasonto think thatthe interactiveand
21 noninteractivemarketsjustmaynotbethat
22 differentfiom oneanother.
23 Thenthe lastpoint is thatthe
24 negotiatedtransactionthatProfessorShapirohas
25 profferedis, in fact, not oneofthese

1 musicyouwant,you'egettingmusictheycan
2 afford or wordsto thateffect.
3 WhatI wasstruckby is thatwhenwe
4 talk aboutsteering,thatdoor is alwaysopen. We
5 nevergo into closedsession.It wasnever
6 consideredconfidentiaL Pandorais alwayshappy
7 to speakout loud aboutthis steering. So,
8 presumably,they'enotparticularlyconcerned
9 abouttherepercussionsbecausethey'ehappyto

10 makeit openandnotoriousthatthesteeringis
11 occurring,presumably,alongwith, assumingthe
12 strategyworksandtheycangetoverall lower
13 rates,theycouldpassthatalongto, well, to the
14 smallgroupofpeoplewho subscribeat lowerrates
15 or chargelessfor advertisingor play fewer
16 advertisements,enhancetheir listenership.
17 So doesn'tit seemlike, it mightnotbe
18 correct,it's a rationalbusinessstrategyto
19 undertake?
20 THE WITNESS: It's a fair point to make.
21 Onething I will note,however,is thatthe
22 steeringexperimentsthatDr. McBride and
23 ProfessorShapirotalkedaboutwererandomized,
24 single-blindedexperiments.So it maybepossible
25 to learnthatsomesteeringis goingon for six
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1 weeksor — 13 weeks,but notnecessarilyknow
2 whetherit's goingto besomethingthat— amI

3 partof the treatmentgroup,sin I apartof the
4 placebogroupofthis experiment.So I think
5 that'sa little bit differentthanabusiness
6 undertakingthatwe aresystematicallysteered
7 away.
8 Now, to be sure,whenyou'efacing
9 differentialprices,thatcanhaveaneffecton

10 utilization. But thesteeringexperiments
11 themselves,I think it's sortofcritical that the
12 public didn'tknowaboutit, at leastat that
13 level, at thatdegreeofgranularity.
14 JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
15 BY MR. BLAVIN:
16 Q Now, ifpandorathreatenedtosteer
17 againsta label like Sony,would it matterwhat
18 otheroptionswereavailableto the labelto reach
19 thosesamelisteners?
20 A Yes,I think thatwe talkeda little bit
21 aboutthis before,but oneoptionopento the
22 labelpotentiallywould be to say,okay,we'e
23 goingto sponsoranothernoninteractiveserviceor
24 join forceswith anothernoninteractiveservice
25 that is goingto be in apositionnotto threaten
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Q And youneverspokewith anyoneat a
recordlabel, correct?

A Not in thecontextof this retention.

Q And also in thecourseofpreparingyour
written rebuttaltestimony,youneverspokewith
anyoneat an interactiveservice.

A I did not.

Q And youneverspokewith anyoneat a

noninteractiveservice,correct?
A That'scorrect.

Q Now, theentiretyof thematerialsyou
relieduponin preparingyourwritten rebuttal
testimonyareeitherspecificallyreferencedin
yourwrittentestimonyor listed in thematerials
relieduponlist thatyouhaveatthebackofyour
testimony,correct?

A I believeso,yes. Yes.

Q That'swhatyou testifiedto atyour
deposition.

A Yes,I believeso.

Q Let'stakea look atthatmaterials
relieduponlist. It's at theverybackofyour
testimonyat thepagesSX 19-88 through91. It
shouldbe in thatcrossbinderbehindthe tab SX
Exhibit 19, all theway at thebackof that.
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1 to steer. So thatmayalsounderminethe
2 credibility ofthesteeringthreat.
3 MR. BLAVIN: Thankyou. No further
4 questions.
5 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
6 Mr. Ebin.
7 MR. EBIN: Would you like meto start?
8 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Yes.
9 MR. EBIN: Wehavea few — justone

10 binder.
11 CROSS-EXAMINATIONBY COUNSELFOR

PANDORA
12 BY MR. EBIN:
13 Q Goodmorning,ProfessorTalley. Barely.
14 A Goodmorning,barely.
15 Q Nice to seeyou again.
16 A Nice to seeyou,Mr. Ebin.
17 Q AsI knowyouknow, I'm JacobEbin. I'm

18 representingPandoraMedia in this proceeding.I
19 would like to beginby exploringsomeofthe
20 factual foundationfor theopinionsyou offer in
21 yourwritten rebuttaltestimony.
22 In thecourseofpreparingyourwritten
23 rebuttaltestimony,youneverspokewith anyoneat
24 SoundExchange,correct?
25 A I did not.

1 A Okay,yes.
2 Q Areyouwith me?
3 Now, let'sstartwith this first section
4 herewhichyou labeledasCRB materials.
5 A Yes.
6 Q Now, you would agreewith methatonly
7 two of the list ofdocumentsin this sectionare
8 f'rom this proceeding,correct'

9 A I believethat'scorrect,yes.
10 Q Oneofthoseis theorderdismissingthe
11 petition to participateofTriton Digital?
12 A I believethat'scorrect,yes.
13 Q Theother,asyouclarifiedinthe
14 erratasheetto yourdeposition,thenotice
15 announcingcommencementof this proceeding,
16 correct?
17 A I believethat'sright, yes.
18 Q But at thetimeofyour deposition,you
19 weren'tableto identify whatthatdocumentwas,
20 wereyou?
21 A I think it was— thereferenceto it
22 wasunclear,butwe clarified— checkedand
23 clarified it, yes.
24 Q But whenyouwereaskedatyour
25 depositionwhatthatdocumentwas,you werenot
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ableto identify it.

A Someoneaskedmewhatthis documentwas
off of this list andI couldn'trememberwhich one
in particularit was.

Q Right.
And the remainderof the documents

listed in yourmaterialsrelieduponlist included
anacademicbook, someacademicarticlesand
handfulofonlinearticlesfrom TechCrunch„

Digital MusicNews,MacRumors,CNET, andTime, and
thena few statutes,andtheclosingstatement
fix)m theFTC regardingits reviewofUniversal's
acquisitionofEM; is thatright?

A Thatappearsto beright, yes.

Q So there'snotasingle item in your
materialsrelieduponlist thatwasproducedby
anyparty in this proceeding,correct?

A Well, I havereviewedthe reportsof
ProfessorsShapiroandKatz. Thosearediscussed
at length.

Q But notasingledocumentproducedas

partofthediscoveryin this proceeding.
A Well, to the extent— that'snot

necessarilythe casebecauseProfessorShapiroand
Katzhaditemsassociatedwith discoverythatI
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acolleagueofmine lookedandwe arenot ableto
identify asingleotherdocumentproducedin this
proceedingotherthanthe two thatI just
mentioned.

A So areyou — soyou'ecabiningagain,

say,theexpertreportsofProfessorShapiro,
Katz, theexperts.

Q ProfessorShapiroandtheKatz testimony
andtheMcBride testimony.

A And theappendicesto thosethatare,in

manycases,quite copious.

Q Yes,puttingto onesidethe actual
piecesoftestimonyyou reviewed,theother
discoverymaterials,theonly thing thatyou
referencein your reportarethePandora-Merlin
agreementandthe singlechartshowingthe results
ofanearlysteeringexperiment,correct?

A So I will takeyour representation.One
thingwe discussedI think in thedepositionis

therewerelatercontractsthatweremade
availablethatI alsoreviewed,theApple
contracts,thePandora-Merlinagreement.

Q You reviewedthoseApple contracts,
though,afteryourwrittenrebuttaltestimonywas
submitted.
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1 wasreviewingaswell.
2 Q Puttingto onesidetheir actual
3 testimony,there'snot a singleitem in this
4 materialsrelieduponlist thatwasproducedin
5 discoveryin thisproceeding,is there?
6 A Well, so letmebe— so in reading
7 variousdepositions—
8 Q Professor,I'm sorry, I'm just focused
9 on thematerialsrelieduponlist.

10 A I get it.
11 Q Therewasnot asingledocumentthatwas
12 producedin discoveryin this casethat'slisted
13 on this list.
14 A Inthis list,that'scorrect.
15 Q Now let's turn to thedocumentsyou
16 referencein yourwritten rebuttaltestimony.
17 Otherthantheactualwrittentestimonythat
18 you'ereviewed,theonly documentsproducedin
19 this proceedingthatyou referencearethe
20 Pandora-Merlinagreementanda singlechart
21 showingtheresultsofanearlysteering
22 experimentconductedby Pandora,correct?
23 A You know, if youwantto pointout
24 places„that'sfine.
25 Q I canrepresentto you thatI lookedand
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A That'scorrect.

Q I'm just questioningyouonwhat'sin
yourwrittenrebuttaltestimony.

A Right.

Q In preparingyourwritten rebuttal
testimony,you did notexamineanyofthe
agreementsbetweeninteractiveservicesandrecord
labels,did you?

A Onceagain,I reviewedtheotherexpert
reports,but — andto theextentthatthose
expertreportsengagedwith them,I pickedup from
thosereportsandappendedto themsomeof those
piecesof information.

Q You didn't look attheactualagreements
themselves,correct?

A I'm notsureaboutthatoneway or the
other. I'm trying — I can'trememberwhether
theywereappendedto — I haveseenthem. I'e
gonethroughmanyof them,but I can'tremember
whethertheywereat thetime I wrotethis report
appendedto ProfessorShapiro'sreportor not.

Q Let'stakea look atyourdeposition.
That'sthefirst tab in yourbinderthere.

A Sure.

Q Turntopage139.
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A All right.

Q Do you seeat line 16 — I'm sorry,I'l
give thejudgeamomentto catchup. 'I apologize
for goingtoo quickly.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.

Q Do youseeat line 16 onpage139,
question,"Haveyou lookedat theeconomicterms
ofanyofthecontractsnegotiatedbetween
interactiveservicesandrecordlabels?"

Answer,"I believeI'eseensummaries
of them. I haven',sortof, gonethroughthe
contracttermsin theway thatI havewith a
coupleofnoninteractives."

Did you givethattestimonyatyour
deposition?

A Yes,I did, butnoticetheexposureI
hadto thosewasalsothroughProfessor
Rubinfeld'sextensiveown report.

Q I believeyou thenclarifiedthatyou
lookedatsummariesoftheeconomictermsas
preparedby ProfessorRubinfeld,correct?

A The descriptionsandappendicesofhis
report.

Q Again atyour depositionyouwerenot
ableto nameasingleinteractiveserviceother

1 A I did.
2 Q You also,in yourpreparationfor your
3 written rebuttaltestimony,did not reviewthe
4 agreementsbetweeniHeartMediaandrecordlabels,
5 correct?
6 A Onceagain,I reviewedthereportof
7 ProfessorsFischelandLichtman. Therewasan

8 extensiveanalysisofthosecontracts.

9 Q Butyou didn't look atthecontracts
10 themselves,correct?
11 A I can'trememberwhethertheywere
12 appendedor not at thetime.
13 Q Andtheonlynoninteractivewebcasters
14 thatyouwereableto nameatyour deposition
15 until promptedby Mr. JosephwerePandoraand
16 iHeaitRadio,correct?
17 A I assumeif you'll so stipulate,sure.
18 Q While youdid look atthePandora-Merlin
19 agreement,you didn'tspendany time reviewingthe
20 documentsmemorializinganyofthenegotiations
21 betweenPandoraandMerlin, did you?
22 A Onceagain,I definitely cameacross
23 discussions,reportsofthem. I don'tbelieve—
24 I don'tknowwhetherI reviewedthemat the time.
25 I think, again,thesamestipulationasbefore.
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thanSpotify, correct?
A You know, I think thatI can'tremember

oneway or another.

Q We cantakea look.
A Okay.

Q Turnto page70 ofyour deposition.
This is line 11.

A All right.

Q Question,"Canyounameany interactive
webcastingservices?"Answer,"I think Spotify
is, youknow, it's gotaversion. It's gota
platformthat'san interactiveplatform."

"Canyounameanyothers?"

Answer,"I think thatthereareothers.
I think that,youknow, therearemanythathave
multiple platforms,but I didn'tdo an inventory.
I think I'e seena list of them."

Question,"As you sit heretoday,can
you nameanyotherwebcastingservicesotherthan
Spotify?"

Answer,"I think thattherewould be
others,but I wouldhaveto look to documentsthat
I wasreviewing."

Did you give thattestimonyatyour
deposition?

1 Q To savesometime.
2 A Right.
3 Q More generally,you did notreviewany
4 documentsmemorializingthenegotiationsbetween
5 recordlabelsor recordcollectivesin auy
6 streamingservices,correct?
7 A Again, samestipulation,I think.
8 Q Let'stakea look atwhatyou saidin
9 your depositionon this.

10 A Sure.
11 Q I'rn atpage288, line 5. Are youwith
12 me?
13 A Uh-hmm.
14 Q Question—
15 A Excuseme. Yes.
16 Q — from Mr. Huppert,"Did you reviewany
17 evidenceassociatedwith thenegotiations
18 surroundinganyof the agreementsthathavebeen
19 proposedasbenchmarksin thisproceeding?"
20 Mr. Choudhuryobjected.
21 Answer,"Yes, I think that,youknow,
22 certainlyI haveseendocumentsrelatedto those
23 negotiations,but I havenot takenanyappreciable
24 time, if timeatall, sortof, looking through
25 negotiationdocuments,draftsof letters,markups
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of letters,strategydocumentsandthingslike
that."

Question,"Sojust to beclear,youhave
not reviewedthosekindsofdocumentsthatyou
just listed'" Anotherobjectionfrom
Mr. Choudhury.

Answer,"Yes, so I havedefinitely, sort
of, reviewedtherecordsthatI haveseen. There
havebeensomereferenceto thosesortsof
negotiations.CertainlyI haveseensomeof those
references,but I havenot takena closeview at
negotiatingdocumentsin this case."

Is thatthe testimonyyou gave?
A Yes,but rememberthenature—

Q Is thatthedepositiontestimonyyou
gave?

A Well, I'm trying to answeryour
question,Mr. Ebin.

Q It seemslike ayesor no question.
A It is thedepositiontestimonythatI

gave,but thereis a caveat.

Q The answerto my question,then, is yes.
Your counselwill haveanopportunityto follow up
with you if he thinks it's appropriate.

Now, in your discussionwith Mr. Blavin

1

2
3

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23
24
25

affirmativesuggestedrateand,therefore,my
criticismofProfessorShapirostandsas is, yes.

Q You havenot attemptedin yourwritten
rebuttaltestimonyto calculateanyelasticityof
demandwhatsoever,haveyou?

A I will give thesameanswerI did to

your lastquestion,I wasa rebuttalexpertto
ProfessorKatz andShapirowho themselveswerenot
trying to or did notattemptto compare
elasticity,andnotwithstandingthefactthatthe
Lernerequationwasso centralto the analysisof
ProfessorShapiro. So I wasbroughtin asan
expertrebuttalwitnessandI rebuttedwhatI saw.

Q So theanswerto my questionis no, you
havenotdoneanyempiricalanalysis?

A Again, within theambitofhow I was
retainedasanexpert,I did notview thataspart
ofmy charge.

Q You havenotundertakenany
investigationof themajorrecordlabelsandhow
they'eacquiredandexercisedtheirpotential
monopolypowerso asto be in anypositionto
concludethatwhatwe observeis a "sophomoreEcon
101 perspectiveofmonopoly,"haveyou?

A Well, that'snot entirelythe case. I
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earliertoday,you discussedhowdownstream
competitionmight impactratesnegotiatedbetween
interactiveservicesandlabelsin theupstream
market. Do you recall that?

A I do.

Q You havedoneno empiricalanalysisto
ascertainwhetheraudthe degreeto whichthat
downstreamcompetitionis, in fact, impactingthe
upstreamnegotiations,haveyou?

A Canyou repeatthatquestion,sir?

Q You havedoneno empiricalanalysisto
ascertainwhetherandthedegreeto whichthat
downstreamcompetitionis, in fact, impactingthe
upstreamnegotiations,haveyou?

A So asI notedto you, I think, in the
deposition,my remit asanexpertin this caseis
asarebuttalto ProfessorShapiro. My criticism
ofhim is thathehasnotdonethat— oneofmy
criticismsis thathehasnotdonethateitherand
yetpurportsto makeclaimsaboutthemarket
structureoftheupstreammarket.

Q Justanswermy question,youhavenot
doneanyempiricalanalysis,correct?

A I havecriticizedProfessorShapirofor
not doing it himself. I havenot offeredan
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do did teachmergersandacquisitions,andthose
deals,in fact, arepartofthecannonofthat
class. So it's — so for thepurposes
specificallyfor this retention,theUniversal/EMI
closingdocumentsarepartofwhatmy listed
documentsare,so that'snot entirelytruethere
either. But it's essentiallypartofthejob of
teachingin aclasslike that, to study
acquisitions.

Q So thesolebasis&om thisproceeding
thatyou reliedon to concludewhatyou did in
your colloquywith, I believe,JudgeStrickler
earlierwastheclosingstatement&om theFTC?

A That'sincorrect,Mr. Ebin. WhatI'm

relying on, alongwith all theseotherthings,is

my experienceasanacademicandresearcherin
this field andprofessorin this field.

Q In your discussionearlierwith Judge
Strickler,youmentionedthatyouwouldwantto
knowhowmanybuyer/sellerpayers,I think your
word is dyads,actuallyavailedthemselvesof the
WebII rates,correct?

A Thatwouldbeoneofthepiecesof
informationthatwouldbe interesting.

Q Areyou awareofwhatthejudges,in
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fact, concludedon this topic in theWebIII
Remanddecision?

A I'e readtheWeb III Remanddecision.

Q Nothingcomesto mind asto whatthe
actualconclusionis?

A You might want to refreshmy memory.

Q We cantakea look at it on our lunch
break.

MR. EBIN: Actually, Your Honors,I'm

changingtopicsnow if youwould like to takea
breakfor lunchor if you'd like me to continue.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Oh, it'

lunchtime. I'm so fascinatedby all ofthis
testimony. We'l be at recessfor anhour.

(A lunch recesswastaken.)
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Q So theanswerto my questionwasyes,
correct?

A I believethe answeris yes.

Q Thenumbersyouusedfor thosefive
critical parametersarelisted in your
footnote74?

A I believeso.

Q I see.
Now, ideally,youwould like to estimate

thesefive critical parametersfrom observed
real-worlddata,correct?

A It would dependonwhatyou weregoing
to usethemall for. In my caseI wasusingthem
to critiqueProfessorsKatz andShapiro.

Q So it wasyourviewyou did notneedany
real-worlddataandit would notbeusefulat all?

A Like I said,Mr. Ebin, it would depend
on whatonewastrying to usetheunderlyingmodel
for. If it wereto pointoutwhatwasa
conceptualflaw in the reasoningofProfessors
ShapiroandKatz, thatreasoningor thatflaw
mightemergenaturallywithout doingany
calibrationatall. In somecircumstances—
that'sactuallywhathappenedhere. In some
circumstances,thequestionis morecomplexand
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1 AFTERNOONSESSIONcommencingat 1:08 p.m.
2 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Goodaiternoon.
3 Pleasebeseated.
4 You may continue,Mr. Ebin.
5 MR. EBIN: Goodafternoon.
6 BYMR. EB1N:

7 Q Goodafternoon.
8 A Goodafternoon.
9 Q Let'stalk aboutyourmodel. To run the

10 simulationsin yourwritten rebuttaltestiruony,
11 you needto comeup with nmnbersfor whatyou term
12 asthe five critical parameters;is thatcorrect?
13 A Letmebackup a little bit. Forthe
14 structuralanalysis,thereweretwo parts. There
15 wasananalyticpartandthenan illustration
16 throughthesimulation.
17 Q My questionis to run thesimulations
18 you presentedin yourwrittenrebuttaltestimony,
19 youneededto comeup with numbersfor your five
20 critical parameters,correct?
21 A Thesimulationportion, in orderto do a
22 simulation,it hasto makeanassumptionabouta
23 parametricenvironment.In my case,I madethat
24 assumptionaboutthebivariatenormalthathas
25 five parameters,correct.
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youwouldactuallyneedto do a calibrationwith a
bunchofdifferentparameters.And thenin the
extremecase,if onewereattemptingto formulate
anaffirmativerecommendationof ratesandproffer
them,thento take— theapproachthatI employed
mightbeused,but it would thenrequirea
calibration.

Q So I think youjust acknowledged,andI
think you acknowledgedearliertodayaswell, you
didn't do anyreal-worldanalysisto calibrate
yourmodel,correct?

A I guessI wouldpushbacka little bit
on real-worldanalysis. I did nottry to
calibratethemodelwith marketdata,that'
correct.

Q Soyou didn'tuseanyreal-worlddatato
calibrateyourmodel.

A Well, onceagain,I'm going to pushback
on this a little bit. The formulationofthe
bargainingframeworkwasbasedon my understanding
of therecordasit's developed.Thetheoretical
partthatmakesno distributionor assumptionsof
it in acontinuousdistributionlaysoutmostof
theconclusionsof thecrowdingout andthe
selectionbiaseffectwithout any calibrated
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parameterswhatsoever.So oneway to view the
simulationsin the text is away to distill this
down in away thatpeoplecansortofseewhat'

happeningasopposedto showingan intervaland
sayingthat it's increasingin aparticular
parameter.

Q Now, asyouput it atyourdeposition,
to run your simulationsyou simplypositedsome
numbers,correct?

A Onehasto positsomeinitial numbers.
That'strue in any— evenif onewereto go
forwardwith acalibrationexercise,thestandard
way to do that is to positsomeinitial numbers
andthenupdateit in what is essentiallyadata
fitting enterprise.

Q But you didn't do anyof thatdata
fitting enterpriseasyoujustdiscussed,correct?

A As I testifiedearlierthismorningin
my directexamination,it wasunnecessarygiven
theambitofmy rebutasanexpert,asarebuttal
expertto ProfessorsKatzandShapiro.

Q In yourmodelyou pairarandomly
selectedbuyerandarandomlyselectedseller,
correct? That'show it works?

A Not justone.
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aswell, onecanformulatedifferenttypesof
payment.And to compareapplesto apples,you
haveto do it on somebasis. So it doesthis in

the senseofper-playrates.

Q Recognizingthere'sa lot ofthingsyou
couldhavedone,whatyou representedin themodel
is thatthebuyerandsellerwouldbenegotiating
overaper-playrate,correct?

A That'soneway to expressaprice,but,
remember,if thereare— I mean,anotherway is

the aggregatedamountofmoneythat'sgoing to be

paid. So, functionally,yes,this is — this is a
suflicientway to describethosesimulations,but
thebargainingenvironmentis moregeneralthan
that.

Q Now, the endresultof this hypothetical
negotiationbetweenthis randomlypluckedbuyer
andrandomlypluckedselleris eitherthata deal
is struck,andthat'sdictatedby the five
critical parametersin yoursimulation,or there'

no deal,correct?
A Not quite. Whetheradealis struckis

goingto bedeterminedby whetherthebuyer'
willingnessto payexceedstheseller'

willingnessto accept
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1 Q Eachdrawis — in yoursimulationyou
2 pairmany,manyrandomselectedbuyer,but in each
3 instanceof thedrawthereis onerandombuyerand
4 onerandomsellerpulled, correct?
5 A So thebuyersndselleraredrawn&om
6 this distribution,andthatcouldbe in the
7 generalcaseaswell, andin thebivariatenormal
8 simulationsthatareusedto illustratethemore
9 generalargument,theyaredrawn5oma

10 distributionthathassome— potentially,they
11 havesomecorrelation,butyes,theyareplucked
12 outofthis distributionasapair, andthey'e
13 randomlydistributedaround.
14 Q And thatbuyerandthatsellerthen
15 negotiateoversomething?I thinkyouused— in
16 yourdeposition,at least,you referredto it asa
17 per-playrate.
18 A Well, therate— thereare
19 essentially— I think in my depositionI usedthe
20 bundlesof rightsthatarebeingsold. I think,
21 in fact, maybeevenin my discussionwith you in
22 my depositionthis couldhavemultiple features
23 associatedwith it. A pricewould eventually
24 emergeandthemodelexpressesthemin termsof
25 per-playrates,but, ashashappenedin this case
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Q Isn'tthatdictatedby thefive critical
parameters?

A It is notdictated. Thoseparametersin
thesimulations,again,that illustratethemore
generalargument,areessentiallyprobabilistic
parameters.So there'saprobabilitythat is
dictatedby thatdistributionthatthebuyermay
valuemorethanthe seller,aprobabilitythatthe
buyerdoesn'tvaluemorethanthesellerand
there'sno dealto behadthere. So that'sthe
natureoftheenterprise.

So it is true to saythattheparameters
in thesimulationportionofmy analysishelps
shapewhattypesofdyadswe arelikely to draw
outof thepopulation. Theydo not foreordain
whetherthere'sa dealto behadornot. That'

essentiallyadeliberatelydesigned-in
randomizationprocess.

Q Therearen'tanyotherparametersother
thanthesefive critical onesthatareentering
into yourmodel,correct?

A That'sincorrect. In fact, thegeneral
modelat theenddoesnot use—

Q I'm sorry, I'm just referringto your
simulations.
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A That'snot themodel,thesimulations?

Q Thesimulations.
A I see. So thesimulationsarebasedon

a bivariatenormaldistribution,which is fully
definedby five parameters.

Q Now, theoutcomeofthenegotiations
betweenagivenbuyer-sellerpair, or dyad,as
predictedin yoursimulations,is not impactedin
anyway by prior or subsequentnegotiations
betweenanotherbuyer-sellerpair, is it?

A Well, thesebuyer-sellerpairsaredrawn
out independently,andoneway to view it is
they'edrawnout, you know, sortofall atthe
sametime, andthey'enegotiatingwith one
another. So theymayhaveconjecturesaboutwhat
contractsarebeingreachedelsewhereandthatcan
inform thewillingnessto payor willingnessto
acceptof thebuyerandseller.

Q So let'stakea look atyourdeposition
to seewhatyou saidwhenI askedyou that
questiona fewweeksago. If you couldturn to
page160, line 24.

A I'm there.

Q I'm justgiving thejudgesamomentto
getthereaswell.

1 aboutthis. It's not inconsistentwith whatI
2 justsaid.
3 Q I didn't askyou thatquestion. I just
4 asked,is this thetestimonythatyou gaveatyour
5 deposition?
6 A I understand,but thecontextin which
7 weweremaking— havingthis discussionis one
8 way thatthemodelcanplay out. So let me— I'm

9 goingto try to answerthis.
10 MR. EBIN: Your Honors,if I couldjust
11 getan instructionfor thewitnessto answerthe
12 question.
13 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Dr. Talley, it's a
14 yesor no question.
15 A So that is acorrectreadingofthe
16 transcriptatthedeposition.
17 Q Thankyou. Andyoursimulationsalsodo
18 not accountfor thepossibilitythata rate
19 negotiatedbetweenabuyerandsellermightbe
20 usedin a future CRB proceedingasabenchmark,
21 correct?
22 A Well, wehadadiscussionaboutthis.
23 My assessmentwasthat if therewereasufIicient
24 numberof these,that it wasn'tclearthatthat
25 neededto beworkedinto themodeL
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JUDGESTRI~: Thankyou.

Q Now, at thebottomof 160 at line 24, I
askedyou the following question,"So arate
negotiatedby onedyadwill haveno effecton the
ratethat'sultimatelynegotiatedby anyother
dyad; is thatright?" Mr. Choudhuryobjected,
"You meanwithin themodel?" To Mr. Choudhury,I
responded,"Within themodel." Thenyouanswered,
"Yeah. Sowithin themodel,theratethat'
negotiatedis, you know, essentiallyoutofthese
independentpairingsofbuyersandsellersand
thatthereis notmodeledinto this, althoughI
think it probablycouldbe adaptedto do this, I
guess,apricing externalityassociatedwith the
price thatwe reachsomehowaffectsthevaluation
of theotherpeoplehavein thattransaction.It
would bepossibleto work that in. It wouldbe
somewhatmorecomplicated,butasimulation
environmentcertainlycoulddo that."

Is thatthetestimonythatyougave?
A Well, it dependson theunderstandingof

the context. So I—

Q Is thatthetestimonythatyou gaveat
your deposition?

A Well, let memakesurethatI'm clear

1 Q But it's notsomethingthatyou'e
2 workedin yourmodel,correct?
3 A Yes, I think therearereasonsnotto,
4 though. It woulddependon thecontext.
5 Q But, again,you didn'tdo that,correct.
6 A It's notworkedin themodel,right.
7 Q Thankyou.
8 Let'sturnto ahypothetical.
9 A Sure.

10 Q Suppose— andthis will be avariation
11 on someofthedemonstrativesyouwalkedthrough
12 with Mr. Blavin earlierthis morning. Supposeall
13 of thebuyersin my hypotheticalhavea
14 willingnessto payofup to 15 cents. I'm just
15 going to usethe shorthand"15" sowe canavoid
16 zerosanddecimalpoints, .0015dollars,but I'l
17 justsay15 centsfor presentpurposes.
18 A So let memakesurethatI understand
19 thehypothetical. So areyou sayingthat
20 15 cents— I'm goingto useyoursame,I don'

21 know,multiplicationby ahundred,I guess.
22 Q Fairenough.
23 A — thatthat is theupperboundof
24 buyers'illingnessto pay?
25 Q Yes.

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day22 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-27-2015

6107 6109

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23
24
25

A But there'sadistributionof
willingnessto pay in there? Is thata ceiling, I
guess?

Q All ofbuyershaveawillingnessto pay
at 15 cents.

A So buyersarenot heterogeneous.

Q Exactly.
A So buyersareall identicalin your

setting.

Q In theirwillingnessto pay.
A Okay.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I justwantto make
sureofyourhypothetical.Did you sayall buyers
haveawillingnessto payup of to 15 cents—

MR. EBIN: Yes.
JUDGESTRICKLER: — or of 15 cents?
MR. EBIN: I understood,basedon my

conversationwith ProfessorTalley athis
depositionthat, in his view, thosewerethe same
thing.

THE WITNESS: No, that'snotmy
understanding.That'swhy I wasconfusedaswell.
Whenyou say"up to," thatsoundslike it's a
rangeandtheremight besomedistributionsor
heterogeneitywithin thatrange.
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A Correct.

Q All within therangeofwillingnessto

payandor willingnessto accept.
A So I'm goingto recapitulatethisjust

so thatI canfollow yourhypothetical. Sowe
havetheseidenticalbuyersat 15 centswilling to

pay, identicalsellersat 5 centswilling to pay.
Butwhentheynegotiatewith oneanother,thereis

heterogeneityofbargainingpower—

Q Exactly.
A — so theysplit thepie at different

points. And somecontractsendup as low as7 and
ahalf, is thatwhatyou said?

Q That'scorrect.
A And ashighas?

Q 12 andahalf.
A 12 andahalf.

And do youhaveaparticular
distributionin mindon that—

Q Forpurposesof thehypothetical,I
don'tthink it makesanydifference.

A Okay.

Q If it does,I'm sureyou'l letmeknow.
A I suspectI wilL

Q Justto be clear,in this hypothetical,
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Q Let'ssimplify things. We'l justsay
of 15 cents.

A Exactly 15 cents,sono buyer
heterogeneity.

Q And all sellershaveawillingnessto
payof 5 cents— sorry— willingnessto accept
of 5 cents.

A Of5 cents.

Q Yes.
A And there'sno heterogeneity.

Q Correct,all buyersandall sellersare
thesamein this hypothetical.

A At leaston this dimension,the
willingnessto payandwillingnessto accept,all
buyersareidenticalandall sellersare
identicaL Is thatwhatI understandyou—

Q Yes, it soundslike you'ewith meso
far.

A Okay.

Q Now let's furtherassumethatthereare
differencesin thebargainingpowerofthebuyers
andsellerssuchthatthenegotiatedrateswe
would seerangeanywherefrom 7 andahalfcents
on the low endto ashighas12 andahalfcents
on thehigh end.
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thesearetheratesthatwe seein theabsenceof
astatutorylicense.

A I think I follow you, yes.

Q Good.
Now, let's imposeastatutorylicenseof

14 cents.
A I follow you, yes.

Q With meso far.
So accordingto yourmodel,everysingle

oneofthenegotiatedtransactionsthatwouldhave
beenenteredinto in theabsenceofthatstatutory
rateofbetween7 andahalfcentson the low end
and12 anda halfcentson thehighendwill all
nowall bepulledup to that14-centstatutory
rate,correct?

A Well, two thingswill happen.Oneis
thattheywill bepulledup to — it's 14 cents
thatyou posited?

Q 14 cents.
A — thatthebuyer'swillingnessto pay

exceeds14 centsand,therefore,it becomescommon
knowledgethatthebuyerwouldbewilling to buy
at 14 cents. Thesellerwouldknowthis andwould
say,well, look, I can— anyofthosesellers
between7 andahalfcentsand 12 andahalfcents
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would sayI cangeta betterdealby justnot
bargaining. So,A, you'ecorrectthatthose
dealswould getpulledup to 14 cents,but, B,
theywould alsono longerbeconsensualdeals.

Q So theanswerto my questionwas,yes,
theywouldall getpulled up to 14 cents,correct?

A Thatis a roundaboutwayofsayingyes.

Q Thankyou.
So I takeit, then,thatyou would agree

thatwhetherandtheextentto whichastatutory
licenseeitherpulls up or pulls downnegotiated
ratesto thestatutorylevel in yourmodelis
dependenton the level atwhich thatstatutory
rate is set,correct?

A I, unfortunately,wouldnotagree,and
that'swhy I askedyou thequestionofnegotiated
rates. Soyou'ejustgivenmeanexamplein
which therewereabevyofnegotiatedrates. They
all disappearedandtumedinto non-negotiated
rates. So I think the answer—

Q Let measkmy questionagainbecauseI
don'tthink you'eansweredit. I'l try it
again.

A I think I answeredthequestionthatyou
asked.
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CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Beforewe leave

there,soyouhavenegotiateddeals,andthe
seller'swillingnessto acceptis at 5, they
negotiatedatno lessthan7 andahalf. Why
would theynotjump ata 14-centrate?

THE WITNESS: Well, thesellersin this
instancearegoing to jump ata 14-centrate. The
strategicissueis this. It's thebuyer'soption
whetherto pay that14-centrateor negotiate.So
the sellerinitially is thinking, wow, I would
love to geta 14-centrate,but it's notup to me.
Thebuyer'sgotto opt into this 14-centrate.
And oneofthephenomenonin thestructuralmodel,
Mr. Ebinhasgivenanexamplewherethere'

essentiallyno buyeror sellerheterogeneity,in
whichthesellermight think, okay, I cangetthis
9-centprice,but I knowthatI'm bargaining
againstthebuyer,who is goingto bewilling to
pay the statutoryrate. So maybeI'l just refuse
to bargainandlet this dealgo off at a
non-negotiatedprice.

That'sessentiallythedynamicthatI
workedthroughwith Mr. Blavin this morningas
well asanotherexample,I think, ofwhatMr. Ebin
is askingmenow.
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Q Let metry again,seeif westill have
somemisunderstanding.

Soyouwould agreethatwhetherandthe
extentto which the statutorylicenseeitherpulls
up or pulls downotherwisenegotiateddealsto the
statutorylevel is dependenton the level atwhich
thatstatutoryrate is set?

A Okay, soyouhavenowdroppedtheword
"negotiated"outof thequestion,I think, so,
yes,in this particularexample,it's anexample
wheretheratesthatemergeareall non-negotiated
andtheywouldbepulledup fromnegotiatedrates
to non-negotiatedrates. This is, essentially,I
thinkwhenMr. Blavin wastakingmethroughmy
direct, there'sacrowdingdownandacrowdingup,
andyou'egivenmeahypotheticalin whichno
one'sabovethestatutoryrate.

Q Right, there'sjust a crowdingup, if
you will, ratherthancrowdingdown in this
hypothetical.

A Right, andif you'elocatedthis
hypotheticalby assumingtheperfectknowledgeand
no heterogeneityandvaluationofbuyers.

Q So let's leavemy hypotheticalandturn
backto themodeL
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CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Okay,thanks.
THE WITNESS: Sure.

BY MR. EB1N:

Q In theansweryoujustgave,you seemto
besuggestingthat it's entirelyup to thebuyer
asto whetherthe dealwould be struck— whether
therewould be anegotiationor whetherwe'ljust
endup atthestatutoryrate. In fact, it's the
case,is it not, thatthesellercansimply say,
I'm notgoingto talk to you, I'm justgoingto-
if you'egoingto usemy stuff, it's going to be
at the statutoryrate,correct?

A That'spossible,yes.

Q Sonow leavingthehypothetical,unless
Your Honorshaveanymorequestions.

Now, accordingto yourmodel,whenever
there'sadealthat is actuallyenteredinto
betweenastatutorywebcasteranda recordlabel
in theshadowofthestatutorylicense,thatexact
sametransactionwould takeplacein theabsence
ofthestatutorylicense,correct?

A So I think — I'm goingto try to
respondto yourquestionby—

Q Please.
A So if therewerea dealthat is still a
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negotiateddeal—

Q NegotiateddeaL

A — thattakesplacein the shadowof the
statutorylicense,thenthatdealwould be a deal
thatyou might still seeif thosesamepair was
pluckedout underanon- — in aworld without the
statutoiylicense.

Q So for thattransaction,accordingto
your model,the statutoiyratehasno impacton
thenegotiateddeal,correct?

A It has— it endsup beingabovethe
maximumwillingnessto payof the buyer. So
similar — think aboutaworld — oneway to think
aboutthis„Mr. Ebin, is supposethe statutory
rate—

Q I'm sony,ProfessorTalley, this is a

yesor no question.
A Now I can'trememberwhat—

Q For thattransaction,accordingto your
model,the statutoryratehasno impacton the
negotiateddeal,conect?

A If it's abovethehighestconceivable
valuationnumber,it would not have,right.

Q So applyingyour model, then, to the
Pandora-Merlindeal,your model,therefore,would
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A I did not.

Q One lasttopic. At the time ofyour
deposition,it wasyourview thatrecordlabels
would likely want to licensetheirworks to
Pandorabecause,with its large listenerbase,
Pandoracanhelp that label reachlots of
differentpotentiallisteners,correct?

A I assumeyou'ereadingsomethingfi.om a

transcript„soI will—

Q Doesthat soundright to you?
A It might, yes. I possiblysaid that,

yes.

Q We cantakea look if you like.
A I'l acceptyour stipulation.

Q It wasalsoyourview at the time of
your depositionthatthis enhancedexposure
providedby Pandoraandothernoninteractive
webcasterswill likely leadto increasedsalesof
downloadsandCDs, correct?

A It could,yes.
MR. EBIN: Thankyou. No further

questions.
MR. JOSEPH:No questions,Your Honor.
MR. MILLER: No questions,Your Honor.
MR. TOOF: No questions,Your Honor.
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imply thatPandoraandMerlin would havereached
exactlythe samedealtermsin the absenceof the
statutorylicenseasthey did in its presence,
correct?

A It's possible. I knowPandorahasput
forward theviewthatthis is a-thatthe deal
termshereare lessthanthepureplayrate. One
otherpossibility, sincethereareother
accoutrementsof thePandora-Merlindeal„ is that
it's functionally the equivalentof theper-play
rate,but, you know, dueto otheraspectsof the
pricing behavior,theper-playpartgot washed
downwhile otherparts„ like guaranteesand
steering,endedup makingup the difference.

So it's possiblethat theMerlin dealis
right — is functionally right at thepureplay
rate,but it is alsopossiblethat it is oneof
thesethat'sbelow.

Q Whetheror not theMerlin deal is
functionally, asyou put it, at theper-playrate,
that'snot somethingyou investigatedor discussed
in yourwritten rebuttaltestimony,it is?

A It couldgo eitherway.

Q You did no quantificationof that, did
you?
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MR. BLAVIN: Brief redirect,Your Honor.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Yes.

REDIRECTEXAMINATION BY COUNSELFOR
SOUNDEX CHANGE

BY MR. BLAVIN:

Q ProfessorTalley, if we canturn backto
your depositiontranscript,page161 — 160,

line 24, through161, line 14, you saidthatyou
werejust going to — whenyou werehavingthe
back-and-forthwith Mr. Ebin, you notedthatyou
hadfiuther contextto providewith respectto
thatanswer. Would you mindprovidingthat?

A So you'e— excuseme,whatpages
again?

Q Sorry,page160.

A Oh, yes.

Q I believethe questionwas— beginsat
line 24.

A Yes. Right. Oh, yes,yes. Thanks.
So here'sthe deal. So I believe

Mr. Ebin hadaskedwhetherthe termsof contracts
reachedby partieswould haveanyeffecton other
contractsreachedby parties. And whatI was
going to add,but didn'thavetheopportunityto,
is thatoneway thatthis modelcanbeviewed,
thesepartiesareessentially— they'ie
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negotiatingoneon one,but theymayhavean
understandingor a conjecture,anequilibrium
conjectureaboutthe contractsthatarebeing
enteredinto economy-wide.Thatconjecturewould,
in fact, haveaneffecton theirwillingnessto

payor willingnessto accept.
So thenatureofcontractual

attractivenesscertainlycouldaffectthecontract
statusthatthesepartieswork out simply because
it getsbakedinto theirwillingnessto paymore
thanis acceptable.

Q Thankyou for that.
Now, with respectto themodelthatwe

wentoverbefore,in which therewasa rangeof
ratesandthenthe impositionofthestatutory
rate,now, for that initial rangeof rates,were
thoseratesnegotiatedin thebackdropofan
existingstatutoryratewhentheywerecharted
throughyoursimulations?

A No.

Q And thePandora-Merlinagreement,to
yourunderstanding,wasnegotiatedin thebackdrop
of thestatutoryandpureplayrates;is that
correct?

A My understandingis thatthePandoraand
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MR. LARSON: May I proceed?
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: You may.

DIRECTEXAMINATION BY COUNSELFOR
PANDORA
BY MR. LARSON:

Q Couldyou stateyour full namefor the
record,please.

A My nameis SimonFleming-Wood.

Q Couldyou spell the lastnamefor us,
please.

A F-L-E-M-I-N-G hyphenW-O-O-D.

Q Thankyou.
Mr. Fleming-Wood,couldyouplease

briefly describeyourbackground,educationaland
work backgroundprior to joining Pandora.

A Certainly. I graduated&om Stanford
University in 1991 with abachelor'sin political
science.Sincethen,I'ehelda seriesof
ever-more-seniormarketingroles. BeforePandora,
I wasthevicepresidentofmarketingofacompany
calledPureDigital Technologies,which madethe
Flip Video Camera,whichwassold to Cisco. I
spentabouttwo yearsat Ciscorunningmarketing
for their consumergroup.

Q Whendid youjoin Pandora?
A In Octoberof2011.
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25 havingbeenduly sworn,testifiedasfollows:

1 Merlin dealwas,in fact, negotiatedin the
2 backdropofthepureplayrates.
3 MR. BLAVIN: Thankyou. No further
4 questions.
5 MR. EBIN: Nothing further.
6 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou,
7 Dr. Talley.
8 Any otherquestionsfrom thejudges?
9 Thankyou, Dr. Talley.

10 THE WITNESS: Thankyou.
11 (Witnessexcused.)
12 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Mr. Pomerantz,I
13 think, werethosetwo witnessestakenout of
14 order,then?
15 MR. POMERANTZ: Correct. Nowwe'e
16 goingto go backandhavethreeoftheirs,I
17 think. Thenthat',for now, theendoftheir
18 case.
19 MR. RICH: Your Honor,ournextwitness
20 will be, for Pandora,SimonFleming-Wood,and
21 Mr. Larsonwill beconductingtheexamination.
22 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
23
24 SIMON FLEMING-WOOD,
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Q Whatis yourjob title atPandora?
A Chiefmarketingofficer.

Q That'sthepositionyou'ehadsince
you—

A My feetdon'ttouchtheground. Someone
wastallerthanme,apparently.

Q Soyou'ebeenthechiefmarketing
officer sinceyoujoined in 2011?

A Yes.

Q Whatareyourjob responsibilitiesas
Pandora'schiefmarketingofficer?

A I runmultiple teamsatPandora.I have
responsibilityfor brandandanalyticmarketing.
I haveresponsibilityfor businessdevelopmentas
well asthe communicationsin thePRfunction,as
well asthePandoraOnesubscriptionbusiness.

Q Doesyourjob involve analysesofother
musicservicesthatoperatein themarketalong
with Pandora?

A It does.

Q Whatsortofanalysesofothermarket
participantsdoesyour teamconduct?

A We takeit uponourselvesto understand
the landscapeofmusicservicesavailableto
consumers.We feel like we'ein avery, sortof,
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loud space.There'salwaysa lot ofnews.
Pandorais oftenmentionedin storiesaboutother
services. So we feel like it's incumbentuponus
to understandtheperceptionsabouttheseservices
in themarketplace.

Q Now,your testimonyin paragraph3
describesmarketinganalyticsaspart— as
falling underyourpurview. Couldyoujust
explainwhatthatmeanswith respectto your
competition.

A Yes. Soweunderstand— weseekto
understandtheusersof the othermusicservices
in the landscape.We seekto understandhowmany
userstheyhave,whattheirperformanceis in the
appstores,so thatwe cankeeptrackofhow
they'edoing.

Q Is someofthatwork in thenatureof
surveysandquantitativeresearchandthatsortof
thing?

A Yes, qualitativeandquantitative
research.

Q Did youpreparewritten directtestimony
in connectionwith thisproceeding?

A I did.

Q So there'sabinderin front ofyou. If

1 MR. KLAUS: No objectionon 5003 and
2 5006,Your Honor. 5004 is a portionofadocument
3 wherethereis anexhibitnumberfor the full
4 document.Wewould objecton completenessgrounds
5 andaskthattheentiretyoftheexhibit be — the
6 entiretyofthedocumentbe admitted.
7 MR. LARSON: That'sacceptableto
8 Pandora.
9 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Canwe

10 cross-referencewhattheoriginalexhibitnumber
11 was?
12 MR. KLAUS: Yes,theoriginal exhibit
13 numberthat-
14 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Or the other,
15 MR. KLAUS: Theother— theotherthat
16 correspondsto 5004 is SoundExchangeExhibit 1679.
17 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: And thathasbeen
18 admitted?
19 MR. KLAUS; It hasnot beenadmitted.
20 We weregoing to seekto admitit, but if
21 Mr. Larsonis happyto do so, thenI think we can
22 haveagreementon that,
23 MR. LARSON: Yes.
24 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
25 Exhibit 1679 is admitted.
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1 you could takea look atwhat'sbeenmarkedasthe
2 tabPanEx 5002. Do youseethat?
3 A I do.
4 Q Do you recognizethatasyourwritten
5 directtestimonyin this case?
6 A Yes.
7 Q Your signatureis on the lastpageof
8 this document?
9 A Yes.

10 MR. LARSON: YourHonor, I wouldoffer
11 Pandora5002 into evidence.
12 MR. KLAUS: No objection.
13 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: 5002is admitted.
14 (PandoraExhibit 5002wasadmittedinto
15 evidence.)
16 BY MR. LARSON:
17 Q ThenI would alsomove— if you could
18 look at tab5003,4, and6. Actually, I'l note
19 that3 and6 arevideosthatareon a disc that'
20 tuckedinsidethe first insidesleeve.Are
21 Exhibits5003,5004,and5006 — werethose
22 appendedexhibitsto yourwrittentestimony?
23 A Yes, theywere.
24 MR. LARSON: I would offer thosethree
25 exhibits into evidence.
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I (SoundExchsngeExhibit 1679was
2 admittedinto evidence.)
3 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: And for purposes
4 of referringto thedocumentduring the
5 examinationofMr. Fleming-Wood,Mr. Klaus,
6 there'sno objectionto us looking atthesefew
7 pages?
8 MR. KLAUS: No.
9 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: You'ewelcometo

10 usetheentiredocumentfor cross-examination.
11 MR. KLAUS: Sure.
12 BY MR. LARSON:
13 Q SoMr. Fleming-Wood,let'sturn to the
14 first substantivetopic in your testimony,which
15 is identifiedasthePandoralisteningexperience.
16 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Beforethat, let
17 memakesurethat5003 and5006areadmittedand
18 5004 is admittedin thebodyof 1679.
19 (PandoraExhibits 5003,5004,and5006
20 wereadmittedinto evidence.)
21 BY MR. LARSON:
22 Q So is Exhibit 5003,Mr. Fleming-Wood,a
23 videoshowingthebasicPandorafunctionality?
24 A Yes, it is.
25 Q Althoughwe arefour andahalfweeks
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into our trial here,I think we'l spenda few
minutestaking a look at thatvideonow, if we
could.

(Video playedasfollows:)
"How to listento Pandora.Pandora

InternetRadiocanbe accessedfrom all kindsof
personalcomputers,mobilephonesandtablets,and
eventhroughone'scar."

"Pandora,pleasesaya command."
"Play stationMichaelZapruderRadio."
"Tuning to stationMichaelZapruder

Radio."

(Music playing.)
"Simple tasks,all voice-activated."
"Listenerscanlistento Pandoraon

theircomputersby simply openingan Internet
browserandtypingwww.Pandora.corn.Thosewishing
to listento Pandoraontheirmobilephonecan
downloadandinstall the appfi'ee from the iTunes
Storeor theAndroidmarketplace.Bachfirst-time
useris promptedto createaPandoraaccountby
providingtheire-mail,birth year,ZIP Code,
gender,andcreatingapersonalpassword.

"Listenersarethenpromptedto seeda
stationby typing thenameofanartist,song,or
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likely to enjoy.
"Take, for example,the little-known

bandOrion theHunter,which featuredmusicians
formerly associatedwith theverypopularband
Bostonandsharedmusicalsimilaritieswith
anothersuccessfulband,Journey,especiallythe
high-flying vocalsofOrion theHuntersingerFran
Cosmo"—

(Music playing.)
— "andJourneysingerStevePerry."

(Musicplaying.)
"Thanksto theMusic GenomeProject's

ability to identify thesesimilarities,thousands
ofPandoralisteners,who mayhaveneverheardof
Orion theHunter,havebeenorganicallyintroduced
to songsfrom Orion theHunterthattheymay
enjoy.

"In additionto giving songsa thumbsup
or down, listenerscanpersonalizetheirexisting
seditiousby clicking theAdd Variety buttonand
thentyping thenamesofotherartistsor songs
they like.

"Becausemusicis oftenashared
experience,Pandoralistenerscansharetheir
stationswith others. Forexample,listenerscan
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musicalgenretheywish to hear. Whenready,
Pandora'sproprietymusicrecommendationengine,
theMusic GenomeProject,will automaticallybegin
streamingapersonalizedradiostationconsisting
ofsongswith relevantmusicalsimilaritiesto the
seed.

"Listenerscanclick buttons
representingathumbsup or athumbsdownto
signify whetherthey like or dislike eachsong
chosenfor them,andtheirPandorastationwill
learnandfactortheseratingswhenmakingfuture
songselections.Listenersdo nothaveto thumbs
up or thumbsdownsongs.Pandora'sMusic Genome
Projectwill continueto streammusicallyrelated
songswithoutany input from the listener.

"When available,Pandoradisplays
biographicalinformationaboutaperformeraswell
asa list ofsimilarartiststhat listenersmay
enjoyandthesong'slyrics. Banneradvertising
is displayedandaudioadvertisingis interspersed
betweensongswithin themusicstream.Because
Pandora'smusicologistsreviewsongsthatgo into
theMusic Genome,Pandorais ableto use
musicologicalsimilaritiesto play newmusicor
songsby lesserknownartiststhat listenersare

10

11

12

13

14

click theOptionsbuttonandmaketheirstations
visible to otherlisteners,find otherlisteners
who like thesamemusic,or associatetheir
Pandoraaccountwith theirFacebookaccountand
sharethingssuchaswhatstationtheyare
listeningto or whatsongtheythumbedup.

"Listenersmayalsopausesongsthey'e
listeningto andskip aheadto thenextsongbut
maynotskip morethansix songsperstationper
houror 12 songsin a 24-hourperiod.

"Listenersmayalsoclick on theNew
Stationbuttonto createadditionalpersonalized
radio stationsbasedon othersongs,artists,or
musicalgenres.With thesesimpletools,

22
23
24
25

howPandoraworks?
A It is, with oneexception.

Q And whatwastheexception'?

A Thatthe daily skip limit is 24 andnot

15 consumerscanputPandora'sMusic GenomeProject
16 to work for themandcreatepersonalizedradio
17 stations."
18 (Eudofplayingofvideo.)
19 BY MR. LARSON:
20 Q SoMr. Fleming-Wood,is thevideowe
21 justwatchedconsistentwith yourunderstandingof
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12.

Q Thankyou.
CanthePandorauserpick thesongheor

shewill hearonPandora?
A No.

Q DoesthePandorauserknowwhatsongis

going to play next?
A No, notuntil it starts.

Q So oncea stationis seededandplaying,
howaresubsequentsongs,at abasiclevel, chosen

by Pandora?
A So, asthevideoportrayed,theMusic

GenomeProjectis our, sortof, underlying
technologyfor recommendingsongs.

Q Again,we'eheardagoodbit aboutthe
GenomeProjectduringthe courseofthetrial, but
couldyou give us a couplesentencesexplaining
whatthat is, on abasiclevel.

A Sure.
So theMusic GenomeProjectis this

laborof love thatstartedactuallysix years
beforePandoraeverlaunchedofcollecting,sort
of, musicalDNA level millions of— well, atthe
time, thousandsofsongs,now overamillion
songs,anddissectingit into asmanyof450
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competingto choosethenextsongthatplaysfor
Pandora.

And so thepersonalizationitself is
actuallyunderthehoodpersonalizedbecausethe
winning algorithmsfor memight bedifferentthan
thewinning algorithmsfor you. In fact, they
mightbedifferenton differentstations. So the
personalizationofPandorais sortof the
multilayered,but, essentially,those50

algorithmsareall nominatingthenextsongto

play for that listenerbasedonmultiple
approaches.

Q Sodoesthatmeanthatthealgorithms
identify asinglesongthatshouldbeplayednext
or agroupofpossiblesongsto playnext?

A Soeachofthealgorithmsis nominating
its own song,right? And thenamasteralgorithm
sortofsitson top of it andchooseswho getsto
win, butthat'sthegeneralframework.

Q Thevideoshowedthumbsup andthumbs
down. Whatways,otherthanthumbingup and
thumbingdown,canauserinfluencewhatsongs
theyhearonPandora?

A Reallyonly by skipping,but thumbsup
audthumbsdownarethemajorwaysthatPandora
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difFerentattributes.
So in thecaseofthevocalperformance,

thereareasmanyas20 differentattributes
describingthatvocalperformance.It's doneby
professionalmusicologistsandmusicianswho are
all highly trainedandexpert. So thatdatabase
thenbecomesthesortofbackbonefor making— I
think of it ahnostlike aconstellationofendless
stars,but in this caseit's songsandmusical
attributes,for makingconnectionsin a
multidimensionaluniversebetweensongs.

Q Your testimonyatparagraph17 also
mentionsplaylistalgorithmsthatPandorauses
alongwith the GenomeProject. Couldyoujust
explainwhatyoumeanby that, thoseplaylist
algorithms.

A So in additionto that,sortof,
foundationofmusicologicalDNA-level dataon
songs,Pandorahasbuilt overtheyearsdozensof
algorithmsusingboththatdataaswell asthumb
dataandotherfeedbackfrom listenersto
determinethebestsongto play for any individual
listeneron any individual station. At anygiven
momentonPandora,thereareasmanyas50
differentalgorithmsrunning,so essentially

1 collectsfeedback.
2 Q DoesaPandorauserhaveto usethe
3 thumbs?
4 A No, theydon'.
5 Q Do you havedataon to theextentto
6 whichtheydo or don'?
7 A Yes. Justover50 percentofPandora
8 monthlyuserswould thumb. So almost50 percent
9 wouldnot.

10 Q Do Pandorausershavethe ability to
11 rewindor fast-forwardor replaysongs?
12 A No.
13 Q More generally,howdoesthePandora
14 listeningexperiencecompareto whatauser
15 experienceswith anon-demandservicelike Spotify
16 or Rhapsody?
17 A Sure. Well, Pandorais a radio
18 experience.
19 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Wouldyoupull the
20 micjusta little closer.
21 THE WITNESS: Yes. I'm sorry.
22 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
23 A SoPandorais aradio experiencewhere
24 theuserdoesn'tknowwhatsongis goingto play
25 for themnext. It's programmedby theservice.
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Theyhaveno control overwhatplaysnext, and
theydon'tknow it until it beginsplayingfor
them.

On-demandservices,by theirnature,are
controlledby theuser. Theusercanselect
eithertheplaylist, they canbuild theplaylist,
theycanchoosetheexactsongin mostcases.And
that'ssomethingthatsomebodygoesinto with the
intentionofwantingto hearsomethingvery
specific. Pandorais somethingthatwe referto
as lean-backlistening,wherepeoplego in wanting
a radio-likeexperiencewheretheywantmusic
playedfor them.

Q Haveyou seentherebuttaltestimonyof
Mr. Kookerfrom Sony?

A I have.

Q You understandthathe claimsthat
Pandorastationsseededwith aparticularartist
alwaysplay thatartist first?

A I haveseenthat.

Q What'syour reactionto Mr. Kooker's
testimonyon thatpoint?

A I don'tthink it's overlyvalid. It'

verysimplistic, andwe couldhavetold him, could
havesavedhim sometime, I think, by explaining
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complementfor soundrecordings,andthat'sfor
songsby aseedartistoveraperiodofthree
hours.

Q HasthePandorainterfacechangedin any
materialway sincetheproductwas launchedin
2005?

A No, themajorsortof thrustofPandora,
theengineeringandproductteam,sincethe
productlaunch,wasexpandingit to other
platforms. Sowhereasit startedon thedesktop,
it is todayonover1,000consumerelectronic
devices. It's oneveiysignificantmobile
smartphoneplatform. And, obviously,it's in a
lot ofcarsaswell, over 160 cars.

Q But hasthe— recognizing,I thinkyou
describedthat in your testimony,that it'

availablein newplaces,hasthebasic
functionalityof the servicechangedasit'

expandedto thosenewlocations?
A No. We'eaddedsomeancillarythings

like bios and,in somecases,lyrics. But, no,
themajor functionalityofPandorahasnot changed
dramaticallyat all.

Q Let'sshift gearsslightly andtalk
aboutthecompetitivelandscapein whichyou
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thatanynewlisteneronPandorastartinganew
station,thewaythatthevideo evenshowedit, is
thatthe first time you play anartist in anew
station,it will play a songthatrepresents
musicologicallythework from thatartistsndfrom
thenit will build theplaylist. That'sjust the
way thatserviceis built.

Q You mentionedthefirst time. Doesthat
experiencechangewhenusersreturnto astation
thatthey'epreviouslyseededor created?

A Yes, it can. It can. So I often,onmy
stations,don'thear— in fact, I wouldsay
probablythemajority of time do nothear,because
I'm a longtimePandoralistener,theartiston the
station,unlessI haven'tlistenedto it for a
long time, thenPandorawill try andplay that
seedartist,but if it's a stationthatyou
listenedto yesterday,Pandorais unlikely to play
thatartistfirst.

Q WhenPandorausersseedanartist
station,do theyknowwhatsongsit will play?

A No.

Q Are therelimits on howmanytimesthe
selectedartistcanplay?

A Yes. Sowe adhereto theperformance
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operate.
Who doesPandoraview asits chief

competitionfor listeners?
A Given thatwe'ea radio service,we

believewe competemostdirectlywith FM radio,
which is wherethebulk ofmusiclisteningoccurs.

Q Why do you saythat,why broadcast
radio?

A Well, we seethis aslean-backstyleof
radio listening,which representsabout80 percent
ofall musicconsumptionin theU.S. today,snd
comparethatwith whatwereferto aslean-in
listening,which,whenauserapproachestheir
musicexperienceknowingwhattheywantto hear,
in the old days,thatwasyour recordcollection,
it wasyourcassettes.That'sobviouslychanging
beforeourvery eyes. But thenotionthatusers
haveadistinctusecasein mindwhentheygo to
listento musicis suchthatwebelievewevery
firmly competeagainstotherradio-likeservices.
And it sohappensthatthat is thebulk ofmusic
listening, is themajorityofabout80 percentof
listening.

Q DoesPandora'sexpansioninto cars
impactthatview?
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A Well, FM radio todayis still, by far,
the largestsourceofmusiclisteningin the
country,androughlyhalfof that listeningtakes
placein automobiles.SoPandora'snowseven-year
marchto beavailablein carsis completely
designedto competefor thoselistenerhours
becauseit's suchan importantpartofourgrowth
strategy,frankly.

Q Is theexpansioninto theautoacompany
priority for Pandora?

A It's beena companypriority for almost
a decade.

Q Do you consideron-demandservicesto be
competitorswith Pandora?

A Fromaprimarycompetitionfor listener
hoursandadvertisingdollars,no.

Q Why not?
A Like I wasexplaining,we seeamarket

thathas,sortof, two distinctusecasesfor
peoplewhentheywantto listen to music. Oneis
a lean-backradioexperiencewheretheywantmusic
to beplayedat them,andanotheris a
lean-forwardI knowwhatI wantto listento andI
want to chooseit andcontrol that. Pandora
competesin the formerbucket. We actuallysee

1 with on-demandlisteners. Thatwould be one. I

2 think alsothevery fact thatPandoraandSpotify
3 havemanagedto growside-by-sideoverthe last
4 fewyearsandeachgrowsignificantlyis also

5 evidencethatthey'enot competingdirectly with
6 oneanother. There'sroom for both services.

7 JUDGESTRICKLER: Excuseme. I havea
8 questionfor you. Goodafternoon.
9 THE WITNESS: Hi.

10 JUDGESTRICKLER: To theextentthatthe
11 interactiveservicesarenowdevelopingthings
12 thataremorenoninteractivein nature,even
13 thoughtheymaynotbeDMCA compliant,doesthat
14 nowputyou morein competitionwith those
15 servicesbecausetheycouldbesortof, if you
16 will, one-stopshopping?You couldhaveyour
17 lean-forwardandlean-backwithin oneservice„

18 whereas,in theabsenceofthat,youwouldneedto
19 havethecomplementasyou describethem,Pandora,
20 say,andSpotify?
21 THE WITNESS: In my opinion,no. I
22 think thatthe initial intentaboutwhatsomeone
23 is looking for in theirmusic-listeningexperience
24 at thatmomentdetermineswhethertheygo to

25 YouTubeor SpotiiyorPandora.
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1 thesecondbucketashighly complementaryto
2 Pandora,andwe'eawareofmany,manyuserswho
3 usebothserviceson a daily basis.
4 Q Canyou sayabit moreaboutwhatyou
5 meanwhenyou identifiedPandoraandon-demand
6 servicesasbeingcomplements.
7 A Yes,I think there'sa-youknow, if
8 youwereto segmentthepopulation,therearea
9 lot ofpeoplewho listenjust to radio-stylekinds

10 of things. But therearea lot ofpeoplewho
11 listento radio andwantto control their
12 music-listeningexperienceatsomepoint. There
13 arealsosomethatalwayswantto controltheir
14 listeningexperience.
15 So the groupthatwantsbothof those
16 thingslooks for servicesthatcansatisfybothof
17 thoseneeds.Sowe look atdualusageof
18 platformsor serviceslike Pandoraandservices
19 like Spotify, andwe seeahigh correlation.
20 Q What information, if any,do youhaveto
21 supporttheview thatyoujustdescribedthat
22 on-demandservicesandPandoracomplements?
23 A Well, I think the first would be
24 researchstudies,quantitativeresearchstudies
25 thatwe do thatshowtheoverlapofour listeners

1 And on top of that, I wouldpointout
2 thatthekindsof featuresthatyou'ementioning
3 comewith awholesetofcontrols. Forexample,
4 theplayliststhatwe'etalking about,theuser
5 hastheability to createthoseplaylists,much
6 like theydid with their iTuneslibrary ofsongs
7 theyowned.
8 So theyarein controlof that
9 experienceoneway or another,andtheyobviously

10 knowwhatsongis goingto play. Theyknowthe
11 list ofsongsthataregoing to play in mostcases
12 becauseone'slisteningis still oneitherthe
13 tabletor thedesktop. Theyactuallycancontrol
14 it in acompletelyon-demandfashion,still, in
15 termsofskipping,rewindingfeaturesthatPandora
16 doesn'thave. So I think I wouldpointoutthat
17 thecontrolthatthatallowsauser,it
18 capitalizeson adifferentmind-set.
19 JUDGESTRICKLER: Do anyofthe
20 interactiveserviceshavea radio functionwhereby
21 themusicis playedfor them,playedfor listeners
22 at random?
23 THE WITNESS: Yes, I think mostof them
24 havea, whattheywouldcall theradio function.
25 I don'tthink it's theprimarythrustofanyof
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them,and I don't think it's a significantsize,

you know, significantamountof listeningon any
of the seivices.

JUDGESTRICKLER: But if I wassomeone

who wantedto be in thatgroupthatyou described,
sometimesI want to control the musicI hear,
sometimesI want to leanbackandhavemusic
playedthat I might like, thereareservicesthat
combinebothof thosefunction in one.

THE WITNESS: Therehavebeenthose
seiviceseversincePandoraexistedand the fact
of the matteris thatnobodyhaseverusedthose
seivicesthatway.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
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selvices?
A I think only — I mean,it wasto the

questionthejudge just askedme aboutservices

thatarepositioningthemselvesa little moreas

lean-backfeaturesbut thatstill give the usera
significantamountof control that, in my
estimation,would be attractiveto a different

typeof listenerthanwould like Pandora.
MR. LARSON: Thankyou. I haveno more

questions.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou,

Mr. Larson.
Mr. Klaus,you'edoing thehonors?
MR. KLAUS: I ain, Your Honor. I

apologizewhile I getsetup here.
CROSS-EXAMINATIONBY COUNSELFOR

SOUNDEXCHANGE
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Mr. Fleming-Wood,goodafternoon.
A Goodafternoon.

Q My nameis Kelly Klaus. I represent
SoundExchange.It's nice to meetyou. We have
not metbefore,obviously.

A Nice to meetyou.

Q Justto follow up on the questionsabout
radio, soyour commentsaboutthe level of control
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BY MR. LARSON:

Q Thatactuallyleads,I think., to our
nextandlastpieceof testimony. Did youprepare
a written rebuttaltestimonyin this proceeding?

A I did.

Q I'e placedbeforeyou what'sidentified
asPandoraExhibit 5364. Do you recognizethatas

your written rebuttaltestimonyin this

proceeding?
A Yes, I do.

Q Is thatproceedinggenerallyjust to
summarizesomedescriptionthatyou did ofvarious
radio-like offeringsor allegedlyradio-like
offeringsof certaininteractiveservices?

A It is, yes.
MR. LARSON: We would offer Exhibit 5364

into evidence.
MR. KLAUS: No objection.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: 5364 is admitted.
(PandoraExhibit 5364wasadmittedinto

evidence.)
BY MR. LARSON:

Q Mr. Fleming-Wood,is thereanythingin
additionto what'sin thewritten testimonythat
you want to addat this point aboutthose
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got me to openmy Spotify Radio, for example. And
you'efamiliar with Spotify'sradioproduct,
right?

A Generally,yes.

Q And I justhappenedto pick TheRolling
Stones,your radio station,thewhole thing got me
nostalgicfor them. And I notice it broughtup-
the first songwas "Can'tYou HearMe Knocking"
fiom "Sticky Fingers." It's gonebecauseI
fast-forwardedthroughit, but I can'tgetbackto

that, canI, on the Spotify Radio?
MR. LARSON: Objection. Lackof

foundation.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Overruled. You

cananswerif you know.
A Yes, I don'tknowthe answerto that

specifically. I would not be surprisedif you
couldn'. It's within their radio product

specifically.
Q And I can flip up„andI cansee,boy,

eveiybodyknowsthat, that's"Born in theUS"—

that'sthe album "Born in theUSA" by TheBoss,
right?

jUDGE STRICKLER: It looks like your
finger.
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MR. KLAUS: Well, here,be careful
becauseit will go away.
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q You'efromNewJersey.You shouldknow
that'sBruceSpringsteenthat'sgoing to comeon
next. You don'tknowwhatsongit's going to be,
do you?

MR. LARSON: Sameobjection.
A I don'tknow. I haven'tusedthat

productenoughthat it's meshin my memory.

Q And there'snot — on the radio
function— again,this is theradio andI could
havepickedawholebunchofotherartists,but
this is basedon TheRolling Stones. There'snot
aplaylisthere,is there?

A No, I'm surprisedyou couldevenseethe
albumthat'snext,actually.

Q I canseethe album,but I can'tseethe
song,right?

A That'swhatyou'etelling me. I don'

knowthat.

Q You haveno reasonto doubtthatyou
can'tseewhatthesongis?

A I don',no.

Q And you alsosay in yourwritten direct
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right?
A Yes.

Q And we would find that, for example-
in the big binder, if you couldturn to tab 18.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: This is a

restricteddocument,Mr. Klaus?
MR. KLAUS: It's a restricteddocument,

but I'm notgoing to go into the detailsof it.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q SoMr. Fleming-Wood,tab 18, this is an
example— this is SoundExchangeExhibit 2244—

ofoneofyourCompetitiveIntelligenceReports,
right?

A I wouldpointout thiswasnot created

by my team. It wascreatedby ourproductteain.

Q But it's somethingthatyour teamis
responsiblefor circulatingto the executive
staff, right?

A Not thisparticularreport,no.

Q Is it adocumentthatyouhavereceived
in thecourseofyourwork asamemberofthe
executivestafF?

A Yes.
MR. KLAUS: We moveto admit
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testimony,youmakethe commentthat, in
paragraph9, thatPandora— you say,"Pandora
featuresauniquefeedbacksystemwhereby
listenerscanfurtherindicatetheirmusic
preferencesby pressingthethmnbsup or thumbs
down iconwhile a songis playing."

Do you recallthattestimonyin
paragraph9 ofyourwrittendirecttestimony?

A I seeit, yes.

Q That'sactuallynotuniqueto Pandora,
is it, thethumbsup, thethumbsdown?

A Well, thethumbsthemselvesarenot
unique,butwhathappenswith thethumbsis
certainlyveryunique.

Q And aswe canseehere— I canbring it
overto you, but Spotify hasgotthumbson its
radioservice,right?

A It appearsto.

Q IHeartRadio,they'egotthumbson their
service,right?

A Correct.

Q Justin termsof the featuresandthings
thatyour competitorsoffer to theirconsumers,
theservicestheyoffer, the features,that'
somethingthatyou trackthroughyour department,

1 Exhibit 2244,Your Honor.
2 MR. ~ON: No objection. I think it
3 mayhavebeenenteredalready.
4 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: It looks familiar
5 tome.
6 MR. KLAUS: This is a differentone.
7 This is April of2014.
8 MR. LARSON: ThenI objectto lackof
9 foundation. He saidonly thathereceivedit.

10 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: I didn'thearwhat
11 you said,Mr. Larson.
12 MR. LARSON: I objectedto the lackof
13 foundation. He indicatedthat it wassomething
14 thathe receivedbutnot thathis teamcreated.
15 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Overruled.
16 2014 is admitted— excuseme,2244 is
17 admitted.
18 (SoundExchangeExhibit 2244was
19 admittedinto evidence.)
20 BY MR. KLAUS:
21 Q If you couldjust flip aheada coupleof
22 tabsin thebinder.
23 JUDGEFEDER: Excusemeonemoment. I
24 justnoticedthaton the live streamhereit'

25 comingup as2224. It is, in fact, 2244,for the
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record.
MR. KLAUS: Thankyou, Your Honor.

BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Mr. Fleming-Wood,if you could flip back
a coupleof tabsto tab 16. Are you there'?

A I believeso.

Q This is SoundExchangeExhibit 2239.
This is the e-mail thathad forwardedthat
CompetitiveIntelligenceReportthatwe lookedat.

The e-mail is from AshleyHennings. She
works in your group,right?

A Shedoes.

Q It's to theexecutiveleadershipteamat
Pandora,correct?

A Yes, it appearsto be.

Q And that'syou. You'ea partof the
executiveleadershipteam,right?

A I am.

MR. KLAUS: We movethe admissionof
Exhibit 2239,Your Honor.

MR. LARSON: No objection.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: 2239 is admitted.
(SoundExchangeExhibit 2239was

adtnittedinto evidence.)
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MR. LARSON: No objection.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: 2240 is admitted.
(SoundExchangeExhibit 2240was

adntittedinto evidence.)
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Oneof the thingsyou mentionedduring
your examinationby Mr. LarsonwasthatPandora
wastrying to makea big moveto the car,right?

A Conect.

Q And you know thatSpotify is alsotrying
to integratewith carmakersaswell, correct?

A I amawareof that.

Q Now, I would like to turn,
Mr. Fleming-Wood,to the subjectofyour
responsibilitiesastheheadofmarketingfor
Pandora.

Oneof thethingsthatyou'e
responsiblefor is somethingthatyou call growth
marketing,right?

A Yes.

Q And that'strying to expandyour
audienceandreach,correct?

A Yes.

Q And you'ealsoresponsiblefor whatyou
call brandmarketing,right?
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BY MR. KLAUS:

Q And oneof the thingsthatMs. Hennings
says,shesays"In Will's absence,"thatshe
"wantedto sharethe attacheddocumentsthatour
teamhasbeendevelopingandupdatingeach
quarter."

The "Will," that'sa referenceto
Mr. Valentineofyour staff, correct?

A It is.

Q Wheresheforwardsanumberof
documents,oneof them is what'scalled"Fast
factsapprovedby public metrics." Do you see
that?

A I do.

Q Thatwould bewhat is behindtab 17,
SoundExchangeExhibit 2240?

A Yes.

Q Is thatthe fast factspublic metrics
documentthatMs. Henningswastalking about?

A I believeit is.

Q Anotherdocumentthat'sdevelopedand
updatedby your teameachquarter?

A That'scorrect.
MR. KLAUS: We movethe admissionof

Exhibit 2240,Your Honor.
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A I am.

Q And brandmarketingrefersto how the
consumingpublic, actualpotentialconsumers
perceivethePandorabrand„right?

A In part.

Q And the personwho runsthatgroup for
you, hernameis MelissaWaters,right?

A Yes.

Q And it's importantto you whatactual
andpotentialconsumersthink whenthey think of
Pandora,right?

A Certainly.

Q Becauseit's importantto you thatyour
currentactiveusers,the 80 million of them,
think positively aboutthe experiencethat they'e
havingon your site, right?

A Thatwould be the goal.

Q Becauseyou don'twant to losethose
users,do you?

A Ofcoursenot.

Q You alsothink it's importantwhat
prospectiveusers,thepeoplewho haven'tstarted
usingthe service,may think ofwhenthey think of
Pandora.

That'salso an objectiveofmarketing,
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right?
A Yes.

Q If you could turn to tab21. This is a
document,SoundExchangeExhibit 2356. Firstof
all, thiswas— thiswasa documentthatwas
createdby Ms. Watersin your department,right?

A I believeso,yes.
MR. KLAUS: We movetheadmissionof

Exhibit 2356,Your Honor.
MR. LARSON: Objection. Lackof

foundation.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Overruled. 2356

is admitted.
(SoundExchangeExhibit 2356was

admittedinto evidence.)
MR. KLAUS: At this point,Your Honor,

I'm goingto startgoing into thesubstanceofthe
document,whichhasbeendesignatedrestricted,so
I think we do needto moveinto closedsession.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Okay. Anyonein
thehearingroomwhohasnot signedthe
nondisclosurecertificate,pleasewait outsidethe
courtroom— or thehearingroom.

MR. LARSON: I assumeit's okay if
Pandorastaffstays.
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(THIS BEGINSRESTRICTEDSESSION)
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1 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: ExceptPandora
2 statTmaystay.
3 (THIS ENDSPUBLIC SESSION)
4 (RESTRICTEDSESSIONBOUND SEPARATELY)
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(THIS BEGINS PUBLIC SESSION)

Q Tab 13, this is Exhibit 1993 from the
Pandorablog. Is this somethingthatyour group
put out on the web aboutdiscoveringmoremusic

with personalizedstationsrecommendations?
A I don'tknow if we wrote it, but we

certainlywould havea sayonwhatwenton the

blog.

Q That is in or aroundthis time frame in

2014„yourolled out more featuresrelatedto

personalizedstationrecommendations,correct?
A It appearsso,yes.

MR. KLAUS: We wouldmovethe admission
of 1993,Your Honor.

MR. LARSON: No objection.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: 1993 is admitted.
(SoundExchangeExhibit 1993 was

admittedinto evidence.)
BY MR. IG.AUS:

Q Then if you would takea look,
Mr. Fleming-Wood,behindtab 2, SoundExchange
Exhibit 404. This is anotherblog pagetalking
aboutthe rollout of increasedpersonalization
features,correct?

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: I'm sony, if

6192 6194
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theseareblog pages,they can'tbe restricted,
canthey?
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(THIS ENDS RESTRICTEDSESSION)

3 MR. KLAUS: They'enot restricted.
4 Thesearenot restricted. This is the lastpage
5 I'l talk aboutthat'spublic, Your Honor.
6 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Oh, I thoughtwe
7 were in restricted.
8 MR. KLAUS: We are in restricted. I
9 haveno problemcertainly,with this portionof

10 the transcriptbeing— andI canwork with
11 Pandora'scounselto makesurethatthis portion
12 is designatedpublic.
13 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Okay, thankyou.
14 MR. KLAUS: Thankyou, Your Honor.
15 BY MR. KLAUS:
16 Q Mr. Fleming-Wood,letmeseeifIcan
17 askthequestionagain. In or aroundJanuaryof
18 this year, it's a fact thatPandorarolled out
19 additionalpersonalizationfeaturesfor its mobile
20 andAndroid listeners,correct?
21 A This is a newUI for the appthat'

22 announcedin the secondbullet post,so this is

23 just anupdatedUI forthe app. So,yes,we
24 introducedthatandtalkingmoreabout
25 personalization,but it wasa redesignof theuser
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interfacewhichwe do from time to tune.
MR. KLAUS: We movethe admissionof

Exhibit 404.
MR. LARSON: No objection.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: 404, I'm sony,

which tab wasthat'

MR. KLAUS: It wastab 2, SoundExchange
Exhibit 404.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou. I was
on the lastone.

Exhibit 404 is admitted.

(SoundExchangeExhibit 404 was
admittedinto evidence.)
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(THIS BEGINS PUBLIC SESSION)
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Mr. Miller, you

areon your feet.

MR. MILLER: I am,Your Honor. We have
thenextwitnessso ...

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: All right. Who
would thatbe?

MR. MILLER: Mr. David Pakman.

DAVID PAKMAN,
havingbeenduly sworn, testifiedasfollows:

MR. MILLER: May I proceed?
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Yes.

DIRECTEXAMINATION BY COUNSELFOR
iHEARTMEDIA
BY MR. MILLER:

Q Goodafternoon,Mr. Pakman.
A Goodafternoon.

Q Mr. Pakman,whereareyou currently
employed?

A I'm a partneratVenrock.

Q What is Vemock?
A Venrock is aventurecapital firm. It'

oneof the oldestcapitalventurefirms thatwas
establishedin the late 1930sby Laurance
Rockefeller. Venrockis actuallya compoundword
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investment,we meetwith the — oftenmeetwith
the teams,reviewthe P&Ls and investmentplans,
look at the businessplan,makean assessmentof
themarket,look at someothermaterials,maybe
someresearchto tiy to flgure out whetherthere'

a goodopportunityfor investment.

Q You mentionedamomentagothatyou had
somebackgroundbeforeVenrock. Did you haveany
experiencein digital musicbeforeyou cameto

Venrock?
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Excuseme,

Mr. Miller, shouldwe openthehearingroom?
MR. MILLER: I think we'l be in public

sessionfor thewhole time.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Okay. Thankyou.

BY MR. MILLER:

Q I wasaskingaboutyourbackgroundprior
to Venrock.

A Yes,beforeVenrock,I staitedmy career
atApple whereI wasthe co-creatorofApple's
earlyefforts in music,theApple musicgroup.
After that, I wasan entrepreneurthreedifferent
times,helpingbuild or foundingor runningthree
differentdigital musiccompanies.

Q Canyou identify a coupleof digital
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combining"venture"and "Rockefeller." We invest
in early-stagetechnologyin healthcarecompanies
andtiy to grow them into big successful
companies.

Q Canyou give us someexamplesof someof
the companiesVenrockhasinvestedin.

A Yes, overthemorethan40 years,we'e
investedin companieslike Apple, Intel, and
companieslike CernaPharmaceuticalsandCheck
PointandDoubleClick.

Q How long haveyou workedat Venrock?
A I will havebeentheresevenyearsthis

November.

Q While atVenrock,do you haveany
personalexperiencewith digital musiccompanies?

A Givenmy backgroundas anentrepreneur
andexecutivein digital music,I amthepoint
personatVenrockfor reviewingbusinessplansor
investmentopportunitiesfiom stait-upseeking
investment. Overmy almostsevenyearsthere,
I'e reviewedscoresmaybeeveryyearof companies
in digital music.

Q Canyou describebriefly whatsomeof
your reviewof thosecompaniesinvolves?

A Yes,whenI reviewanypotential
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companiesandwhatthey did?
A Sure. Oneofthemwasa companycalled

MyPlay. I wasthe co-founderof that and its

president. Thatwasa digital musiclocker
company. It wasalsooneof thevery first
commercialwebcasters,operatedawebcasting
service. I alsowasthe CEO of eMusic,oneof the
largestindependentretailersof digital music,
whereI negotiatedthousandsof royalty agreements
with recordlabels,musicpublishersand
perfoimingrights societies,andbuilt and
launcheda servicethatwas in useby millions of
consumers.

Q Shifting gearsa little, haveyou ever
testifiedbeforerelatedto digital musicor
licensing?

A I have. I wasanexpeitwitnessin the
first CARP rate-settinghearingrelatedto
Internetwebcasting,andI alsotestifiedin fiont
of Congresson someproposedlegislationaround
Internetradio.

MR. MILLER: Your Honor, we offer
Mr. Pakmanasan expertin investmentin the
digital musicindustry.

MR. KLAUS: I would certainlyhaveno
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objectionto Mr. Pakmanasanexperton the
subjectofventurecapitalinvestment,which I
think is theonly thing thattheexaminationso
far hasprovidedafoundationfor. Onthesubject
of investmentmorebroadly„ I don'tthink he'

qualifiedasanexpertonthatsubject.
MR. MILLER: YourHonor,hetestified,

we canhavehim testify moreabouthe'sgot
experiencebothasan investor,asaventure
capitalist,but alsowithin thedigital music
industry itself.

CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: You'l needto lay
a little morefoundationfor thatbroader
definition of investment. Certainlyhe is
qualifiedasaventurecapitalandinvestment
professionalin the industry,but if youwould-
if youwantabroaderqualification,youneedto
establishit.

MR. MILLER: Sure.
BY MR. MILLER:

Q In reviewingfinancialsor in reviewing
companies,canyou describesomeof theprinciples
thatyou appliedto reviewdigital musiccompanies
moregenerally.

A Yes. Typically in evaluatingwhetheran
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reportsandtalk to fellow venturecapitalistsand
entrepreneursaboutthis casein hopesof turning
thatexpertiseinto achanceto investin a

companyto cangrowandbesuccessful.

MR. MILLER: We would offerhim basedon
theadditionaltestimonyhe'sgivenasanexpert
in theeconomicsof themusicindushy-
investmentin theeconomicsof the investment-
in themusicindustry.

MR. KLAUS: It wouldbe the same

objection,Your Honor. I think whatMr. Pakman
hastestifiedto is his experienceandhis breadth
ofexperienceanddiscussionswith peoplein the
venturecapitalistspace.Again„no objectionto
him beingqualifiedto talk aboutthat. But in
termsofwhatsortofbroaderinvestmentsaremade
in digital music,I don'tthink he'sbeen
establishedasanexpert.

CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: I heardtestimony
aboutinvestmentasin takinganownership
interest. That'snot thesameasaventure
capitalowner. Overruled. Mr. Pakmsnis so
qualified.

MR. MILLER: Thankyou, Your Honor.

6212 6214

1 investmentopportunityis attractive,we'l look
2 attheeconomicstructureofacompany,whatare
3 its likely revenues,whatare its grossmargins,
4 whatareits chancefor profit, how largeis the
5 market,is themarketgrowing,howchallengingis
6 it to bring theproductto market,arethere
7 certainimpedimentsto bringing— makingthe
8 companysuccessful.
9 Prior to runningmusic,I wasapartner

10 ataprivateequity firm calledDimensional
11 Associates.It's a little bit differentthan
12 venturecapital. Thereweweretakingcontrol
13 positions. Wewerepurchasingstand-alone
14 companies.In thatcase,I hadto evaluate
15 whetherwewantedto be anentireownerofa
16 companyandrun it ourselves,a little bit
17 differentjob thanventurecapital,but alsoin
18 thefield of investingin digital music.
19 Q Do you do anythingin yourjob to follow
20 thedigital musicindustryandtheeconomicsof
21 it?

22 A Yes,giventhatI spentahnost15 years
23 asanentrepreneurin it, it's an industrythat'
24 nearanddearto my heart. I love music. So I

25 havestayedvery closeto it. I readresearch

1 BY MR. MILLER:
2 Q I shouldhavementionedweplaceda
3 binderin font ofyou, Mr. Pakman,aswell asthe
4 court. If I couldaskyou to turn to the first
5 tabofthatbinder. Do you recognizethat
6 document?
7 A I do.
8 Q Whatis it?
9 A This is my directtestimony.

10 MR. MILLER: Your Honor,wemove into
11 evidencewhatI think is identifiedasIHM Exhibit
12 3216.
13 MR. KLAUS: No objection.
14 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: 3216 is admitted.
15 gHM Exhibit 3216wasadmittedinto
16 evidence.)
17 BY MR. MILLER:
18 Q Mr. Pakman,do wehaveademonstrative
19 thatalsosummarizesyour testimonyin your
20 written direct?
21 A Yes, I believeyou do.
22 Q Canweputthatup on thescreen.
23 Do you intendto coverall the details
24 ofyouropinionstoday?
25 A No.
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Q On this demonstrativeyou usedtlie term,
so we usethe sameterminology,the term
"webcaster."Whatdo you meanby the term
"webcaster"here?

A I definea webcasteras a servicethat
availsthemselvesof the statutorylicenseand
operatesawebcastingservice. I usealso the
term "stand-alonewebcaster"here. I nieanthatto
meana companywhoseprnnaiyor exclusivebusiness
is operatingawebcastingserviceasopposedto
additionalbusinesseslike sellingofphonesor

providing softwareto listeners.

Q In your experiencein the digital music
industryor investment,areyou awareofany
profitablewebcasters?

A No, I'e neverseenor metv,ith or
revieweda singlecompanyin webcastingas

profitable.

Q What is the basisfor your experienceto
saythat thereareno profitablewebcasters'?

A Well, one,I operateda webcaster
originally. Two, aspartofmy job asa venture
capitalist,asI mentionedearlier,I metwith
scoresof companiesandevaluatedtheirprospects
ofbeingprofitable. Noneof theinv ere
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fourth quarterof 2014 demonstratesthat, in fact,

webcasterscanbeprofitable?
A Yes,I'e readthat.

Q Do you havea response?
A To the bestofmy knowledge,Pandorahas

neverbeenprofitableon an aimualbasisup until,
I believe,Q4 of lastyear,thatwould havebeen
the first quartertheyeverturneda profit. That

profit wasa smallprofit. It was 12 million
dollars. But I seealreadythat in Q1 of this

year, theyhaveflipped backto being
unprofitable. In fact, I believetheir losswas
48 million dollars, four timesthe profit in Q4 of
lastyear.

And the researchreportsI readby
publicmarketstockanalysts,noneof them,those
analyststhat I read,believethatPandorawill
everbeprofitableon anannualbasis. So

ProfessorLys'spointingout they achievedone
profitablequainter doesn'tchangemy point of
view.

In addition,Pandorais a companythat
paysrateslower thanthe commercialCRB rates.
In the eventthat their rateswere to raise,I
think thatwould havean impacton their ability
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profitable. And to my knowledge,noneof them
haveachievedprofitability.

Q In your experience,what'sthe reasonor
themostsignificantreasonfor the lackof any
profitablewebcasters?

A Well, thehighestcost,the largestcost
that anywebcasterfacesarethe soundrecording
royalties. So their ability to beprofitableor
not is adirectresultof the royaltiesthey pay.
In fact, we canlook at this asgrossmargin. The
higherroyaltiestheypay, the lowertheir gross
margin. Lowergrossmargincompanieshavea
hardertime becomingprofitable. So in this
example,lower royaltieswould meanhighergross
marginsandwould offer a companyahigherchance
ofbeingprofitable.

Q Do you understandthattherehavebeen
witnesseson theothersidewho filed testiinonyin
responseto your opinions?

A Yes.

Q Haveyou readthe testimonyofProfessor
Lys respondingto you?

A I have.

Q And areyou awarethathe claimsthat.
for instance,Pandora'srecentperformancein the
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to beprofitable. So I don'thavehopesfor that
companyto beprofitablefi om everythingthatI
see.

Q What is yourunderstandingof the rates
ascompared— thatPandorapaysascomparedto
theCRB rates?

A I believetheir ratesareabout50 or 60

percentthatofthe commercialCRB rates.

Q To your knowledge,hasanyonein the
casesuggestedthat awebcasterhasmanagedto
makeaprofit at the roughly doubleCRB rates?

A No, I haven'tseenanyonemakethat
statement.

Q You talkeda gooddeal in your testimony
aboutgrossmarginsandyou mentionedit earlier,
buthaveyou readProfessorLys'estimonythat
Pandora'sgrossmarginis higherthanthemargin
for someof the companiesthatyou would deem
successful'

A Yes, I readthat.

Q Whatwould you say in responseto that?
A Well, first of all, I believePandora'

matginsvary quite a bit over theyearsquarterto
quarter. So somemargins— somequarters,their
margins— grossmarginsare lowerthanother
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quarters. In additionI think thatwhatmatters
really hereis whetherthecompanycaneverbe
profitable. ProfessorLys, I believe,pointedout
acompanyor two thathasachievedprofitability
buthasgrossmarginsimilar to Pandora'.I
think my point is the lower thegrossmargins,the
lesslikelihood thatyou canbeprofitable. And
the fact thatPandora'shadvaried,somequarters
good— somequartershigher,somequarterslower,
hasn'thadanybearingon their ability to turn
profit on anannualbasis.

Q ProfessorLys alsoassertsthat
short-termprofitability is not anadequate
measureofsuccessin this nascentindustry
becausefirms might be trying to refinetheir
businessmodelsor achievecritical mass.Have
you seenthat?

A Yes,I'e seenthat.

Q Do you agreewith thatassertion?
A I don'. I don'tagree,no.

Q Why not?
A Well, first ofall, I thinkwebcasting

is not annascentindustry. It's an industry
that'sbeenaround14, 15, 16 years. Onewould
expect,particularlywhenyou'elooking to
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to whatit's beenoverthepreviousyears,maybe
thentheywouldprofitablenow, but eventhey'e
not. So I don'tbelievethat it's an accurate
assessmentto saythateverywebcasteris
foregoingprofit.

Q Haveyou seenanyexamplesofcompanies
who werepursuingadifferentbusinessmodelor

strategythanPandorawho areprofitable?
A No, I havenot.

Q I'l turn to a slightly differenttopic.
Did you offer someopinionsin your

written testimonyaboutthe lackofmeaningful
entry into thewebcastingindustry?

A Yes.

Q Is thatdiscussedin moredetail in your
report?

A Yes, I setthatforth in my written
directtestimony.

Q Canyou summarizeyouropinion?
A Yes. Somy testimonytherediscusses

that— well, first, I think it's probablyhelpful
to sayventurecapitalistshavea fixed amountof
moneyto invest. Sowe reviewinvestment
opportunitiesin manydifferentsectors.

SowhatI did in my researchwasto
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determinewhetheranindustryis predictiveof
success,is it likely to be ableto produce
positiveinvestmentoutcomesfor investors,that
youwouldseesomeevidenceofprofitability. We
would seesomeofthehundredsofcompanieswho
havebecomewebcastersovertheyearsthatthey'e
beenableto achieveprofitability. Yetwe can'

find asingleonethat'sprofitable. So I don'

think thereis strongevidencethatwe'egoingto
find that, first ofalL

Second,I think thatProfessorLys
suggested,I think thestrategythatPandora'

applyingis oneof foregoingprofits in exchange
for growth. So if thatweretrue,thenI guesswe
wouldexpectthatsinceno companiesare
profitable in webcastingbuttheymustall be
employingthestrategyandthatnoneofthemare
attemptingto beprofitable. But thatwouldmean
oneof two thingsthatwould needto be truethen,
thateveryonewould bebig. That'snotthecase.
We havehundredsofvery smallwebcasterswho are
unprofitable. We'egot a couplebig onesand
they'eunprofitable.

But it would alsothenhaveto betrue
thatPandora,whosenowgrowthhasslowedcompared
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comparethe digital musicsector,thenumberof
venture-backedcompaniesthathavebeenstarted
therewith themanyothersectorsinto whichwe
caninvestour capital. Thedatathereshowed
thatthereis averysmallnumberof
venture-backeddigital musiccompanies,webcasters
wouldbe asubsetofthose,thathaveenteredthe
marketoveraperiodof 17 yearsor so,andyet
therearemanyotherindustrieswheretherehave
beenliterally ordersofmagnitudemore
venture-backedcompaniesthathaveenteredthe
space.

So theconclusionin my testimonyis
thatthere'sactuallyon arelativebasisvery few
venture-backeddigital musiccompanies,and,
again,webcasterswouldbeasubsetofthose.

JUDGESTRICKLER: I wantedto ask,
excuseme,aquestionin thatregard. If I
understandyour testimonyjustnow,youwere
basicallycomparingthesuccessandfailure rates
in digital musicthatwasfinancedby venture
capital,that'sonpage13 in subparagraph(a) of
yourwrittendirecttestimony,with whatyouhave
in yourcomparativeothermarketsegmentsin
subparagraph(b), right?
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THE WITNESS: Yes.
JUDGESTRICKLER: So going backto

subparagraph(a), you saytherewere 175 digital
musiccompaniesthatwerecreatedandfundedby
ventureinvestors,right?

THE WITNESS: Yes.
JUDGESTRICKLER: Thenyou say, "Of

thoseapproximately33 percentwereacquiredby
largercompanies."

THE WITNESS: Yes.
JUDGESTRICKLER: Are you categorizing

the 33 thatwereacquiredby largercompaniesas
thosewho failed andexitedor in someotherway?

THE WITNESS: In the footnotebelow,
footnotenumber32, I believe,I explainedthat
not all 33 of thosewerecharacterizedas
successfuloutcomesbecausesomeof themwere— I
characterizethemaseitherfailed or a success.
So someportionof the 33 weresuccessful,butnot
all, becausea few of themwereacquiredfor less
moneythantheirventureinvestorsput in.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Is thattheway we
shouldbe measuringwhetherthey'esuccessfulor
not, asto whetherthe investorsreceiveda return
on investment?If they'estill in business,are
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it's in the footnote,but maybeyou cangive me
the snapshotbecauseI'm trying to comparethe
successandfailure ratesofparagraphs(a) and

(b). Of the 33 thatwereacquiredby larger
companies,how manyof thosewould you saywere
successfulby your measurement?

THE WITNESS: I said— I havean
additionalfootnote. I believeit is 7, "Produced
profitableoutcomesto their investors."

JUDGESTRICKLER: So thenextsentence
whereyou say"of thosewho haveexited," that'

makingreferencebackto those33? Or is that
just a coincidence?

THE WITNESS: Yes, the datashoved that
36 companieshadnon-distressedexits,thatmeans
they didn'tgo bankrupt. Theywereacquired. So
thenI parsedto try to figure outhowmanyof
thoseresultedin profitableexits for investors.
And hereI saythat I removeda few becausethey
weren't— they did not exit. Thatwas33.
Then—

JUDGESTRICKLER: So those33 are—

THE WITNESS: In the testimony,though„
in subparagraph(a)—

JUDGESTRICKLER: Right.
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you sayingthat if the investorsdidn'tgeta
return,a positivereturn,thattheyshouldbe—

I understandfrom yourpoint ofview theywould be
deemedas failures. But from our point ofviews,
why shouldwe deemthemasfailures if they'e
still operating?

THE WITNESS: Oneof the reasonswhy I
think the datathat I showin my testimonyis what
it is, why thereareso few digital music
companiesbackedby ventureinvestorscomparedto
theseothersegmentsis becauseso few of themare
successful,as I think the dataI preparedshow
thatdigital musiccompanieshavea failure rate
two timesashigh asothersectors.And these
othersectorshavea successrate, that is they'e
likely to produceaprofitableoutcomefor their
investorsat leastsix or seventimesmore
frequentlythandigital musiccompanies.So the
reasonI think that'srelevantto you is if that
continues,therewill be lessandlessattractive
investinentopportunitiesfor investors,investors
won't fund digital musiccompanies.Therewill be
fewerand fewerof themcreated,which I think can
leadto anunhealthymarket.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Help me. I realize
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THE WITNESS: — I list, of thosewho
haveexited,only 7 achievedmeaningfulventure
returnsfor their investors.

JUDGESTRICKLER: MaybeI'm just missing
it, maybeit's late in the afternoon,but of the
33 thatwereacquiredby largercompanies,areyou
sayingthatthose33 arepartof the failures—

THE WITNESS: No.
JUDGESTRICKLER: — or the successes?

Or they'i.esplit? If they'esplit, what'sthe
issue?

THE WITNESS: Sevenof the 33 produced
meaningfulreturnsfor their investors. I list
themabove.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MR. MILLER:

Q Did you comparethe successand failures
to other industriesin your testimony?

A I did, yes.

Q How did thosecompare?
A As I justmentioned,the resultsshow

thattherearesomewherebetweententimesand45
timesthenumberof companiescreatedin other
sectorsI lookedat, suchasmobile, eCommerce,or
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SaaScomparedto digital music,andthat digital
musiccompaniesaretwice as likely to fail than
theseothersectors.Theothersectorsaresix to
seventimesmorelikely to produceaprofitable
outcomefor their investors.

Q Now, haveyou alsoreviewedthe
testimonyofProfessorLys respondingto you and
discussingtheentryby largerfirms like Apple or
Googleinto thewebcastingindustry?

A Yes.

Q Doestheentryofentitieslike that
changeyour opinionsasto whetherthere'sbeen
meaningfulentry?

A Well, I look to seewhetherthere'

opportunityfor venture-backedinvestmentsto
occur. Obviouslyif all theentry in themarket
is comingfrom companiesthatarealreadypublic,
there'sno venture-backedopportunitiesto enter.
Also, I think thosecompanies,youknow, maybe
pursuinginvestmentor maybepursuinginvestment
or activity in the spacefor differentreasons
thanwhataventureinvestoris looking for.
We'elooking to makeaprofitablereturn. So I
don'tthink thecomparisonis relevant.

Q Do youview theexistenceofentities
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commercialCRB rates. Therearesomesmaller
numberofcompaniesthatwe'etalking abouthere
thatarerelevantto this discussionabout
webcasters.

Q Do youview thatsubsetashealthy
comparedto otherindustries?

A Yes, thenumbersshowit's anextremely
smallnumber. I mean,takenasawholeand
looking atventureactivity aroundtheUnited
Statesor aroundtheworld, it's literally orders
ofmagnitude,morecapitalaregoing into many,
manyothertechsectorsthataremuchmore
vibrant,producing— moreentrepreneursare

entering,moreinvestmentdollarsaregoing in,
moreexitsarehappening.They'eavibrant
industry. This is notoneofthose. In fact,
it's surprisinghow fewcompanieswe'etalking
abouthereon a relativebasis.

CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Sorry,couldyou
tell mewhata digital musicbusinesswould do if
it's not doingwebcasting?

THE WITNESS: Sure,interactiveservice,
for example,interactivestreamingservicelike
Spotify.

CHIEFJUDGEBA1QKTT: Okay. Would that
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like Apple or Googlein themarketasa signofa
healthydigital musicmarket'

A No. I think, in fact, there'ssome
evidencethatthosecompaniesoperatemusic
servicesunprofitablyandarecontentwith
subsidizingthemusicserviceoperationswith
profits madeelsewherein their business,which I
view asasignofanunhealthymarketand
certainlysomethingthatwould discouragefurther
entryby companiestrying to makeaprofit.

Q Now, areyou awarethatProfessorLys
alsocharacterizesthenumberofdigital music
investinentsthatyou identified in your testimony
asbeingsubstantialandstatesthatfor those
payingthe statutoryrates,theymusthave
concludedthattheroyaltiesdid notpreventthem
— preventtheirchancesofsuccess?

A I'm awareof that.

Q Do youhavearesponsethat?
A Yes, first ofall, the 175 thatI

identifiedaredigital musicventure-backed
companies.They'enot all webcasters.
Webcasterswouldbeasubsetofthe 175. Ofthe
subsetofthe 175 who arewebcasters,a further
subsetofthemwouldbe theonespayingthe

1 includereproductionofmusic?
2 THE WITNESS: Yes, like iTuneswould
3 alsobean interactivemusicservice,whetherit'

4 doingdigital downloads. 175 is peoplewho are in
5 thebusinessof licensingmusiccontentand
6 somehowselling it or providinga serviceto
7 consumers.
8 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Okay, I'm now
9 remindedyour definitionofwebcastingis the

10 statutorylicenseservices.
11 THE WITNESS: Yes,asubsetoftheones
12 that-
13 CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
14 JUDGEFEDER: Wouldyou include in your
15 definition ofwebcastingcompaniesthatarepaying
16 thepureplaysettlementrateaswell?
17 THE WITNESS: Theywouldbe includedin
18 — for purposesofthis discussion,I'esaid
19 webcastersarepeopleavailingthemselvesofthe
20 statutoryrate. But somesubsetofall peoplewho
21 webcastpaythestatutoryrateandotherspayon a
22 voluntarycommission.
23 JUDGEFEDER: You'eincludingthat
24 wholegroup?
25 THE WITNESS: In the 175,yes.
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JUDGEFEDER: Thankyou.
BY MR. MILLER:

Q In additionto theresponseaboutthe
overallnumericalnumberofentries,ProfessorLys
alsonotesto you in this — is therelianceon
Dr. Blackburnthatthere'sbeeninvestmentsof2.4
billion dollars in themusicindustry. Do you
recallthat?

A I recallhis referenceto that,yes.

Q Doesthatreferenceto thatamountof
investmentchangeanyofyour opinions?

A No, it doesn',for anumberof reasons.
One,the 2.4 billion numberis not representative
ofwhatwe'ediscussinghere. I believeif you
look closerat thosenumbers,ofthe2.4 billion
of investmentsmadeinto musicandother
entertainmentservices,only, I think, 432 million
went into Internetradio,which alsowouldbe the
samesupersetofpeoplepayiagstatutoryrateand
maybenotpayingstatutoryrate. Of the432
million, I believe393 million wentinto Pandora,
so thatwasonecompanythatreceivedthe
investment. I believetheother,theremaining
balanceof theInternetradiowent to three
companies.Oneofthem,I believe,wasTuaeIn,
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companiesbasedin Francethatdon'tevenoperate
in theUnited States.Someofthemhavebeenshut
down. I don'tknowwhatratessomeofthempay.
I don'tknow if they'evoluntary. Manyofthem
werenotwebcasters.Theywereinteractivemusic
services,operatingundernegotiatedlicenses.So

it didn't changemy pointofview aboutmy
testimony.

Q You didn't list it in your testimony,
somespecificexamplesof failed companies.Do

you recall that?
A Yes.

Q WasoneofthoseYahoo?
A Yes.

Q Are you aware—

A Justfor clarity, Yahoo'smusicefforts,
notYahooasawhole.

Q Fairclarification.
Are you awarethatProfessorLys

criticizedyou for someof thesourcesyoucited
relatedto Yahoo?

A Yes.

Q Do youhavea responseto that?
A I do. Yahoowasin severaldifferent

segmentsofthe digital musicbusinessandthey
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which receivedabout25 million dollars. To the
bestofmy knowledge,they'eanaggregatorof
otherstreams.Theydon'tevenpayroyalties.
Theywouldn'tmeetmy definition ofwebcaster.

Anotheris Songza,whichI believe
receivedan investmentofabout4 andahalf
million dollars. It wasavery smallwebcaster
thatwasacquiredby Googlefor 15 million dollars
whichwouldnot beconsideredasuccessful
venture-backedoutcome.

Finally, I think the lastcompanyin
this 113 million wasDeliRadio,I think. I
believetheyalsodon'tpayroyalties. They
licensepromotionaluseofsongsdirectly from
artistsandsmallrecordlabels.

Q I won'tgo throughthemall, Professor
Lys lists anumberofotherinvestment— or,
excuseme, digital musiccompaniesin his
testimony. Haveyou seenthat?

A I have,yes.

Q Do anyofthosechangeyouropinions?
A Theydon'tchangemy pointofview

because,quite frankly, therearea lot of
differentcompaniesin therethataren'trelevant
to this discussion.For instance,somewere

1 exitedthosesegmentsthreedifferenttimes. In
2 2002theyexitedtheir simulcastbusiness.In
3 2007theyexitedtheirMusicMatch, interactive
4 musicproduct. In 2008 theyexitedtheir
5 webcastingbusinessby selling it off to CBS.
6 So in thepublic reports,theymadevery
7 clearthattheyexitedin, at least2007and2008,
8 thosebusinessesbecauseofhigh royalty rates.
9 Theywereunableto earnaprofit. I'm very

10 familiar with Yahoo'smanagementdecisionsand
11 point ofview, andtheirview is consistent
12 throughoutoperatingall ofthesebusinessesthat
13 amajor, if not theprimary,reasontheyexited
14 wasbecausetheir ratesweretoo highandthey
15 wereunableto earnaprofit.
16 Q In light oftheevidencethatyou'e
17 seen,whatis yourviewofthehealthofthemusic
18 — digital musicindustry?
19 A I don'tbelieveit's ahealthyindustry.
20 I don'tbelieveit attractssignificantamountsof
21 venturecapital. I don'tbelieveit attractsa
22 significantamountofentrepreneurswho are
23 willing to startcompanies,build them,owiagto
24 high royalty rates. Thehigh royalty ratesare
25 stifling thecompanies'bilityto turnprofits.
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They'emakingit impossiblefor companiesto be
profitable. As a result,we seeit asavery
unattractivesegmentinto which to make
investments.

MR. MILLER: No furtherquestionsat
this time.

CHIEFJUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
Mr. Klaus.
MR. KLAUS: Thankyou, Your Honor.

CROSS-EQUATIONBY COUNSELFOR
SOUNDEXCHANGE
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Hi, Mr. Pakman.Wehaven'tmet.I'm
Kelly Klaus. I representSoundExchange.I know
thatwe can'tkeepyou overtonight,so let'stry
ourbestto getthis donein just, say,acouple
minutes.

A Thankyou.

Q Mr. Pakman,justsowe'ieclear,your
opinion is thatventurecapitalistsdon't like
investingin webcastersandotherdigital music
services,right?

A Relativeto otherindustries.

Q Becausethose— theeconomicsof the
webcastingdigital musicservice,thosedon'

allow venturecapitaliststo makeventurereturns,
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A I believethat— well, theprimary
reasonwhy I don't like investingin digital music
is becausetheycan'tbeprofitable. But I do

believethatnegotiatedvoluntarylicensescan
takea longtime to getandcanmakeoperatinga
businessmoredifficult.

Q You don't like investingin the
businesseswhoseownershaveto asksomeoneelse
for permissionto usetheir content;isn't thatan

opinionyou'eexpressedbefore?
A I believetliat it makesit more

challengingto operatebusinesses.

Q Your view is that if peoplewho are
entrepreneurswhowantyourVC moneyneedto get
rights from someoneelse,that'stoo muchofa
risk for you to take,right? That'sanopinion
youexpressedpreviously?

A I expressedanopinionthat it'
riskier. I neversaidit wastoo muchofa risk
to take.

Q Let'ssee. Did you speakatsomething
calledtheCoInventSummitlastDecember?

A I mayhave.

Q Couldwe takeaquick look atwhatyou
saidthere.
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right?
A Theroyalty ratesthatwebcastersand

digital musiccompaniespaydon'tallow themto
becomeprofitable,andasa result,venture
investorsarelesslikely to haveaprofitable
outcomeon their investments.

Q And by profitableoutcomes,you said
thatSongza'sacquisitionby Googlefor 15 million
dollarson a4 million dollar investment,your
view is that is nota successfulventure-backed
outcome,right?

A By venturecapitaliststandards,that'
not asuccessfuloutcome.

Q At a returnofmorethan3 to 1, that'
notasuccessfuloutcomebyventurecapitalist
standards,right?

A It's lessaboutthe cashon cashreturn
rateandit's aboutthemagnitudeof the dollars.
So 10 million dollarsofprofit on4.7 million
dollarsof investmentdoesn'tsustaintheventure
capitalmodelofmanyventureinvestors.

Q Oneofthereasonsthatyou don't like
investingin digital musicservicesis you don'

like investingin businessesthathaveto get
somebodyelse'spermissionto operate,correct?

1 Mr. Nickels, if you couldjustplay
2 that.
3 (Video playedasfollows:)
4 MR. PAIGVIAN: The lastthing I'l say,I
5 think this is an importantstatementfor
6 entrepreneurs,we investin businessesthatare
7 notpermission-basedbusinesses.Whatthatmeans
8 to us is thatyou astheentrepreneurdon'thave
9 to asksomeoneelse'spermissionfor you to

10 succeed.Sincewe'ebackinggreatteamsthatare
11 goingafterreally interestingproductsin big
12 markets,wewantyou to havethe freedomto
13 operate. In licenseentertainmentmodels,movies,
14 TV, music,you almostalwayscan'tbringyour
15 productto marketwithoutgoingandgettingthe
16 rightsholder'spermission.
17 So in manycasestherightsholder
18 controlsyour destiny. That'stoo muchof arisk
19 for usto takebecausethey'eoftennot rational
20 actors,at leastas it relatesto yoursuccess.
21 So prettymucheveryoneelseon theInternet,from
22 casualgamesto marketplaces,you don'tneedthe
23 permissionofanoligopoly to succeed.And I
24 would encourageentrepreneursto look for the
25 rightsbasein non-permissionbecauseit'
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unnecessarilyharshto attachyourentirefuture
on the decisionsof a couplehighly paid
executives.

VOICE: Your adviceis do not askfor
permissionasfor PMS?

MR. PAKMAN: Well, actually,my advice
is don'tgo into industrieswhereyou haveto ask
permission. If you haveto askpermission,then
thequestionis do you askpermissionor do you
askfor — begfor forgiveness.That'sa
differentstrategicquestion. I'm telling you,
don'tevengetto thepoint thatyou askyourself
that. Go into industrieswhereyoudon'thave
that.

(Endofvideo.)
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Mr. Pakman,while you sayventure
capitalistsaren'tinvestingin thewebcasting
digital musicspace,otherentitiesareinvesting,
right?

A I'm not sure.

Q Well, let'stakeApple, for example.
TheyboughtLais in 2009,correct?

A Yes.

Q Thatwassomethingyou wroteonyour
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Q You'eawaretheyhaveastreamingmusic
service,correct?

A I am.

Q Amazonalsoprovidesastreamingmusic
service,correct?

A Yes.

Q Thosecompanies,theymake— theyhave
eachmadea decisionthatthey'ewilling to do

businessin this spacebecausetheythink it's in
thebestinterestoftheircompany,correct?

A I can'ttell you the reasonswhy they
havedecidedto go into thesespaces.I don'

know.

Q You'enotprivy to their
decision-making,correct?

A As awhole,no. I haveisolated
examplesofhavingspokenwith a fewdifferent
executivesatthosecompanies,but I can'ttell
you — agreeor disagreewith your statementasto
why theyhavedecidedto go into them.

JUDGESTRICKLER: In your testimony,
though,in paragraph28, don'tyou saythatoneof
thereasonstherehavebeensalesto larger
companiesis "that they'ewilling to subsidize
thepooreconomicsin orderto makeprofit

6240 6242

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23

24
25

blog, thatyouwereshockedthattheywoulddo
that,right?

A Yes.

Q But theydid it, correct?
A Theydid.

Q Theydevelopedandlaunchedthe iTunes
Radioservicein 2013,correct?

A Yes,they did.

Q TheyboughtBeatsin 2014,correct?
A Theheadphonecompany.

Q Theheadphoneanddigital musiccompany,
correct?

A I believetheyboughtthe99 percentof
headphonecompany,yes.

Q Theypaid3 billion dollarsfor the
collectiveassetsofthatcompany,right?

A I think so,yes.

Q You'ereadnewsreports,I takeit, in
following this spacethatApple is preparingto
relaunchaBeatsmusicservice,right?

A Yes,I havereadthose.

Q And Google,Googlehasinvesteda
significantamountofmoneyinto theGooglePlay
service,correct?

A I don'tknow.

1 elsewhereon otherrelatedbusinesses'?"

2 THE WITNESS: Yes,andI believethat'
3 onereasonwhy theyenterthesespaces,but in
4 answeringthatquestion,I don'tthink I could
5 generallysayyes,thatI knowwhy they'egoing
6 into thesespaces.I think that'saplausible
7 reasonfor why manydo enterthespace.
8 JUDGESTRICKLER: You referto it as

9 subsidizingthepooreconomics,but anotherspin
10 on thatcertainlywouldbethatthey'ewilling to
11 investin thenoninteractivespace,right, in
12 orderto getgreaterreturnsonotherlinesof
13 businessthattheyhaveso it becomesanet
14 positivereturnon investmentor so theywould
15 project,which is why theygo into it. Isn't that
16 justanotherform of investment?
17 THE WITNESS: I believethattheir
18 willingnessto operateunprofitablebusinessesis
19 becauseit providesthemsomebenefitin some
20 otherpartoftheircompanyfor sure. I don'

21 knowthatthereasonthey'ewilling to investin
22 thedigital musicbusinessis becausetheybelieve
23 thedigital musicbusinessthemselveswill be
24 profitablesomeday.I don'tthink there'sclear
25 evidenceofthat.
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JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Let'sgo beyondthe
Apple/Google/Ainazons.Spotify,you'eawarethey
recentlyraised400 million dollars in funding?

A Yes.

Q And GoldmanSachsparticipatedin that
investmentround;you'eawareofthat,right?

A Yes.

Q TheAbu Dhabi SovereignWealthFund
participatedin that400million dollar offering,
right?

A I don'tknow. If you sayso.

Q Haveyou readreportsthattheydid?
A I just don'trecallwho all their

investorswerein the lastround.

Q And iHeart, thesamecompanythat'
hiredyou to testifyhere,theyboughtthethumb
play musicservicein 2011,correct?

A Yes.

Q They'edevelopedandlaunchedthe
iHeartRadiocustomradio offering, right?

A Yes.

Q They'emadeabusinessdecisionto run
iHeartRadio,customradiowithout ads,correct?
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thatmarketsharefor someof thesecompanies,
like Apple andGoogle,is importantbecausethey
aretrying to maximizeconsumerattentionon their
devices.And I believethatPandorahascreated
valueby being— valuepotentiallyto some
acquirerby beinglarge,but I think they'ealso
madetheirbusiness— theirbusinessis
unattractivebecauseit seemsspreadinglyunable
to beprofitable.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Unableto be
profitable,andthat'sthe exampleof thepoor
economicsthatyou sayexistgiventheroyalty
ratestructure?

THE WITNESS: Yes. I mean,theypay
rateslessthanthecommercialCRB. Theycan'tbe
profitable— havenotbeenableto beprofitable
underthoseratesandratescontinueto go up snd
so theirprospectsfor profitability seem
unlikely.

JUDGESTRICKLER: But otherlarge
companieshaveacquirednoninteractiveandother
streamingservicesdespitethe factthey'enot
makinganymoney. So is it your testimonythat
Pandora'slackofprofitability is unusualin that
it makesPandoranotagoodacquisitiontarget?
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A I can'tsayfor sure. I honestlydon'

know.

Q But they— obviouslytheymadea
decisionthat it's in thebestinterestof their
companyto pursuethis business,right?

A I think there'sa— you know,you can
find severalexamplesofcompanieswilling to

8 investin thespace.WhatI think you can'tfind
9 is examplesofhundredsofthousandsofcompanies

10 entering. You can'tfind evidenceofventure
11 capitalistsinvestingsignificantmoneyin the
12 spacecomparedto otherindustries.
13 So I think you'e— by pickingoneor
14 two or threeexamples,you'efinding exceptions
15 thatprovetherule, thatthereis avery limited
16 amountof investmentmadeby venturecapitalists
17 andthat'sthethreeor four giantsyou canname
18 who investin thespacedo so for reasonsother
19 thanfinding a reasonfor profit.
20 JUDGESTRICKLER: Mr. Pakman,aquestion
21 for you. Do you think thatPandora'slargemarket
22 sharein thenoninteractivespacemakesit a
23 potentiallygoodacquisitiontargetfor someof
24 theselargerplayers?
25 THE WITNESS: I don'tknow. I believe
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THE WITNESS: I think it wouldbehard
to arguewith the factthatprofitablecompanies
aremoreappetizingacquisitiontargetsthan
nonprofitableones. But the factthat
unprofitableonesgetboughtdoesn'tmeanthat
unprofitableoneshaveno appealto books,right?

JUDGESTRICKLER: Moreprofitableones,
youhaveto paymoreofapremiumfor, right?

THE WITNESS: Perhaps,yes,I would
think so.

JUDGESTRICKLER: So unprofitablemeans
thatyou canbuy it atarelativebargainif you
cancreatesynergiesin yourownbusinessbecause
youhaveotherlargerbusinesses—

THE WITNESS: I canthink ofbig
premiumswho payfor unprofitablecompaniesf'rom

time to time, too. So I can'tdrawtheexactsame
point thatyou'emaking. But I certainlydo
believethatthereareexamples,really in the20,
30, 40 range,I think 33, of companiesthatget
boughtin tins space.But on a relativebasis,
comparedto mobileor socialnetworkingor
eCommerceor enterpriseSAS,they'edwarfedby
literally oneor two ordersofmagnitude.

So I think the factthatwe could find a
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fewexamplesoftwo companiesthatgotboughtis
not indicativethat it's healthy,andI think
furthermore,it provesmy point, thatthis is not
a fertile industrythatattractsventurecapital
investmentin thesameway tlrat somanyothersdo.
And thereasonI think that'srelevantis because
we asCVs makea choiceeverydaywherewe'e
going to invest„andwe aredrawnto investment
wherethere'sahigherlikelihood ofsuccess.As
long asratesarehigh, I think thatmakesthis
industrylessattractive.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Mr. Pakman,I

understand,in this strugglingcompany,Pandora,
aretheexecutiveswaiving theirpay to makethe
companyappearmoreattractive,perhaps,or
profitable?

THE WITNESS: I honestlydon'tknow.
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q Justto pick up on theChiefJudge'
question,thestrugglingcompany,Pandora,you'e
awaretheywentpublic in 2011,correct?

A Yes.

Q Theywereone— it wasoneof the

biggestpaydaysfor venturecapitalistsin all of
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A I have,yes.

Q Oneoftheirpartnersis amemberof
Pandora'sBoardofDirectors,right?

A I didn' know ifhe still was,but I
knowatonepointhewas.

Q Now, to be fair, theyalsohadthegood
successto investin LinkedIn thatyear,but
cumulatively,betweenPandoraandLinkedIn,you'e
awarethatGreylockCapital'sholdingswereworth
morethan1.2 billion dollarsasa resultof
Pandora'sIPO?

JUDGESTRICKLER: As aresultof
Pandora'sIPO or thecombinedIPO?

MR. KLAUS: ThecombinedIPOsofPandora
andLinkedIn. Thankyou, Your Honor.
BY MR. KLAUS:

Q You'enot awareofthat?
A No, I wasnot.

Q Any reasonto doubtthatthat'sthe
case?

A Thankfullyyouhavethejudgehereto
correctyou, sono.

Q Any reasonto doubtit's the caseasa
resultof thosetwo?

A No.
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2011,correct?
A I havenot reviewed2011'sreturns.

Q Well, areyou awarethatLabrador
Ventures,for example,that'saventurecapital
firm you'eheardof, right?

A I have,yes.

Q Theyparticipatedin the
7.8-million-dollarroundof financingandtheir
venturecapitalinvestmentwasworth 141 million
buckson thedayofPandora'sIPO. You'n: aware
of that?

A I'm not awarethatthatwastheir exact
13 number,but I'l takeyourword for it.

14 Q CrosslinkCapital,you'eheardof them?
15 A I have.
16 Q Theyparticipatedin a 12-million-dollar
17 roundof funding. Is it newsto you thattheir
18 stakewasworth 382 million dollarson thedayof
19 Pandora'sIPO?
20 A I didn'tknowthatwastheirstakevalue
21 on thedayofthe IPO, no.
22 Q Any reasonto doubtit?
23 A No.
24 Q GreylockCapital,you'eheardofthem,
25 right?

1 Q Okay, thanks.
2 The lastquestion,theopinionsthat
3 you'eexpressingherebeforethejudgesin this
4 ratesettingproceedingaboutventurecapitalists
5 not liking the ideaof investmentin digital
6 music,this is anopinionyouhavetaken
7 elsewhere,correct?You'estatedthis in many
8 differentplaces.
9 A I have. I think my opinionhasbeen

10 consistentoverthecourseoftheratesbeingwhat
11 theyare,yes.
12 Q And oneoftheplacesthatyou do that
13 is onyourblog, right, your disruptionblog?
14 A Yes.
15 Q Anotherplaceyou did it wasbefore
16 ChairmanGoodlatte'ssubcommitteein theHousein
17 Novemberof2012,correct?
18 A Yes.
19 Q You broughtopinionsthatwerevery
20 similar to theonesthatyou'eexpressinghereto
21 thatsubcommittee,correct?
22 A Yes, I did.
23 Q You weretestifying in that;thatwas
24 partofthe InternetRadioFairnessAct, correct?
25 A Yes, it was.
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1 Q It wastrying to encourageChairman
2 Goodlatteandmembersof the committeeand
3 Congressin generalto passa law thatwouldhave
4 changedthestandardthatappliesfor ratesetting
5 in this proceedingto onethatcontrolsin the
6 satelliteproceeding,right?
7 A I wasthereto providetestimonyon my
8 view ofwhetherventurecapitalistsfind Internet
9 radio a fertile areafor investment,andI

10 concludedasimilarpointofview asI'e
11 expressedhere.
12 MR. KLAUS: No furtherquestions,Your
13 Honors.
14 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.
15 Anything further?
16 MR. MILLER: Nothing further.
17 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou,
18 Mr. Pakman.You maybeexcused.
19 (Witnessexcused.)
20 CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: We will beat
21 recessuntil 9:00 in themorning.
22 MR. POMERANTZ: I'l giveyou our
23 witnesses.
24 JUDGESTRICKLER: You readmy mind.
25 MR. POMERANTZ: So CaptainKasswill

1 CERTIFICATEOF SHORTHANDREPORTER
2 I, MicheleE. Eddy,Registered
3 ProfessionalReporterandCertifiedRealtime
4 Reporter,thecourtreporterbeforewhomthe
5 foregoingproceedingswastaken,do herebycertify
6 that the foregoingtranscriptis a true and
7 correctrecordofthetestimonygiven; thatsaid
8 testimonywastakenby mestenographicallyand
9 thereafterreducedto typewritingundermy

10 supervision;andthat I amneithercounselfor,
11 relatedto, nor employedby anyofthepartiesto
12 this caseandhaveno interest,financialor
13 otherwise,in its outcome.
14
15 IN WITNESSWHEREOF,I havehereuntoset
16 my handandaffixed my notarialsealthis28thday
17 ofMay,2015.
18

19 My commissionexpiresJune30, 2017
20
21
22

23 MICHELE E. EDDY
NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR

24 THE DISTRICTOF COLUMBIA
25

6252

1

2
3

4
5

6

7
8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22
23
24
25

start,I think, tomorrowmorning. Thenwehave
five witnesseswho we aretrying to finish — we
haveto finish by the endof the dayFriday
becausethey'enotavailablenextweek. In order
ofwhenwe'l call them,ProfessorRubinfeld;
Mr. Barros,B-A-R-R-O-S,ConcordMusic; Mr. Kooker
tromSony;ProfessorLys; andMs. Butler. If we
haveany time attheendofthedayonFriday
afterall ofthosewitnesses,Mr. VanArmanwill
bebackaswell.

JUDGESTRICKLER: Thankyou.
CHIEF JUDGEBARNETT: Thankyou.

(Thereupon,theproceedingwasadjourned
at4:17 p.m.)
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